## République Algérienne Démocratique et Populaire

Ministère de l'Enseignement Supérieur et de la Recherche Scientifique

## UNIVERSITÉ MOHAMED KHIDER, BISKRA

FACULTÉ des SCIENCES EXACTES et des SCIENCES de la NATURE et de la VIE

## DÉPARTEMENT DE MATHÉMATIQUES



Thèse présentée en vue de l'obtention du Diplôme de

### Doctorat en Mathématiques

Option : Probabilités et Statistiques

Par

Samia Yakhlef

Titre

# Application du calcul de Malliavin aux problèmes de contrôle singulier

Devant le jury

Abdelhakim Necir	Pr.	UMK Biskra	Président
Brahim Mezerdi	Pr.	UMK Biskra	Rapporteur
Boubakeur Labed	MC (A)	UMK Biskra	Examinateur
Salah eddine Rebiai	$\Pr$	UHL Batna	Examinateur
Ahmed Mokrane	MC (A)	UHL Batna	Examinateur
Khaled Melkemi	Pr.	UHL Batna	Examinateur

#### $D {\rm \acute{e}dicace}$

Je dédie cette thèse à ma mère, merci pour tous tes sacrifices.

A mon père qui m'a toujours aidé et soutenu, vous m'avez transmis l'amour de la science et le savoir.

A mon époux pour tous ses encouragements et son soutien, merci pour tout.

A mes enfants chéris: Abderrahmane, Amina et mon petit poussin Anesse, avec tout mon amour et ma tendresse, j'espère que vous ferez mieux que maman.

A toute ma famille: frères et sœurs.

A toute la famille de mon époux.

#### REMERCIEMENTS

En premier lieu, je tiens à remercier mon directeur de thèse, le Pr. Brahim Mezerdi pour la confiance qu'il m'a accordé en acceptant d'encadrer ce travail doctoral, par ses multiples conseils. Enfin, j'ai été extrêmement sensible à ses qualités humaines d'écoute et de compréhension tout au long de ce travail doctoral.

Je n'oublierai jamais l'aide, y compris financière, qui m'a été prodiguée par le Laboratoire de Mathématiques Appliquées (LMA) de Biskra.

Mes remerciements s'adressent au Pr. Abdelhakim Necir, directeur du LMA de l'université de Biskra, qui a accepté d'être le président du jury de ma thèse.

Je tiens également à exprimer ma reconnaissance à Mr. Boubakeur Labed, Maître de Conférences à l'université de Biskra, pour avoir accepté de faire partie de ce jury.

Je souhaite aussi adresser ma gratitude au Pr. Salah Eddine Rebiai de l'université de Batna, pour avoir accepté d'examiner mon travail et de faire partie du jury.

J'exprime ma gratitude à Mr. Ahmed Mokrane, Maître de Conférences à l'université de Batna, pour avoir participé à ce jury.

Je remercie aussi chaleureusement le Pr. Khaled Melkemi de l'université de Batna, d'avoir accepté de participer à ce jury.

Je ne peux oublier également, l'université Cadi Ayyad de Marrakech qui m'a donné l'occasion de connaitre le Pr. Youssef Ouknine ainsi que tout son groupe. Finalement, je remercie ma famille de son soutien moral. Pour terminer, je remercie tout mes collègues de travaille au sein du département de mathématiques.

# Contents

D	édica	ıce		i	
R	emer	ciemer	nts	ii	
Ta	able	of Con	tents	iii	
In	trod	uction		1	
1 Introduction to stochastic controle problems					
	1.1	Introd	luction	4	
	1.2	Formu	ulations of stochastic optimal controle problems	5	
		1.2.1	Strong formulation	5	
		1.2.2	Weak formulation	7	
		1.2.3	Existence of optimal controls	7	
	1.3	Other	stochastic control problem	12	
		1.3.1	Random horizon	12	
		1.3.2	Optimal stopping	13	
		1.3.3	Partial observation control problem	14	
		1.3.4	Singular and impulse control	15	
		1.3.5	Ergodic control	17	
		1.3.6	Stochastic target problems	18	
	1.4	Dynar	mic programming	19	

		1.4.1	Hamilton-Jacobi-Belman equation	20
		1.4.2	The classical verification approach	21
	1.5	The P	ontriagin stochastic maximum principle	23
		1.5.1	Deterministic control problem	24
		1.5.2	The stochastic maximum principle	28
2	A g	eneral	stochastic maximum principle for singular control problems	30
	2.1 Introduction			
		2.1.1	Problem formulation and assumptions	31
		2.1.2	Preliminary Results	33
		2.1.3	Variational inequalities and adjoint processes	41
		2.1.4	Adjoint equations and the maximum principle	47
3	Intr	roducti	ion to Malliavin calculus	50
	3.1	Introd	uction	50
	3.2	Eleme	nts of Malliavin calculus for Brownian motion	51
		3.2.1	Iterated Itô integrals	51
		3.2.2	Iterated Itô integrals and Hermite polynomials	52
		3.2.3	Wiener-Itô chaos expansions	54
		3.2.4	Skorohod integral	54
	3.3	Mallia	vin derivative	56
		3.3.1	Fundamental rules of calculus	58
		3.3.2	Malliavin Derivative and Skorohod Integral	63
	3.4	Clark-	Ocone formula	66
		3.4.1	A generalized Clark-Ocone formula	67
4	AN	Aalliav	in calculus in stochastic control problems	69
	4.1	A stoc	chastic maximum principle via Malliavin calculus	70
		4.1.1	Formulation of the problem	70

		4.1.2	The stochastic maximum principle	74	
		4.1.3	Application	83	
	4.2 Singular stochastic maximum principle			88	
		4.2.1	Formulation of the singular control problem	88	
		4.2.2	A Malliavin-calculus based necessary maximum principle	90	
5	A st	ochast	ic maximum principle for mixed regular-singular control prob-		
	lem	s via N	Ialliavin calculus	<b>94</b>	
	5.1	Formu	lation of the problem	94	
	5.2	The st	ochastic maximum principle	98	
Conclusion 113			113		
Bi	Bibliographie 1			115	
A	Annexe B: Abréviations et Notations 121				

# Introduction

e consider optimal mixed stochastic regular-singular control problems, where the state process satisfies the following stochastic differential equation:

$$\begin{cases} dx_t = b(t, x_t, u_t, \omega) dt + \sigma(t, x_t, u_t, \omega) dB_t + \lambda(t, \omega) d\xi_t; \\ x(0) = x \in \mathbb{R}. \end{cases}$$
(1)

The control is a pair  $(u_t, \xi_t)$  such that  $u_t$  stands for the regular, called also the absolutely continuous part and  $\xi_t$  is the singular part.

The expected cost has the form

$$J(u,\xi) = E\left[g(x_T,\omega) + \int_0^T f(t,x_t,u_t,\omega) dt + \int_0^T h(t,\omega) d\xi_t\right], \quad (u,\xi) \in \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{E}}.$$
 (2)

A major approach to deal with stochastic control problems is to derive optimality necessary conditions satisfied by some optimal control, known as the stochastic maximum principle. The first fundamental result on this subject was obtained by Kushner [44], for classical regular or absolutely continuous controls. Since then, a huge literature has been produced on this subject, among them, in particular, those by Benssoussan [10], Bismut [16], Haussmann [40] and Peng [53]. One can refer to the excellent book by Yong and Zhou [53] for a complete account on the subject and the references therein.

We use Malliavin calculus techniques [49], to express the adjoint process in an explicit form. Our result extends those by Baghery and Oksendal [2], Meyer-Brandis & Øksendal. [47] and Øksendal & Sulem [51], to mixed regular-singular control problems. See also [48] for the mean field control problems. Note that in the stochastic maximum principle, a serious drawback is the computation at least numerically of the adjoint process. This process is given by a conditional expectation and satisfies a linear backward stochastic differential equation (BSDE). Numerical and Monte Carlo methods have been developed recently to deal with BSDEs by using Malliavin calculus, see [19], [20], [24] and [35]. This could be seen as a step forward to solve numerically stochastic control problems by using these methods.

Stochastic control problems of singular type, have been studied extensively in the literature, as they model numerous situations in different areas, see [46], [50] and [51]. A typical example in mathematical finance is the so called portfolio optimization problem, under transaction costs [28] and [37]. These problems were studied through dynamic programming principle, see [41], where it was shown in particular that, the value function is continuous and is the unique viscosity solution of the HJB variational inequality. In particular the value function satisfies a variational inequality, which gives rise to a free boundary problem, and the optimal state process is a diffusion reflected at the free boundary. Bather and Chernoff [8] were the first to study such a problem. Benes, Shepp and Witsenhaussen [14] solved a one dimensional example by observing that the value function in their example satisfies the so called the principle of smooth fit. Davis and Norman [28] solved the two dimensional problem, arising in portfolio selection models, under transaction costs. The case of diffusions with jumps has been studied in Øksendal and Sulem [50].

The first maximum principle for singular stochastic control problems was derived by Cadenillas and Haussmann [23], for systems with linear dynamics, convex cost criterion and convex state constraints. An extension to non linear systems has been developed via convex perturbations method for both absolutely continuous and singular components by Bahlali and Chala [3]. The second order stochastic maximum principle for nonlinear SDEs with a controlled diffusion matrix was obtained by Bahlali and Mezerdi [7], extending the Peng maximum principle [53], [1] to singular control problems. Similar techniques have been used by Anderson in [1] and Bahlali et al. [6], to study the stochastic maximum principle for relaxed-singular controls. The case of systems with non smooth coefficients has been treated by Bahlali et al. in [4], where the classical derivatives are replaced by the generalized ones in the definition of adjoint processes. See also the recent paper by Oksendal and Sulem [51], where Malliavin calculus techniques have been used to define the adjoint process. The relationship between the stochastic maximum principle and dynamic programming has been investigated in [5], [25]. See also [50] for some worked examples.

Let us briefly describe the contents of this thesis. In Chapter 1 we give some background on optimal control theory. In chapter 2, we present the maximum principle in singular control in which the control domain need not be convex, the control variable has two components, the first being absolutely continuous and the second singular. The coefficients of the state equation are non linear and depend explicitly on the absolutely continuous component of the control. This result was established by Seid Bahlali and Brahim Mezerdi [7]. In chapter 3 we give an introduction of Malliavin derivative, we use an approach based on chaos expansions, this approach has the advantage of being more intuitive. which turns out to be a useful framework for both Malliavin calculus, Skorohod integrals, and anticipative calculus in general. In chapter 4 we present the tow papers Brandis, Øksendal and Zhou [47] and Øksendal and Sulem [51]. Chapter 5, comprises the main result of this thesis, in this chapter we study general regular-singular stochastic control problems, in which the controller has only partial information. The control has two components, the first one is a classical regular control and the second one is a singular control. We consider systems driven by random coefficients and the running and the final costs are allowed to be random. It is clear that for such systems the dynamic programming does not hold, as the state process is no longer a Markov process. Our goal is to obtain necessary conditions for optimality satisfied by some optimal control.

## Chapter 1

# Introduction to stochastic controle problems

## 1.1 Introduction

In this chapter we give some background on optimal control theory. Optimal control theory can be described as the study of strategies to optimally influence a system x with dynamics evolving over time according to a differential equation. The influence on the system is modeled as a vector of parameters, u, called the control. It is allowed to take values in some set U, which is known as the action space. For a control to be optimal, it should minimize a cost functional (or maximize a reward functional), which depends on the whole trajectory of the system x and the control u over some time interval [0, T]. The infimum of the cost functional is known as the value function (as a function of the initial time and state). This minimization problem is infinite dimensional, since we are minimizing a functional over the space of functions  $u(t), t \in [0, T]$ . Optimal control theory essentially consists of different methods of reducing the problem to a less transparent, but more manageable problem. The two main methods are dynamic programming and the maximum principle. This chapter will be organized as follows. In section 2, we present strong and weak formulations of stochastic optimal control problems and the existence of stochastic optimal controls for both strong and weak formulation. Section 3 presents some others stochastic control problems. Section 4 and 5 is concerned to the presentation of the two important methods which are dynamic programming and the maximum principle.

# 1.2 Formulations of stochastic optimal controle problems

We now present two mathematical formulations (strong and weak formulations) of stochastic optimal control problems.

## **1.2.1** Strong formulation

Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0}, P)$  be a given filtered probability space satisfying the usual condition, on witch we define an *m*-dimensional standard Brownian motion W(.), consider the following controlled stochastic differential equation :

$$\begin{cases} dx(t) = b(t, x(t), u(t)) dt + \sigma(t, x(t), u(t)) dW_t, \\ x(0) = x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n, \end{cases}$$
(1.1)

where

$$b: [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^n \times U \to \mathbb{R}^n,$$
$$\sigma: [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^n \times U \to \mathbb{R}^{n \times m}$$

U is a separable metric space, and  $T \in (0, \infty)$  is fixed.

The function u(.) is called the control representing the action of the decision-makers (controllers). At any time instant the controller has some information (as specified by the information filed  $\{\mathcal{F}_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ ) of what has happened up to that moment, but not able to foretell what is going to happen afterwards due to the uncertainty of the system (as a consequence, for any t the controller cannot exercise his/her decision u(t) befor the time t really comes).witche can be expressed in mathematical term as "u(.) is  $(\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ -adapted". the control u is an element of the set :

$$U[0,T] = \left\{ u : [0,T] \times \Omega \to U \ / u(.) \text{ is } \left\{ \mathcal{F}_t \right\}_{t \ge 0} \text{-adapted} \right\}.$$
(1.2)

We introduce the cost functional as follows :

$$J(u(.)) = E\left[\int_{0}^{T} f(t, x(t), u(t)) dt + h(x(T))\right].$$
(1.3)

**Definition 1.2.1** Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \{\mathcal{F}_t\}_{t\geq 0}, P)$  be given satisfying the usual conditions and let W(t) be a given m-dimensional standard  $\{\mathcal{F}_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ -Brownian motion. A control u(.) is called an s-admissible control, and (x(.), u(.)) an s-admissible pair, if

**i)**  $u(.) \in [0,T],$ 

ii) x(.) is the unique solution of equation (1.1),

**iii)**  $f(., x(.), u(.)) \in L^{1}_{\mathcal{F}}(0, T; \mathbb{R})$  and  $h(x(T)) \in L^{1}_{\mathcal{F}_{T}}(\Omega; \mathbb{R})$ .

The set of all admissible controls is denoted by  $\mathcal{U}_{ad}^{s}[0,T]$ . We can now give the stochastic control problem under strong formulation as follow :

**Problem 1.2.1** Minimize (1.3) over  $\mathcal{U}_{ad}^{s}[0,T]$ .

The objective is to find  $\hat{u}(.) \in \mathcal{U}^s_{ad}[0,T]$  (if it exists), such that

$$J\left(\hat{u}\right) = \inf_{u(.) \in \mathcal{U}_{ad}^{s}[0,T]} J\left(u\right).$$
(1.4)

Any  $\hat{u}(.) \in \mathcal{U}_{ad}^{s}[0,T]$  satisfying (1.4) is called an optimal control. The corresponding state process  $\hat{x}(.)$ .

## 1.2.2 Weak formulation

We remarque that in the strong formulation the filtered probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \{\mathcal{F}_t\}_{t\geq 0}, P)$ on witch we define the Brownian motion W are all fixed, but it is not the cas in the weak formulation, where we consider them as a parts of the control.

**Definition 1.2.2** We call  $\pi = (\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \{\mathcal{F}_t\}_{t \ge 0}, P, W(.), u(.))$  an w-admissible control, and (x(.), u(.)) an w-admissible pair, if

- i)  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \{\mathcal{F}_t\}_{t\geq 0}, P)$  is a filtered probability space satisfying the usual conditions;
- **ii)** W(.) is an m-dimensional standard Brownian motion defined on  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \{\mathcal{F}_t\}_{t\geq 0}, P)$ ;
- iii) u(.) is an  $\{\mathcal{F}_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ -adapted process on  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, P)$  taking values in U;

iv) x(.) is the unique solution of equation (1.1);

**v)** 
$$f(., x(.), u(.)) \in L^{1}_{\mathcal{F}}(0, T; \mathbb{R}) \text{ and } h(x(T)) \in L^{1}_{\mathcal{F}_{T}}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}).$$

The set of all admissible controls is denoted by  $\mathcal{U}_{ad}^{w}[0,T]$ , from now on if there is no ambiguity you can write  $u(.) \in \mathcal{U}_{ad}^{w}[0,T]$  instead of  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \{\mathcal{F}_t\}_{t\geq 0}, P, W(.), u(.)) \in \mathcal{U}_{ad}^{w}[0,T]$ . Our stochastic optimal control problem under weak formulation can be formulated as follows:

**Problem 1.2.2** Minimize (1.3) over  $\mathcal{U}_{ad}^w[0,T]$ .

The objective is to find  $\hat{\pi} \in \mathcal{U}_{ad}^{w}[0,T]$  such

$$J\left(\hat{\pi}\right) = \inf_{\pi \in \mathcal{U}_{ad}^{w}[0,T]} J\left(\pi\right).$$
(1.5)

## **1.2.3** Existence of optimal controls

In this section, we will discuss the existence of optimal controls, we use the theory that a lower semi-continuous function on a compact metric space reaches its minimum. we will first give an example from deterministic control. **Example 1.2.1** Consider the cost functional

$$J(u) = \int_0^T \left( x^2(t) + \left( 1 - u^2(t) \right)^2 \right) dt,$$

to be minimized over the set of controls  $u : [0,T] \mapsto U = [-1,1]$ . The state of the system is given by

$$\begin{cases} dx_t = u(t) dt, \\ x(0) = 0. \end{cases}$$

Now, consider the following sequence of controls

$$u_n(t) = (-1)^k \text{ if } t \in \left[\frac{k}{n}, \frac{k+1}{n}\right), \ 0 \le k \le n-1.$$

Then we have  $|x^{(n)}(t)| \leq \frac{1}{n}$  and  $|J(u^{(n)})| \leq \frac{T}{n^2}$ , which implies that  $\inf_u J(u) = 0$ . The limit of  $u^{(n)}$  is however not in the space of strict controls. Instead the sequence  $\delta_{u^{(n)}(t)}(du)dt$  converges weakly to  $1/2(\delta_{-1}+\delta_1)(du)dt$ . Thus, there does not exist an optimal strict control in this case but only a relaxed one. But since we can construct a sequence of strict controls such that the cost functional is arbitrarily close to its infimum, it is clear that there does exist an optimal solution, albeit in a wider sense.

#### Existence under strong formulation

Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \{\mathcal{F}_t\}_{t \ge 0}, P)$  be given and W is one dimensional Brownian motion. Consider the following linear controlled system :

$$\begin{cases} dx(t) = [Ax(t) + Bu(t)] dt + [Cx(t) + Du(t)] dW(t), & t \in [0, T], \\ x(0) = x_0, \end{cases}$$
(1.6)

where A,B,C,D are matrices. The state x(.) takes value in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , and the control u(.) is in

$$\mathcal{U}^{L}[0,T] = \left\{ u\left(.\right) \in L^{2}_{\mathcal{F}}\left(0,T,\mathbb{R}^{k}\right) / u\left(t\right) \in U, \text{ a.e.} t \in [0,T], P-a.s. \right\},$$
(1.7)

 $U \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ , The cost functional is

$$J(u(.)) = E\left[\int_{0}^{T} f(x(t), u(t)) dt + h(x(T))\right],$$
(1.8)

with  $f : \mathbb{R}^n \times U \to \mathbb{R}$  and  $h : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ .

We have the following assumptions

(H<sub>1</sub>)  $U \subset \mathbb{R}^k$  is convex and closed, and the functions f and h are convex and for some  $\delta, k > 0$ ,

$$f(x,u) \ge \delta |u|^2 - k, \quad h(x) \ge -k \quad , \ \forall (x,u) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times U.$$
(1.9)

(H<sub>2</sub>)  $U \subset \mathbb{R}^k$  is convex and compact, and the functions f and h are convex.

the optimal control problem is as follows :

**Problem 1.2.3** Minimize (1.8) subject to (1.6) over  $\mathcal{U}^{L}[0,T]$ .

We can now give the theorem of existence of optimal control in the linear case.

**Theorem 1.2.1** Under either  $(H_1)$  and  $(H_2)$ , if the problem is finite, then it admits an optimal control

**Proof.** If we suppose that  $(H_1)$  holds. if we put

$$\alpha = \inf_{u \in \mathcal{U}^{L}[0,T]} J(u) \,,$$

which is equivalent to

$$\forall \varepsilon > 0, \exists u_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{U}^{L}[0,T] : \alpha \leq J(u_{\varepsilon}) < \alpha + \varepsilon,$$

which implies by putting  $\varepsilon = \frac{1}{j}$  that :

$$\forall j \ge 1, \exists u_j \in \mathcal{U}^L[0,T] : \alpha \le J(u_j) < \alpha + \frac{1}{j}, \tag{1.10}$$

we see that

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} J\left(u_j\right) = \alpha_j$$

we call  $(u_j(.), x_j(.))$  a minimizing sequence. we have then by (1.9) and (1.10)

$$E\left[\int_{0}^{T}\left|u_{j}\left(t\right)\right|^{2}dt\right] \leq K, \,\forall j \geq 1,$$
(1.11)

for some constant K > 0. Then there exist a subsequence, witch is still noted by  $u_{\varepsilon}(.)$ , such that

$$u_j(.) \to \hat{u}$$
, weakly in  $L^2(0,T; \mathbb{R}^k)$ . (1.12)

By Mazur's theorem, we have a sequence of convex combinations

$$\tilde{u}_{j}(.) = \sum_{i \ge 1} a_{ij} u_{i+j}(.), \text{ with } a_{ij} \ge 0, \sum_{i \ge 1} a_{ij} = 1,$$

such that

$$\tilde{u}_j(.) \to \hat{u}(.) \text{ strongly in } C_{\mathcal{F}}([0,T],\mathbb{R}^n).$$
(1.13)

we have  $\hat{u}(.) \in \mathcal{U}^{L}[0,T]$  because U is convex and closed, we have also

$$\tilde{x}_{j}(.) \to \hat{x}(.), \text{ strongly in } C_{\mathcal{F}}([0,T],\mathbb{R}^{n}).$$

It is clear that  $(\hat{u}(.), \hat{x}(.))$  is admissible, by the convexity of f and h, we have

$$J\left(\hat{u}\left(.\right)\right) = \lim_{j \to \infty} J\left(\tilde{u}_{j}\left(.\right)\right) = \lim_{j \to \infty} \sum_{i \ge 1} a_{ij} J\left(u_{i+j}\left(.\right)\right) = \alpha, \qquad (1.14)$$

hence  $(\hat{x}(.), \hat{u}(.))$  is optimal.

**Remark 1.2.1** In the case where  $(H_2)$  holds, we obtain directely (1.11). The linearity play an essential role here, in general case, we do not have the convergence of  $u_j$  (.) and  $x_j$  (.) because the infinitedimensional space  $L^2_{\mathcal{F}}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^n)$  isn't locally compacte.

#### Existence under weak formulation

We will now examine the existence of optimal control under weak formulation. Let consider the following hypotheses.

- (S1) (U, d) is a compact metric space and T > 0.
- (S2) The maps  $b, \sigma, f$ , and h are all continuous, and there exists a constant L > 0 such that for  $\varphi(t, x, u) = b(t, x, u), \sigma(t, x, u), f(t, x, u), h(x)$ ,

$$\begin{cases} \left|\varphi\left(t,x,u\right)-\varphi\left(t,\hat{x},u\right)\right| \leq L\left|x-\hat{x}\right|,\\ \left|\varphi\left(t,0,u\right)\right| \leq L, \forall t \in \left[0,T\right], \ x, \hat{x} \in \mathbb{R}^{n}, \ u \in U. \end{cases}$$

(S3) For every  $(t, x) \in [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^n$ , the set

$$S = \left\{ \left( b_i(t, x, u), (\sigma \sigma^T)^{ij}(t, x, u), f(t, x, u) \right) / u \in U, i = 1, ..., n, j = 1, ..., m \right\},\$$

is convex in  $\mathbb{R}^{n+nm+1}$ .

(S3)  $x(t) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ .

**Theorem 1.2.2** Under the conditions (S1) - (S3), if the problem is finite, then it admits an optimal control.

The idea of the proof is to embed the space of admissible control in a large space with proper compactness which is the space of all (non-negative) measures on  $[0, T] \times U$ . For more details you can see the proof in [57] page 71.

## 1.3 Other stochastic control problem

## 1.3.1 Random horizon

In problem formulation (1.2.1), the time horizon is fixed, until a deterministic terminal time T. In some real applications, the time horizon may be random, then the control problem is to minimize :

$$J(u) = E\left[\int_{0}^{\tau} f(t, x(t), u(t)) dt + h(x(\tau))\right],$$
(1.15)

over admissible control, her  $\tau$  is a finite random time. In standard cases, the terminal time  $\tau$  is a stopping time at which the state process exits from a certain relevant domain. For example, in a reinsurance model, the state process X is the reserve of a company that may control it by reinsuring a proportion  $1 - \alpha$  of premiums to another company. The terminal time  $\tau$  is then the bankruptcy time of the company defined as

$$\tau = \inf \{t \ge 0 : X_t \le 0\}.$$

More generally, given some open set  $\Theta$  of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ ,

$$\tau = \inf \left\{ t \ge 0 : X_t \notin \Theta \right\} \wedge T.$$

(which depends on the control). In this case, the control problem (1.15) leads via the dynamic programming approach to a Dirichlet boundary-value problem. The problem (1.15) may be reduced to a stochastic control problem under a fixed deterministic horizon, see [5], for a recent application in portfolio optimization model. In the general random time case, the associated control problem has been relatively lightly studied in the literature, see [6] or [7] for a utility maximization problem in finance.

## 1.3.2 Optimal stopping

In the models presented above, the horizon of the problem is either fixed or indirectly influenced by the control. When one has the possibility to control directly the terminal time, which is then modeled by a controlled stopping time, the associated problem is an optimal stopping time problem. In the general formulation of such models, the control is mixed, composed by a pair control/stopping time  $(u, \tau)$  and the functional to optimize is

$$J(u(.),\tau) = E\left[\int_{0}^{\tau} f(t,x(t),u(t)) dt + h(x(\tau))\right].$$
 (1.16)

The theory of optimal stopping, thoroughly studied in the seventies, has received a renewed interest with a variety of applications in economics and finance. These applications range from asset pricing (American options) to firm investment and real options. Extensions of classical optimal stopping problems deal with multiple optimal stopping with eventual changes of regimes in the state process. They were studied e.g. in [12], [56], and applied in finance in [21], [29], [38], [22] or [52].

**Example 1.3.1** A person who owns an asset (house, stock, etc...) decides to sell. The price of the asset evolves as:

$$dX_t = rX_t dt + \sigma X_t dB_t.$$

Suppose that there is a transaction cost a > 0. If the person decides to sell at date t, the profit of this transaction will be

$$e^{-\rho t}\left(X_t-a\right),\,$$

where  $\rho > 0$  is the inflation factor. The problem is to find a stopping time which maximizes the expected benefit.

## **1.3.3** Partial observation control problem

It is assumed that the controller completely observes the state system. In many real applications, he is only able to observe partially the state via other variables and there is noise in the observation system. For example in financial models, one may observe the asset price but not completely its rate of return and/or its volatility, and the portfolio investment is based only on the asset price information. We are facing a partial observation control problem. This may be formulated in a general form as follows : we have a controlled signal (unobserved) process governed by :

$$dX_s = b\left(s, X_s, Y_s, u_s\right) ds + \sigma\left(s, X_s, Y_s, u_s\right) dW_s,\tag{1.17}$$

and an observation process :

$$dY_s = \eta \left( s, X_s, Y_s, u_s \right) ds + \gamma \left( s, X_s, Y_s, u_s \right) dB_s, \tag{1.18}$$

where B is another Brownian motion, eventually correlated with W. The control is adapted with respect to the filtration generated by the observation  $F^Y = (\mathcal{F}_t^Y)$  and the functional to optimize is :

$$J(u(.)) = E\left[\int_{0}^{T} f(X(t), Y(t), u(t)) dt + h(X(T), Y(T))\right].$$
 (1.19)

By introducing the filter measure-valued process

$$\pi_{t}\left(dx\right) = P\left[X\left(t\right) \in dx \mid \mathcal{F}_{t}^{Y}\right],$$

one may rewrite the functional J(u) in the form :

$$J(u(.)) = E\left[\int_{0}^{T} \hat{f}(\pi_{t}, Y(t), u(t)) dt + \hat{h}(\pi_{T}, Y(T))\right], \qquad (1.20)$$

where we use the notation :  $\hat{f}(\pi, y) = \int f(x, y) \pi(dx)$  for any finite measure  $\pi$  on the signal state space, and similarly for  $\hat{h}$ . Since by definition, the process  $(\pi_t)$  is  $\mathcal{F}_t^Y$ -adapted, the original partial observation control problem is reformulated as a complete observation control model, with the new observable state variable defined by the filter process. The additional main difficulty is that the filter process is valued in the infinite-dimensional space of probability measures: it satisfies the Zakai stochastic partial differential equation. The dynamic programming principle or maximum principle are still applicable and the associated Bellman equation or Hamiltonian system are now in infinite dimension. For a theoretical study of optimal control under partial observation under this infinite dimensional viewpoint, we mention among others the works [28], [27], [9], [11], [45] or [58]. There are relatively few explicit calculations in the applications to finance of partial observation control models and this area should be developed in the future.

#### **1.3.4** Singular and impulse control

In formulation of the problem in (1.1), the displacement of the state changes continuously in time in response to the control effort. However, in many real applications, this displacement may be discontinuous. For example, in insurance company models, the company distributes the dividends once or twice a year rather than continuously. In transaction costs models, the agent should not invest continuously in the stock due to the costs but only at discrete times A similar situation occurs in a liquidity risk model, see e.g. [24]. Let us first introduce the following function space:  $D \equiv D([0,T], \mathbb{R}^n)$  the set of all functions  $\xi : [0,T] \to \mathbb{R}^n$  that are right continuous with left limits (càdlàg for short). We define the total variation of  $\xi$  on [0,T] by

$$\int_{0}^{T} |d\xi(s)| \equiv |\xi|_{[0,T]} = \sum_{i=1}^{i=n} |\xi^{i}|_{[0,T]},$$

where  $|\xi^i|_{[0,T]}$  is the total variation of the *i*th component of  $\xi$  on [0,T] in the usual sense. We define  $|\xi|_t \equiv |\xi|_{[0,T]}$ , t > 0, for simplicity. For  $\xi \in D$ , we define

$$\Delta \xi \left( s \right) := \xi \left( s \right) - \xi \left( s - \right),$$

and

$$S_{\xi} := \{ s \in [0,T] / \Delta \xi (s) \neq 0 \}.$$

Further, we define

 $BV_{\mathcal{F}}\left(\left[0,T\right],\mathbb{R}^{n}\right) = \left\{\xi \in D / |\xi|_{T} < \infty, \xi \text{ is } (\mathcal{F}_{t})_{t \geq 0} \text{-adapted}\right\}.$  (1.21)

For any  $\xi \in BV([0,T], \mathbb{R}^n)$  we define the pure jump part of  $\xi$  by  $\xi^{jp}(t) := \sum_{0 \le s < t} \Delta \xi(s)$ , and its Lebegue decomposition is :

$$\xi\left(.,\omega\right) = \xi^{ac}\left(.,\omega\right) + \xi^{sc}\left(.,\omega\right) + \xi^{jp}\left(.,\omega\right)$$

where

$$\begin{cases} \xi^{ac}(.,\omega) : \text{absolutely continuous part,} \\ \xi^{sc}(.,\omega) : \text{ singular continuous part,} \\ \xi^{jp}(.,\omega) : \text{ jump part,} \end{cases}$$

and

$$\xi^{c}(t) = \xi(t) - \xi^{jp}(t)$$
$$= \xi^{ac}(t) - \xi^{sc}(t),$$

where

$$\xi^{ac}\left(t\right) := \int_{0}^{t} \dot{\xi}^{c}\left(s\right) ds.$$

The controlled state diffusion process is governed by

$$dX_s = b(s, X_s)dt + \sigma(s, X_s)dWs + d\xi_s,$$

the functional objective to optimize is in the form

$$J(\xi(.)) = E\left\{\int_{0}^{T} f(t, x(t)) dt + \int_{0}^{T} f^{a}(t) \left\|\dot{\xi}^{ac}(t)\right\|_{1} dt + \int_{0}^{T} f^{s}(t) \left|d\xi^{sc}(t)\right| dt + \sum_{t \in S_{\xi}[0,T]} l(t, \Delta\xi(t)) + h(x(T))\right\}.$$
 (1.22)

Here,  $f, f^s, l$  and h are given functions, and  $\|\dot{\xi}^{ac}(t)\|_1$  and  $|d\xi^{sc}(t)|$  are the measures generated by the total variations of  $\xi^{ac}$  and  $\xi^{sc}$ . The optimal singular control problem is to minimize the cost functional (1.22) over  $BV([0,T], \mathbb{R}^n)$ .

## 1.3.5 Ergodic control

Some stochastic systems may exhibit over a long period a stationary behavior characterized by an invariant measure. This measure, if it does exists, is obtained by the average of the states over a long time. An ergodic control problem consists in optimizing over the long term some criterion taking into account this invariant measure. A standard formulation resulting from the criterion presented is to optimize over control u functional of the form

$$\lim \sup_{T \to +\infty} \frac{1}{T} E\left[\int_0^T f\left(X_t, u_t\right) dt\right],\tag{1.23}$$

or

$$\lim \sup_{T \to +\infty} \frac{1}{T} \ln E \left[ \exp\left( \int_0^T f(X_t, u_t) dt \right) \right].$$
(1.24)

This last formulation is called risk-sensitive control on an infinite horizon. Ergodic and risk-sensitive control problems were studied in [32], [13], or [32]. Risk-sensitive control problems were recently applied in a financial context in [15] and [33]

## **1.3.6** Stochastic target problems

Motivated by the super replication problem in finance, and in particular under gamma constraints [54], Soner and Touzi introduced a new class of stochastic control problems. The state process is described by a pair (X, Y) valued in  $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}$ , and controlled by a control process according to :

$$dX_s = b\left(s, X_s, u_s\right) ds + \sigma\left(s, X_s, u_s\right) dW_s,\tag{1.25}$$

$$dY_s = \eta \left( s, X_s, Y_s, u_s \right) + \gamma \left( s, X_s, Y_s, u_s \right) dW_s.$$

$$(1.26)$$

Given  $(t, x, y) \in [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}$ ,  $(X^{t,x}, Y^{t,x,y})$  is the unique solution to of (1.25)-(1.26) with initial condition  $(X_t^{t,x}, Y_t^{t,x,y}) = (x, y)$ . The coefficients  $b, \sigma, \eta, \gamma$  are bounded functions and satisfy usual conditions ensuring that  $(X^{t,x}, Y^{t,x,y})$  is well-defined. The stochastic target problem is defined as follows. Given a real-valued measurable function g on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , the value function of the control problem is defined by :

$$v(t,x) = \inf \left\{ y \in \mathbb{R}, \exists u \in \mathcal{U}, Y_T^{t,x,y} \ge h(X_T^{t,x}) \text{ a.s.} \right\}.$$

In finance, X is the price process, Y is the wealth process controlled by the portfolio strategy, and v(t, x) is the minimum capital in order to super replicate the payoff option  $h(X_T)$ . The derivation of the associated dynamic programming equation is obtained in [55].

## 1.4 Dynamic programming

Let T > 0 be given and let U be a metric space. For any  $(s, x) \in [0, T) \times \mathbb{R}^n$ , consider the state equation

$$\begin{cases} dx(t) = b(t, x(t), u(t)) dt + \sigma(t, x(t), u(t)) dW_t, t \in [s, T], \\ x(0) = x, \end{cases}$$
(1.27)

along with the cost functional

$$J(s, x, u(.)) = E\left[\int_{0}^{T} f(x(t), u(t)) dt + h(x(T))\right].$$
 (1.28)

Dynamic programming equation.

Fixes  $s \in [0, T)$ , we denote by  $\mathcal{U}[s, T]$  the set of all 5-tuples  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, P, W(.), u(.))$  satisfying the following :

- a)  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, P)$  is complete probability space.
- **b)**  $\{W_t\}_{t\geq s}$  is an *m*-dimensional standard Brownian motion defined on  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, P)$  over [s, T] (with W(s) = 0 a.s.), and  $\mathcal{F}_t^s = \sigma \{W_r : s \leq r \leq t\}$  augmented by all *P*-null sets in  $\mathcal{F}$ .
- c)  $u: [s,T] \times \Omega \to \mathcal{U}$  is an  $\{\mathcal{F}_t^s\}_{t>s}$ -adapted process on  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, P)$ .
- **d)** under u(.), for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  equation (1.27) admits a unique solution  $f(., x(.), u(.)) \in L^1_{\mathcal{F}}(0, T; \mathbb{R})$  and  $h(x(T)) \in L^1_{\mathcal{F}_T}(\Omega; \mathbb{R})$  are defined on  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \{\mathcal{F}^s_t\}_{t \ge s}, P)$ .

we define the value function

$$v\left(s,x\right) = \inf_{u(.) \in \mathcal{U}[s,T]} J\left(s,x,u\left(.\right)\right), \ \left(s,x\right) \in [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^{n}.$$

We now introduce some assumptions

- $S'_1$  ( $\mathcal{U}, d$ ) is polish space and T > 0.
- $S'_{2}$ )  $b, \sigma, f$  and h are uniformly continuous, and there exists a constant L > 0 such that for :  $\varphi(t, x, u) = b(t, x, u), \sigma(t, x, u), f(t, x, u), h(x),$

$$\begin{cases} |\varphi(t, x, u) - \varphi(t, \hat{x}, u)| \le L |x - \hat{x}|, \\ |\varphi(t, 0, u)| \le L, \forall t \in [0, T], \quad x, \hat{x} \in \mathbb{R}^{n}, \ u \in U. \end{cases}$$

Our optimal control problem can be stated as follows : Find  $(\hat{\Omega}, \hat{\mathcal{F}}, \hat{P}, \hat{W}(.), \hat{u}(.)) \in \mathcal{U}[s, T]$  such that

$$J(s, x, \hat{u}(.)) = \inf_{u \in \mathcal{U}[s,T]} J(s, x, u(.)).$$

$$(1.29)$$

The dynamic programming principle says that if a trajectory is optimal each time, then starting from another point one can do no better than follow the optimal trajectory.

**Theorem 1.4.1** Let  $(S'_1)$ - $(S'_2)$  hold. then for any  $(s, x) \in [0, T) \times \mathbb{R}^n$ ,

$$v(s,x) = \inf_{u(.) \in \mathcal{U}[s,T]} E\left\{ \int_{s}^{\hat{s}} f(t, x(t, s, x, u(.), u(t))) dt + v(\hat{s}, x(\hat{s}, s, x, u(.))) \right\}, \ \forall 0 \le s \le \hat{s} \le T$$
(1.30)

We call (1.30) the dynamic programming equation. This equation is very complicated, and it seems impossible to solve such an equation directly.

#### 1.4.1 Hamilton-Jacobi-Belman equation

Based on equation (1.30). we let  $C^{1,2}([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^n)$  be the set of all continuous functions  $v: [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  such that  $v_t, v_x$  and  $v_{xx}$  are all continuous in (t,x)

**Proposition 1.4.1 (The HJB equation)** Suppose  $(S'_1) - (S'_2)$  hold and the value function  $v \in C^{1,2}([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^n)$ . Then v is a solution of the following terminal value problem of a (possibly degenerate) second-order partial differential equation:

$$\begin{cases} -v_t + \sup_{u \in U} G(t, x, u, -v_{xx}) = 0, \quad (t, x) \in [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^n \\ v \setminus_{t=T} = h(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \end{cases}$$

where

$$G(t, x, u, p, P) := \frac{1}{2} tr \left( P\sigma(t, x, u) \sigma(t, x, u)^T \right) + \langle p, b(t, x, u) \rangle - f(t, x, u), \forall (t, x, u, p, P) \in [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^n \times U \times \mathbb{R}^n \times S^n.$$

## 1.4.2 The classical verification approach

The classical verification approach consists in finding a smooth solution to the HJB equation, and to check that this candidate, under suitable sufficient conditions, coincides with the value function. This result is usually called a verification theorem and provides as a byproduct an optimal control. It relies mainly on Itô's formula. The assertions of a verification theorem may slightly vary from problem to problem, depending on the required sufficient technical conditions. The verification theorem is stated as follows :

**Theorem 1.4.2** Let v be a  $C^{1,2}$  function on  $[0,T) \times R^n$  and continuous in T, with suitable growth condition. Suppose that for all  $(t,x) \in [0,T) \times R^n$ , there exists  $\hat{\alpha}(t,x)$  measurable, valued in  $A = \mathbb{R}_+$  such that v solves the HJB equation :

$$0 = w_t(t, x) - \sup_{a \in A} \left[ \mathcal{L}^a w(t, x) + f(t, x, a) \right]$$
$$= w_t(t, x) - \mathcal{L}^{\hat{\alpha}(t, x)} w(t, x) - f(t, x, \hat{\alpha}(t, x)),$$
$$on \left[ 0, T \right) \times R^n$$

together with the terminal condition w(T, .) = g on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and the S.D.E. :

$$dX_s = b\left(s, X_s, \hat{\alpha}(t, x)\right) dt + \sigma\left(s, X_s, \hat{\alpha}(t, x)\right) dW_s$$

admits a unique solution, denoted  $\hat{X}_{s}^{t,x}$ , given an initial condition  $X_{t} = x$ . Then, w = vand  $\left\{ \hat{\alpha}(s, \hat{X}_{s}^{t,x}) \ t \leq s \leq T \right\}$  is an optimal control for v(t, x).

A proof of this verification theorem may be found in any textbook on stochastic control, see e.g. [57], [34] or [43].

**Example 1.4.1 (Merton's portfolio selection problem)** This is the situation where an investor may decide at any time over a finite horizon T to invest a proportion valued in  $A = \mathbb{R}$  of his wealth X in a risky stock of constants rate of return  $\mu$  and volatility  $\sigma$  and the rest of proportion  $1 - \alpha$  in a bank account of constant interest r. His wealth controlled process is then governed by :

$$dX_s = X_s \left( r + \left( \mu - r \right) \alpha_s \right) ds + X_s \sigma \alpha_s dW_s,$$

and the objective of the investor is given by the value function :

$$v(t,x) = \sup_{\alpha \in A} E\left[U\left(X_T^{t,x}\right)\right], \quad (t,x) \in [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}_+,$$

where U is a utility function, i.e. a concave and increasing function on  $\mathbb{R}_+$ . For the popular specific choice of the power utility function  $U(x) = x^p$ , with p < 1, it is possible to find an explicit (smooth) solution to the associated HJB equation with the terminal condition v(T, .) = U, namely:

$$v(t,x) = \exp\left(\rho\left(T-t\right)\right)x^{p},$$

with  $\rho = \frac{(\mu - r)^2}{2\sigma^2} \frac{p}{1 - p} + rp$ . Moreover, the optimal control is constant and given by :

$$\hat{\alpha} = \frac{\mu - r}{\sigma^2 \left(1 - p\right)}.$$

The key point in the explicit resolution of the Merton problem is that the value function vmay be separated into a function of t and of  $x : v(t, x) = \varphi(t) x^p$ . With this transformation and substitution into the HJB equation, it turns out that  $\varphi'$  is the solution of an ordinary differential equation with terminal condition  $\varphi(T) = 1$ , which is explicitly solved.

For other applications of verification theorems to stochastic control problems in finance see [50].

## 1.5 The Pontriagin stochastic maximum principle

A classical approach for optimization and control problems is to derive necessary conditions satisfied by an optimal solution. The argument is to use an appropriate calculus of variations on the gain function J(t, x, .) with respect to the control variable in order to derive a necessary condition of optimality. The maximum principle, initiated by Pontryagin in the 1960s, states that an optimal state trajectory must solve a Hamilton system together with a maximum condition of a function called a generalized Hamilton. In principle, solve a Hamilton should be easier than solving the original control problem. The original version of Pontryagin's maximum principle was derived for deterministic problems. As in classical calculus of variation, the basic idea of is to perturb an optimal control and to use some sort of Taylor expansion of the state trajectory and objective functional around the optimal control. By sending the perturbation to zero, one obtains some inequality, and by duality, the maximum principle is expressed in terms of an adjoint variable (Lagrange multiplier in the finite-dimensional case).

The stochastic control case was extensively studied in the 1970s by Bismut, Kushner, Bensoussan or Haussmann. However, at that time, the results were essentially obtained under the condition that there is no control on the diffusion coefficient. For example, Haussmann investigated maximum principle by Girsanov's transformation and this limitation explains why this approach does not work with control-dependent and degenerate diffusion coefficients.

The main difficulty when facing a general controlled diffusion is that the Itô integral

term is not of the same order as the Lebesgue term and thus the first-order variation method fails. This difficulty was overcome by Peng , who studied the second-order term in the Taylor expansion of the perturbation method arising from the Itô integral. He then obtained a maximum principle for possibly degenerate and control-dependent diffusion, which involves in addition to the first-order adjoint variable, a second-order adjoint variable. In order to make applicable the maximum principle, one needs some explicit description of the adjoint variables. These variables obtained originally by duality in functional analysis may be represented by Riesz representation of a certain functional. By completing with martingale representation in stochastic analysis, the adjoint variables are then described by what is called today backward stochastic differential equations (BSDE).

## 1.5.1 Deterministic control problem

We provide a sketch of how the maximum principle for a deterministic control problem is derived. In this setting, the state of the system is given by the differential equation

$$\begin{cases} dx(t) = b(x(t), u(t)) dt, \\ x(0) = 0, \end{cases}$$
(1.31)

where  $u(t) \in U$  for all  $t \in [0, T]$ , and the action space U is some subset of  $\mathbb{R}$ . The objective is to minimize some cost function

$$J(u) = \int_{0}^{T} h(x(t), u(t)) dt + g(x_{T}). \qquad (1.32)$$

That is, the function h inflicts a running cost and the function g inflicts a terminal cost. We now assume that there exists a control  $\hat{u}(t)$  which is optimal, i.e.

$$J\left(\hat{u}\right) = \inf_{u \in U} J\left(u\right). \tag{1.33}$$

We denote by  $\hat{x}(t)$  the solution to (1.31) with the optimal control  $\hat{u}(t)$ . We are going to derive necessary conditions for optimality by analyzing what happens when we make a small perturbation of the optimal control. Therefore we introduce a so called spike variation, i.e. a control which is equal to  $\hat{u}$  except on some small time interval :

$$u^{\theta}(t) = \begin{cases} v & \text{for} \quad \tau - \theta \leq t \leq \tau, \\ \hat{u}(t) & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

We denote by  $x^{\theta}(t)$  the solution to (1.31) with the control  $u^{\theta}(t)$ . We see that  $x^{\theta}(t)$  and  $\hat{x}(t)$  are equal up to  $t = \tau - \theta$  and that

$$x^{\theta}(\tau) - \hat{x}(\tau) = \int_{\tau-\theta}^{\tau} \left( b\left(x^{\theta}(r), v(r)\right) - b\left(\hat{x}(r), \hat{u}(r)\right) \right) dr$$
$$= \left( b\left(x^{\theta}(\tau), v(\tau)\right) - b\left(\hat{x}(\tau), \hat{u}(\tau)\right) \right) \theta + o\left(\theta\right)$$
$$= \left( b\left(\hat{x}_{\tau}, v_{\tau}\right) - b\left(\hat{x}_{\tau}, \hat{u}_{\tau}\right) \right) \theta + o\left(\theta\right), \tag{1.34}$$

where the third equality holds since  $x^{\theta}(\tau) - \hat{x}(\tau)$  is of order  $\theta$ . Next, we look at the Taylor expansion of the state with respect to  $\theta$ . Let

$$z(t) = \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta} x^{\theta}(t) |_{\theta=0} , \qquad (1.35)$$

i.e. the Taylor expansion of  $x^{\theta}(t)$  is

$$x^{\theta}(t) = \hat{x}(t) + z(t)\theta + o(\theta). \qquad (1.36)$$

Then, by (1.34),

$$z(\tau) = b(\hat{x}_{\tau}, v_{\tau}) - b(\hat{x}_{\tau}, \hat{u}_{\tau}).$$
(1.37)

Moreover, we can derive the following differential equation for z(t)

$$dz_{t} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta} dx^{\theta} (t) |_{\theta=0}$$
  
=  $\frac{\partial}{\partial \theta} b (x^{\theta} (t), u^{\theta} (t)) dt |_{\theta=0}$   
=  $b_{x} (x^{\theta} (t), u^{\theta} (t)) \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta} x^{\theta} (t) dt |_{\theta=0}$   
=  $b_{x} (x^{\theta} (t), u^{\theta} (t)) z_{t} dt,$ 

where  $b_x$  denotes the derivative of b with respect to x. If we for the moment assume that h = 0, the optimality of  $\hat{u}(t)$  leads to the inequality

$$0 < \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta} J(u^{\theta})|_{\theta=0} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta} g(x^{\theta}(T))|_{\theta=0} = g_x(x^{\theta}(T)) \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta} x^{\theta}(T)|_{\theta=0}$$
$$= g_x(\hat{x}(T)) z(T).$$

We shall use duality to obtain a more explicit necessary condition from this. To this end we introduce the adjoint equation:

$$\begin{cases} dp(t) = -b_x(\hat{x}(t), \hat{u}(t))p(t) dt, \\ p(T) = g_x(\hat{x}(T)). \end{cases}$$

Then it follows that

$$d\left(p\left(t\right)z\left(t\right)\right) = 0,$$

i.e. p(t)z(t) = constant. By the terminal condition for the adjoint equation we have

$$p(t)z(t) = g_x(\hat{x}(T))z(T) > 0$$
, for all  $0 \le t \le T$ .

In particular, by (1.37)

$$p(\tau) \left( b\left( \hat{x}\left( \tau \right), v\left( \tau \right) \right) - b\left( \hat{x}\left( \tau \right), \hat{u}\left( \tau \right) \right) \right) \ge 0.$$

Since  $\tau$  was chosen arbitrarily, this is equivalent to

$$p(t) b(\hat{x}(t), \hat{u}(t)) = \inf_{v} p(t) b(\hat{x}(t), v(t)), \text{ for all } 0 \le t \le T.$$

This specifies a necessary condition for  $\hat{u}(t)$  to be optimal when h = 0. To account for the running cost h one can construct an extra state  $dx^0(t) = h(x(t), u(t))dt$ , which allows us to write the cost function in terms of two terminal costs :

$$J(u) = x^{0}(T) + g(x(T)).$$

By repeating the calculations above for this two-dimensional system, one can derive the necessary condition :

$$H(\hat{x}(t), \hat{u}(t), p(t)) = \inf_{v} H(\hat{x}(t), v, p(t)), \text{ for all } 0 \le t \le T,$$
(1.38)

where H is the so-called Hamiltonian (sometimes defined with a minus sign which turns the minimum condition above into a maximum condition):

$$H(x, u, p) = h(x, u) + pb(x, u),$$

and the adjoint equation is given by

$$\begin{cases} dp(t) = -(h_x(\hat{x}(t), \hat{u}(t)) + b_x(\hat{x}(t), \hat{u}(t))p(t))dt, \\ p(T) = g_x(\hat{x}(T)). \end{cases}$$
(1.39)

The minimum condition (1.38) together with the adjoint equation (1.39) specifies the Hamiltonian system for our control problem.

## 1.5.2 The stochastic maximum principle

The earliest paper on the extension of the maximum principle to stochastic control problems is Kushner and Schweppe (1964). One major difficulty that arises in such an extension is that the adjoint equation (1.39) becomes a SDE with terminal conditions. In contrast to a deterministic differential equation, one cannot simply reverse the time since the control process, and consequently the solution to the SDE, is required to be adapted to the filtration. Bismut solved this problem by introducing conditional expectations and obtained the solution to the adjoint equation from the martingale representation theorem, see e.g. Bismut (1978) [16] and also Haussmann (1986) [39]. An extensive study of these so-called backward SDEs can be found in e.g. Ma and Yong (1999) [46].

For the case where  $\sigma$  isn't controlled the adjoint equation is given by

$$\begin{cases} dp(t) = -(h_x(\hat{x}(t), \hat{u}(t)) + b_x(\hat{x}(t), \hat{u}(t))p(t) + \sigma_x(\hat{x}(t))q(t))dt - q(t)dW_t, \\ p(T) = g_x(\hat{x}(T)). \end{cases}$$
(1.40)

A solution to this kind of backward SDE is a pair (p(t), q(t)) which fulfills (1.40). The Hamiltonian is

$$H(x, u, p, q) = h(x, u) + pb(x, u) + q\sigma(x),$$

and the maximum principle reads

$$H(\hat{x}(t), \hat{u}(t), p(t), q(t)) = \inf_{v} H(\hat{x}(t), v, p(t), q(t)), \text{ for all } 0 \le t \le T, P-a.s.$$

For the stochastic maximum principle, there is a major difference between the cases where  $\sigma$  isn't controlled and  $\sigma$  is controlled. As for (1.1), when performing the expansion with respect to the perturbation  $\theta$  (1.36), the fact that the perturbed Itô integral turns out to be of order  $\sqrt{\theta}$  (rather than  $\theta$  as with the ordinary Lebesgue integral) poses a problem. In fact, one needs to take into account both the first-order and second-order terms in the

Taylor expansion (1.36). This ultimately leads to a maximum principle containing two adjoint equations, both in the form of linear backward SDEs. The Hamiltonian is replaced by a extended Hamiltonian :

$$\mathcal{H}^{(\hat{x}(t),\hat{u}(t))}(t,x,v) = H(t,x,v,p(t),q(t) - P(t)\sigma(t,\hat{x}(t),\hat{u}(t))) - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^{2}(t,\hat{x}(t),v)P(t),$$

where (p(t), q(t)) is the solution to the first order adjoint equation (1.40) and (P(t), Q(t))is the solution to the second order adjoint equation – see Peng (1990) [49] where the first proof of this general stochastic maximum principle is given. The optimal control is in this case characterized by

$$\mathcal{H}^{(\hat{x}(t),\hat{u}(t))}\left(t,\hat{x}\left(t\right),\hat{u}\left(t\right)\right) = \inf_{v}\mathcal{H}^{(\hat{x}(t),\hat{u}(t))}\left(t,\hat{x}\left(t\right),v\right), \text{ for all } 0 \le t \le T, P-a.s.$$

There is also third case: if the state is given by (1.1) but the action space U is convex, it is possible to derive the maximum principle in a local form. This is accomplished by using a convex perturbation of the control instead of a spike variation, see Bensoussan (1982) [34]. The necessary condition for optimality is then the following.:

$$\frac{d}{dv}H\left(t,\hat{x}\left(t\right),\hat{u}\left(t\right),\hat{p}\left(t\right),\hat{q}\left(t\right)\right)\left(v-\hat{u}\left(t\right)\right)\geq0, \text{ for all } 0\leq t\leq T, P-a.s.$$

## Chapter 2

# A general stochastic maximum principle for singular control problems

## 2.1 Introduction

In this chapter we will give a detailed demonstration of the maximum principle in singular control in which the control domain need not be convex, the control variable has two components, the first being absolutely continuous and the second singular. The coefficients of the state equation are non linear and depend explicitly on the absolutely continuous component of the control. This result was established by Seid Bahlali and Brahim Mezerdi [3] using a spike variation on the absolutely continuous part of the control and a convex perturbation on the singular one to establish a maximum principle. This result is a generalization of Peng's maximum principle to singular control problems.

#### 2.1.1 Problem formulation and assumptions

Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0}, P)$  be a probability space equipped with a filtration satisfying the usual conditions, on which a d-dimensional Brownian motion  $\mathcal{B} = (\mathcal{B}_t)_{t\geq 0}$  is defined. We assume that  $(\mathcal{F}_t)$  is the *P*-augmentation of the natural filtration of  $(\mathcal{B}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ .

Let T be a strictly positive real number and consider the following sets

 $A_1$  is a non empty subset of  $\mathbb{R}^k$  and  $A_2 = ([0,\infty))^m$ .

 $U_1$  is the class of measurable, adapted processes  $u: [0,T] \times \Omega \to A_1$ .

 $U_2$  is the class of measurable, adapted processes  $\xi : [0,T] \times \Omega \to A_2$  such that  $\xi$  is no decreasing, left-continuous with right limits and  $\xi_0 = 0$ .

**Definition 2.1.1** An admissible control is an  $\mathcal{F}_t$ -adapted process  $(u, \xi) \in U_1 \times U_2$  such that

$$E\left[\sup_{t\in[0,T]}\left|u\left(t\right)\right|^{2}+\left|\xi_{T}\right|^{2}\right]<\infty.$$

We denote by  $\mathcal{U}$  the set of all admissible controls.

For any  $(u,\xi) \in \mathcal{U}$ , we consider the following stochastic equation :

$$\begin{cases} dx(t) = b(t, x(t), u(t)) dt + \sigma(t, x(t), u(t)) d\mathcal{B}_t + G_t d\xi_t, \\ x(0) = x_0, \end{cases}$$
(2.1)

where

$$b: [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^{n} \times A_{1} \to \mathbb{R}^{n},$$
  
$$\sigma: [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^{n} \times A_{1} \to \mathcal{M}_{n \times d} (\mathbb{R}),$$
  
$$G: [0,T] \to \mathcal{M}_{n \times m} (\mathbb{R}).$$

The expected cost has the form

$$J(u,\xi) = E\left[g(x_T) + \int_0^T h(t, x(t), u(t)) dt + \int_0^T h(t) d\xi_t\right],$$
(2.2)

where

$$g: \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R},$$
  
$$h: [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^n \times A_1 \to \mathbb{R},$$
  
$$k: [0,T] \to ([0,\infty))^m.$$

The control problem is to minimize the functional J(.) over  $\mathcal{U}$ . If  $(\hat{u}, \hat{\xi}) \in \mathcal{U}$  is an optimal solution, that is

$$J\left(\hat{u},\hat{\xi}\right) = \inf_{(u,\xi)\in\mathcal{U}} J\left(u,\xi\right),$$

we may ask, how we can characterize it, in other words what conditions must  $(\hat{u}, \hat{\xi})$  necessarily satisfy?

We have the following assumptions :

- 1.  $b, \sigma, g, h$  are twice continuously differentiable with respect to x
- 2. The derivatives  $b_x, b_{xx}, \sigma_x, \sigma_{xx}, G_x, G_{xx}, h_x, h_{xx}$  are continuous in (x, u) and uniformly bounded.
- 3.  $b, \sigma$  are bounded by C(1 + |x| + |u|).
- 4. G and k are continuous and G is bounded.

Under the above hypothesis, for every  $(u, \xi) \in \mathcal{U}$  equation (2.1) has a unique strong solution given by

$$x^{(u,\xi)}(t) = x_0 + \int_0^t b\left(s, x^{(u,\xi)}(s), u(s)\right) ds + \int_0^t \sigma\left(s, x^{(u,\xi)}(s), u(s)\right) d\mathcal{B}_s + \int_0^t G_s d\xi_s,$$

and the cost functional J is well defined from  $\mathcal{U}$  into  $\mathbb{R}$ .

## 2.1.2 Preliminary Results

We assume the existence of an optimal control  $(\hat{u}, \hat{\xi})$  minimizing the cost J over  $\mathcal{U}$ and  $\hat{x}(t)$  denotes the optimal trajectory, that is, the solution of (2.1) corresponding to  $(\hat{u}, \hat{\xi})$ . Let us introduce the following perturbation of the optimal control  $(\hat{u}, \hat{\xi})$ :

$$\left(u^{\theta}\left(t\right),\xi^{\theta}\left(t\right)\right) = \begin{cases} \left(v,\hat{\xi}\left(t\right) + \theta\left(\eta\left(t\right) - \hat{\xi}\left(t\right)\right)\right) & \text{if } t \in [\tau,\tau+\theta], \\ \left(\hat{u}\left(t\right),\hat{\xi}\left(t\right) + \theta\left(\eta\left(t\right) - \hat{\xi}\left(t\right)\right)\right) & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(2.3)

where  $0 \le \tau < T$  is fixed,  $\theta > 0$  is sufficiently small, v is a -measurable random variable and  $\eta$  is an increasing process with  $\eta_0 = 0$ .

Since  $(\hat{u}, \hat{\xi})$  is optimal, we have

$$J\left(u^{\theta},\xi^{\theta}\right) - J\left(\hat{u},\hat{\xi}\right) \ge 0$$

Let

$$J_1 = J\left(u^{\theta}, \xi^{\theta}\right) - J\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right), \qquad (2.4)$$

$$J_2 = J\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right) - J\left(\hat{u}, \hat{\xi}\right).$$
(2.5)

The variational inequality will be derived from the fact that

$$\lim_{\theta \to 0} \frac{1}{\theta} J_1 + \lim_{\theta \to 0} \frac{1}{\theta} J_2 \ge 0,$$
(2.6)

let  $x_t^{\theta}$ ,  $x_t^{(u^{\theta},\hat{\xi})}$  be the trajectories associated respectively with  $(u^{\theta},\xi^{\theta})$  and  $(u^{\theta},\hat{\xi})$ . For simplicity of notation, we denote

$$f(t) = f(t, \hat{x}, \hat{u}),$$
$$f^{\theta}(t) = f(t, \hat{x}, u^{\theta}),$$

where f stands for one of the functions  $b, b_x, b_{xx}, \sigma, \sigma_x, \sigma_{xx}, h, h_x, h_{xx}$ .

To obtain the variational inequality we need the following technical lemmas.

Lemma 2.1.1 Under assumptions 1, we have

$$\lim_{\theta \to 0} E \left| \frac{x^{\theta}\left(t\right) - x^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)}\left(t\right)}{\theta} - z\left(t\right) \right|^{2} = 0, \qquad (2.7)$$

where z is the solution of the linear stochastic differential equation

$$z(t) = \int_0^t b_x(s) z(s) ds + \int_0^t \sigma_x(s) z(s) d\mathcal{B}_s + \int_0^t G(s) d\left(\eta - \hat{\xi}\right)_s.$$

**Proof.** We first proof that

$$\lim_{\theta \to 0} E\left[\sup_{0 \le t \le T} \left| x^{\theta}\left(t\right) - x^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)}\left(t\right) \right|^{2} \right] = 0,$$
(2.8)

$$\lim_{\theta \to 0} E \left[ \sup_{0 \le t \le T} \left| x^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)}\left(t\right) - \hat{x}\left(t\right) \right|^{2} \right] = 0,$$
(2.9)

$$E\left[\left|z_{t}\right|^{2}\right] < \infty, \tag{2.10}$$

where  $x^{\theta}(t)$  and  $x^{(u^{\theta},\hat{\xi})}(t)$  are the solutions of the equation (2.1) associated respectively to the controls  $(u^{\theta},\xi^{\theta})$  and  $(u^{\theta},\hat{\xi})$ , we have then

$$\begin{aligned} x^{\theta}(t) &= x_{0} + \int_{0}^{t} b\left(s, x^{\theta}\left(s\right), u^{\theta}\left(s\right)\right) ds + \int_{0}^{t} \sigma\left(s, x^{\theta}\left(s\right), u^{\theta}\left(s\right)\right) d\mathcal{B}_{s} \\ &+ \int_{0}^{t} G_{s} d\xi_{s}^{\theta}, \\ x^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)}(t) &= x_{0} + \int_{0}^{t} b\left(s, x^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)}\left(s\right), u^{\theta}\left(s\right)\right) ds + \int_{0}^{t} \sigma\left(s, x^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)}\left(s\right), u^{\theta}\left(s\right)\right) d\mathcal{B}_{s} \\ &+ \int_{0}^{t} G_{s} d\hat{\xi}_{s}, \end{aligned}$$

using the two equations above and applying the expectation we have

$$E\left[\sup_{0\leq t\leq T}\left|x^{\theta}\left(t\right)-x^{\left(u^{\theta},\hat{\xi}\right)}\left(t\right)\right|^{2}\right] \leq 3TE\left[\int_{0}^{T}\left|b\left(s,x^{\theta}\left(s\right),u^{\theta}\left(s\right)\right)-b\left(s,x^{\left(u^{\theta},\hat{\xi}\right)}\left(s\right),u^{\theta}\left(s\right)\right)\right|^{2}ds\right]+$$
$$3E\left[\sup_{0\leq t\leq T}\left(\int_{0}^{t}\left|\sigma\left(s,x^{\theta}\left(s\right),u^{\theta}\left(s\right)\right)-\sigma\left(s,x^{\left(u^{\theta},\hat{\xi}\right)}\left(s\right),u^{\theta}\left(s\right)\right)\right|d\mathcal{B}_{s}\right)^{2}\right]$$
$$+3\theta^{2}E\left[\sup_{0\leq t\leq T}\left(\int_{0}^{t}G_{s}d\left(\eta-\hat{\xi}\right)_{s}\right)^{2}\right],$$

using Burkholder Davis Gundy inequality, we get

$$E\left[\sup_{0\leq t\leq T}\left|x^{\theta}\left(t\right)-x^{\left(u^{\theta},\hat{\xi}\right)}\left(t\right)\right|^{2}\right] \leq 3TE\left[\int_{0}^{T}\left|b\left(s,x^{\theta}\left(s\right),u^{\theta}\left(s\right)\right)-b\left(s,x^{\left(u^{\theta},\hat{\xi}\right)}\left(s\right),u^{\theta}\left(s\right)\right)\right|^{2}ds\right] + 3cE\left[\int_{0}^{T}\left|\sigma\left(s,x^{\theta}\left(s\right),u^{\theta}\left(s\right)\right)-\sigma\left(s,x^{\left(u^{\theta},\hat{\xi}\right)}\left(s\right),u^{\theta}\left(s\right)\right)\right|^{2}ds\right] + \theta^{2}K.$$

Under assumption (1), we have b and  $\sigma$  are Lipschitz then the inequality above becomes

$$\begin{aligned} \left| b\left(s, x^{\theta}\left(s\right), u^{\theta}\left(s\right)\right) - b\left(s, x^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)}\left(s\right), u^{\theta}\left(s\right)\right) \right| &\leq k \left| x^{\theta}\left(s\right) - x^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)}\left(s\right) \right|, \\ \left| \sigma\left(s, x^{\theta}\left(s\right), u^{\theta}\left(s\right)\right) - \sigma\left(s, x^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)}\left(s\right), u^{\theta}\left(s\right)\right) \right| &\leq k \left| x^{\theta}\left(s\right) - x^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)}\left(s\right) \right|, \\ E \left[ \sup_{0 \leq t \leq T} \left| x^{\theta}\left(t\right) - x^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)}\left(t\right) \right|^{2} \right] &\leq \left(3Tk^{2} + 3ck^{2}\right) \int_{0}^{T} E \left[ \left| x^{\theta}\left(s\right) - x^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)}\left(s\right) \right|^{2} \right] ds \\ &+ K\theta^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

In the other hand we have by using the isomitry property of the stochastic integral and

the fact that b and  $\sigma$  are Lipschitz

$$E\left[\left|x^{\theta}\left(t\right)-x^{\left(u^{\theta},\hat{\xi}\right)}\left(t\right)\right|^{2}\right] \leq 3TE\left[\int_{0}^{t}\left|b\left(s,x^{\theta}\left(s\right),u^{\theta}\left(s\right)\right)-b\left(s,x^{\left(u^{\theta},\hat{\xi}\right)}\left(s\right),u^{\theta}\left(s\right)\right)\right|^{2}ds\right]\right.$$
$$\left.+3TE\left[\int_{0}^{t}\left|\sigma\left(s,x^{\theta}\left(s\right),u^{\theta}\left(s\right)\right)-\sigma\left(s,x^{\left(u^{\theta},\hat{\xi}\right)}\left(s\right),u^{\theta}\left(s\right)\right)\right|^{2}ds\right]\right.$$
$$\left.+K\theta^{2}\right.$$
$$\left.\leq K'E\left[\int_{0}^{t}\left|x^{\theta}\left(t\right)-x^{\left(u^{\theta},\hat{\xi}\right)}\left(t\right)\right|^{2}ds\right]+\theta^{2}K, \text{ where } K'=6Tk^{2}.$$

Using Gronwall lemma, we have

$$E\left(\left|x^{\theta}\left(t\right) - x^{\left(u^{\theta},\hat{\xi}\right)}\left(t\right)\right|^{2}\right) \leq c\theta^{2} \quad \text{where} \quad c = K \exp\left(K'T\right).$$

Finally we have

$$E\left[\sup_{0\leq t\leq T}\left|x^{\theta}\left(t\right)-x^{\left(u^{\theta},\hat{\xi}\right)}\left(t\right)\right|^{2}\right]\leq C\theta^{2}.$$

We use the same arguments to prove that

$$\lim_{\theta \to 0} E \left[ \sup_{0 \le t \le T} \left| x^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)}(t) - \hat{x}(t) \right|^{2} \right] = 0,$$
$$E \left[ \left| z_{t} \right|^{2} \right] < \infty.$$

Let

$$y^{\theta}(t) = \frac{x^{\theta}(t) - x^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)}(t)}{\theta} - z(t).$$

If we use for f = b or  $f = \sigma$  the following equality :

$$\begin{split} f\left(s, x^{\theta}, u^{\theta}\right) - f\left(s, x^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)}, u^{\theta}\right) &= \int_{0}^{1} \frac{d}{d\lambda} \left( f\left(s, x^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)} + \lambda \left(x^{\theta} - x^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)}\right), u^{\theta}\right) \right) d\lambda \\ &= \int_{0}^{1} f_{x} \left(s, x^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)} + \lambda \left(x^{\theta} - x^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)}\right), u^{\theta}\right) \left(x^{\theta} - x^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)}\right) d\lambda, \end{split}$$

$$(2.11)$$

and the inequality :  $(a + b + c)^2 \le 3a^2 + 3b^2 + 3c^2$ , it hold that

$$\begin{split} E\left|y^{\theta}\left(t\right)\right|^{2} &\leq 3T \int_{0}^{t} E\left|\int_{0}^{1} b_{x}\left(s, x_{s}^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)} + \lambda\left(x_{s}^{\theta} - x_{s}^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)}\right), u_{s}^{\theta}\right) y^{\theta}\left(s\right) d\lambda\right|^{2} ds \\ &+ 3 \int_{0}^{t} E\left|\int_{0}^{1} \sigma_{x}\left(s, x_{s}^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)} + \lambda\left(x_{s}^{\theta} - x_{s}^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)}\right), u_{s}^{\theta}\right) y^{\theta}\left(s\right) d\lambda\right|^{2} ds \\ &+ 3E\left|\rho^{\theta}\left(t\right)\right|^{2}, \end{split}$$

where

$$\rho^{\theta}(t) = \int_{0}^{t} \int_{0}^{1} \left[ b_{x} \left( s, x_{s}^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)} + \lambda \left( x_{s}^{\theta} - x_{s}^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)} \right), u_{s}^{\theta} \right) - b_{x} \left( s, \hat{x}_{s}, \hat{u}_{s} \right) \right] z_{s} d\lambda ds$$
$$+ \int_{0}^{t} \int_{0}^{1} \left[ \sigma_{x} \left( s, x_{s}^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)} + \lambda \left( x_{s}^{\theta} - x_{s}^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)} \right), u_{s}^{\theta} \right) - \sigma_{x} \left( s, \hat{x}_{s}, \hat{u}_{s} \right) \right] z_{s} d\lambda d\mathcal{B}_{s}.$$

Since  $b_x$  and  $\sigma_x$  are bounded, we have

$$E\left|y^{\theta}\left(t\right)\right|^{2} \leq c \int_{0}^{t} E\left|y^{\theta}\left(s\right)\right|^{2} ds + 3E\left|\rho^{\theta}\left(t\right)\right|^{2}.$$

 $b_x$ ,  $\sigma_x$  being continuous and bounded, then using (2.8), (2.9), (2.10) and the dominated convergence theorem, we get

$$\lim_{\theta \to 0} E \left| \rho^{\theta} \left( t \right) \right|^{2} = 0.$$

We conclude by using Gronwall's lemma.  $\blacksquare$ 

**Lemma 2.1.2** Under assumption 1 - 4, the following estimate holds

$$E\left[\sup_{t\in[0,T]} \left|x_t^{(u^{\theta},\hat{\xi})} - \hat{x}_t - x_1(t) - x_2(t)\right|^2\right] \le C\theta^2,$$
(2.12)

where  $x_1, x_2$  are solutions of

$$x_{1}(t) = \int_{0}^{t} \left[ b_{x}(s) x_{1}(s) + b^{\theta}(s) - b(s) \right] ds$$
$$+ \int_{0}^{t} \left[ \sigma_{x}(s) x_{1}(s) + \sigma^{\theta}(s) - \sigma(s) \right] d\mathcal{B}_{s},$$

$$x_{2}(t) = \int_{0}^{t} \left[ b_{x}^{\theta}(s) - b_{x}(s) \right] x_{1}(s) ds + \int_{0}^{t} \left[ b_{x}(s) x_{2}(s) + \frac{1}{2} b_{xx}(s) x_{1}(s) x_{1}(s) \right] ds + \int_{0}^{t} \left[ \sigma_{x}^{\theta}(s) - \sigma_{x}(s) \right] x_{1}(s) d\mathcal{B}_{s} + \int_{0}^{t} \left[ \sigma_{x}(s) x_{2}(s) + \frac{1}{2} \sigma_{xx}(s) x_{1}(s) x_{1}(s) \right] d\mathcal{B}_{s}.$$

The above equations are called the first and the second-order variational equations.

**Proof.** We put

$$\tilde{x}(t) = \hat{x}(t) - \int_0^t G(s) \, d\hat{\xi}_s,$$
$$\tilde{x}_t^{(u^\theta, \hat{\xi})} = \hat{x}_t^{(u^\theta, \hat{\xi})} - \int_0^t G(s) \, d\hat{\xi}_s.$$

It is clear that

$$x_{t}^{\left(u^{\theta},\hat{\xi}\right)} - \hat{x}_{t} - x_{1}\left(t\right) - x_{2}\left(t\right) = \tilde{x}_{t}^{\left(u^{\theta},\hat{\xi}\right)} - \tilde{x}_{t} - x_{1}\left(t\right) - x_{2}\left(t\right).$$

By using the same proof as in [53], lemma 1 page 968, we show that

$$E\left[\sup_{t\in[0,T]}\left|\tilde{x}_{t}^{\left(u^{\theta},\hat{\xi}\right)}-\tilde{x}_{t}-x_{1}\left(t\right)-x_{2}\left(t\right)\right|^{2}\right]\leq C\theta^{2},$$

which prove the lemma  $\ \blacksquare$ 

Lemma 2.1.3 Under assumptions of lemma (2.2.1), we have

$$\lim_{\theta \to 0} \frac{J_1}{\theta} = E\left[z\left(t\right)g_x\left(\hat{x}\left(T\right)\right)\right] + E\int_0^T z\left(t\right)h_x\left(t\right)dt + E\int_0^T k\left(t\right)d\left(\eta - \hat{\xi}\right)_t.$$
(2.13)

**Proof.** From (2.4) we have by using equality (2.12)

$$\begin{split} \frac{J_1}{\theta} &= E \int_0^T \int_0^1 \left( \frac{x_s^{\theta} - x_s^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)}}{\theta} \right) h_x \left( s, x_s^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)} + \lambda \left( x_s^{\theta} - x_s^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)} \right), u_s^{\theta} \right) d\lambda ds \\ &+ \int_0^1 \left( \frac{x_T^{\theta} - x_T^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)}}{\theta} \right) g_x \left( x_T^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)} + \lambda \left( x_T^{\theta} - x_T^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)} \right) \right) d\lambda \\ &+ E \int_0^T k \left( t \right) d \left( \eta - \hat{\xi} \right)_t. \end{split}$$

Since  $g_x$  and  $h_x$  are continuous and bounded, then from (2.3), (2.7), (2.9) and by letting  $\theta$  going to zero we conclude.

**Lemma 2.1.4** Under assumptions of lemma (2.2.2) we have

$$J_{2} \leq E \left[ g_{x} \left( \hat{x}_{T} \right) \left( x_{1} \left( T \right) + x_{2} \left( T \right) \right) + \int_{0}^{T} h_{x} \left( t \right) \left( x_{1} \left( t \right) + x_{2} \left( t \right) \right) dt \right] + \frac{1}{2} E \left[ g_{xx} \left( x_{T} \right) x_{1} \left( T \right) x_{1} \left( T \right) \right] + \int_{0}^{T} h_{xx} \left( t \right) x_{1} \left( t \right) x_{1} \left( t \right) dt + E \int_{0}^{T} \left[ h^{\theta} \left( t \right) - h \left( t \right) \right] dt + o \left( \theta \right).$$

$$(2.14)$$

**Proof.** From (2.4) and the estimate (2.12) we have

$$\begin{aligned} J_{2} &= E\left[g\left(x_{T}^{(u^{\theta},\hat{\xi})}\right) - g\left(\hat{x}_{T}\right)\right] \\ &+ E\left[\int_{0}^{T}\left(h\left(t, x_{t}^{(u^{\theta},\hat{\xi})}, u_{t}^{\theta}\right) - h\left(t, \hat{x}_{t}, \hat{u}_{t}\right)\right)dt\right] \\ &\leq E\left[g\left(\hat{x}_{T} + x_{1}\left(T\right) + x_{2}\left(T\right)\right) - g\left(\hat{x}_{T}\right)\right] \\ &+ E\left[\int_{0}^{T}\left(h\left(t, \hat{x}_{t} + x_{1}\left(t\right) + x_{2}\left(t\right), \hat{u}_{t}\right) - h\left(t, \hat{x}_{t}, \hat{u}_{t}\right)\right)dt\right] \\ &+ E\left[\int_{0}^{T}\left(h\left(t, \hat{x}_{t} + x_{1}\left(t\right) + x_{2}\left(t\right), u_{t}^{\theta}\right) - h\left(t, \hat{x}_{t} + x_{1}\left(t\right) + x_{2}\left(t\right), \hat{u}_{t}\right)\right)dt\right] \\ &+ o\left(\theta\right) \\ &= E\left[g_{x}\left(\hat{x}_{T}\right)\left(x_{1}\left(T\right) + x_{2}\left(T\right)\right)\right] + \frac{1}{2}E\left[g_{xx}\left(\hat{x}_{T}\right)x_{1}\left(T\right)x_{1}\left(T\right)\right] \\ &+ E\left[\int_{0}^{T}h_{x}\left(t\right)\left(x_{1}\left(t\right) + x_{2}\left(t\right)\right)dt\right] \\ &+ E\left[\int_{0}^{T}\frac{1}{2}h_{xx}\left(t\right)\left(x_{1}\left(t\right) + x_{2}\left(t\right)\right)\left(x_{1}\left(t\right) + x_{2}\left(t\right)\right)\right]dt \\ &+ E\left[\int_{0}^{T}h^{\theta}\left(t\right) - h\left(t\right)dt\right] \\ &+ E\left[\int_{0}^{T}\left(h^{\theta}_{x}\left(t\right) - h_{x}\left(t\right)\right)\left(x_{1}\left(t\right) + x_{2}\left(t\right)\right)dt\right] \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}E\left[\int_{0}^{T}\left(h^{\theta}_{xx}\left(t\right) - h_{xx}\left(t\right)\right)\left(x_{1}\left(t\right) + x_{2}\left(t\right)\right)\left(x_{1}\left(t\right) + x_{2}\left(t\right)\right)dt\right] \\ &+ o\left(\theta\right). \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.15)$$

From the construction of  $u^{\theta}(.)$ , it is easy to verify by Gronwall's inequality and the moment inequality (see Ikeda and Watanabe [41]) that

$$\sup_{0 \le t \le T} E\left(\left|x_{1}\left(t\right)\right|^{2}\right) \le c\theta,$$
$$\sup_{0 \le t \le T} E\left(\left|x_{2}\left(t\right)\right|^{2}\right) \le c\theta^{2},$$

now we use this inequalities and the inequality (2.15) to obtain the result

## 2.1.3 Variational inequalities and adjoint processes

We now use (2.13) and (2.14) to derive the variational inequalities.

#### The first-order expansion

The linear terms in (2.13) and (2.14) may be treated in the following way. Let  $\Phi_1$  be the fundamental solution of the linear equation

$$d\Phi_{1}(t) = b_{x}(t) \Phi_{1}(t) dt + \sigma_{x}(t) \Phi_{1}(t) d\mathcal{B}_{t},$$
  

$$\Phi_{1}(0) = I_{d}.$$
(2.16)

This equation is linear with bounded coefficients, then it admits a unique strong solution. This solution is invertible and its inverse  $\Psi_1(t)$  is the unique solution of the following equation

$$d\Psi_{1}(t) = [\sigma_{x}(t)\Psi_{1}(t)\sigma_{x}^{*}(t) - b_{x}(t)\Psi_{1}(t)]dt - \sigma_{x}(t)\Psi_{1}(t)d\mathcal{B}_{t}.$$
 (2.17)

Moreover  $\Phi_1$  and  $\Psi_1$  satisfy

$$E\left[\sup_{t\in[0,T]} |\Phi_{1}(t)|^{2}\right] + E\left[\sup_{t\in[0,T]} |\Psi_{1}(t)|^{2}\right] < \infty.$$
(2.18)

We introduce the following processes

$$\alpha_1(t) = \Psi_1(t) [x_1(t) + x_2(t)], \qquad (2.19)$$

$$\beta_1(t) = \Psi_1(t) \, z(t) \,, \tag{2.20}$$

$$X_{1} = \Phi_{1}^{*}(T) g_{x}(\hat{x}(T)) + \int_{0}^{T} \Phi_{1}^{*}(t) h_{x}(t) dt \qquad (2.21)$$

$$Y_{1}(t) = E[X_{1} | \mathcal{F}_{t}] - \int_{0}^{t} \Phi_{1}^{*}(s) h_{x}(s) ds.$$
(2.22)

we have by replacing  $X_1$  by its value in (2.22)

$$Y_{1}(t) = E\left[\Phi_{1}^{*}(T) g_{x}(\hat{x}(T)) + \int_{t}^{T} \Phi_{1}^{*}(s) h_{x}(s) ds \mid \mathcal{F}_{t}\right], \qquad (2.23)$$

we have then

$$E[\alpha_1(T)Y_1(T)] = E[g_x(\hat{x}(T))(x_1(T) + x_2(T))], \qquad (2.24)$$

$$E[\beta_1(T)Y_1(T)] = E[g_x(\hat{x}(T))Z(t)].$$
(2.25)

Since  $g_x$  and  $h_x$  are bounded, then from (2.18),  $X_1$  is square integrable. Hence  $(E[X_1 | \mathcal{F}_t])_{t \ge 0}$ is a square integrable martingale with respect to the natural filtration of the Brownian motion  $(B_t)_{t \ge 0}$ . Then from Ito's representation theorem we have

$$Y_{1}(t) = E[X_{1}] + \int_{0}^{t} Q_{1}(s) dB_{S} - \int_{0}^{t} \Phi_{1}^{*}(s) h_{x}(s) ds,$$

where  $Q_1(s)$  is an adapted process such that  $E\left(\int_0^T |Q_1(s)|^2 ds\right) < \infty$ . By applying the Ito's formula to  $\beta_1 Y_1$ , we obtain

$$d (\beta_{1} (.) Y_{1} (.))_{t} = \beta_{1} (t) dY_{1} (t) + Y_{1} (t) d\beta_{1} (t) + d \langle \beta_{1} (.) , Y_{1} (.) \rangle_{t}$$
  
=  $\beta_{1} (t) Q_{1} (t) dB_{t} - Z (t) h_{x} (t) dt + Y_{1} (t) d (\Psi_{1} (t) Z (t))$   
+  $d \langle \Psi_{1} (.) Z (.) , Y_{1} (.) \rangle_{t}$ ,

in the other hand we have

$$d(\Psi_{1}(.) Z(.))_{t} = \Psi_{1}(t) dZ(t) + Z(t) d\Psi_{1}(t) + d \langle \Psi_{1}(.), Z(.) \rangle_{t}$$
  
=  $\Psi_{1}G(t) d(\eta - \hat{\xi})_{t}$ ,

then we have

$$d(\beta_{1}(.) Y_{1}(.))_{t} = \beta_{1}Q_{1}dB_{t} - Z(t)h_{x}(t)dt + Y_{1}(t)\Psi_{1}G(t)d(\eta - \hat{\xi})_{t},$$

by integrating from 0 to T and taking expectation we obtain

$$E(\beta_{1}(T) Y_{1}(T)) = -E\left[\int_{0}^{T} Z(t) h_{x}(t) dt\right] + E\left[\int_{0}^{T} G(t)^{*} \Psi_{1}^{*} Y_{1}(t) d\left(\eta - \hat{\xi}\right)_{t}\right].$$

By using (2.25), we can rewrite (2.13)

$$\lim_{\theta \to 0} \frac{J_1}{\theta} = E \int_0^T \left( k\left(t\right) + G\left(t\right)^* p_1\left(t\right) \right) d\left(\eta - \hat{\xi}\right)_t,$$
(2.26)

where  $p_1$  is adapted process defined in (2.28).

Now by applying the Itô's formula to  $\alpha_1 Y_1$ , to obtain

$$d(\alpha_{1}(.) Y_{1}(.))_{t} = \alpha_{1}(t) dY_{1}(t) + Y_{1}(t) d\alpha_{1}(t) + d\langle\alpha_{1}(.), Y_{1}(.)\rangle_{t}$$
  
=  $\alpha_{1}(t) Q(t) dB_{t} - [x_{1}(t) + x_{2}(t)] h_{x}(t) dt + Y_{1}(t) d(\Psi_{1}x_{1})_{t}$   
+  $Y_{1}(t) d(\Psi_{1}x_{2})_{t} + d\langle\alpha_{1}(.), Y_{1}(.)\rangle_{t},$ 

then by completing the calculus as we done before, and using (2.24), we can rewrite (2.14)

as

$$J_{2} \leq E \int_{0}^{T} \left\{ H\left(t, \hat{x}\left(t\right), u_{\theta}\left(t\right), p_{1}\left(t\right), q_{1}\left(t\right)\right) - H\left(t, \hat{x}\left(t\right), \hat{u}\left(t\right), p_{1}\left(t\right), q_{1}\left(t\right)\right) \right\} dt + \frac{1}{2} E \int_{0}^{T} x_{1}^{*}\left(t\right) H_{xx}\left(t, \hat{x}\left(t\right), \hat{u}\left(t\right), p_{1}\left(t\right), q_{1}\left(t\right)\right) x_{1}\left(t\right) dt + \frac{1}{2} E \left[g_{xx}\left(x_{T}\right) x_{1}\left(T\right) x_{1}\left(T\right)\right] + o\left(t\right),$$

$$(2.27)$$

where  $p_1$  and  $q_1$  are adapted processes given by

$$p_{1}(t) = \Psi_{1}^{*}(t) Y_{1}(t); \ p_{1} \in \mathcal{L}^{2}([0,T];\mathbb{R}^{n})$$
(2.28)

$$q_{1}(t) = \Psi_{1}^{*}(t) Q_{1}(t) - \sigma_{x}^{*}(t) p_{1}(t); \ q_{1} \in \mathcal{L}^{2}\left([0, T]; \mathbb{R}^{n \times d}\right),$$
(2.29)

and the Hamiltonian H is defined from  $[0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^n \times A_1 \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathcal{M}_{n \times d}(\mathbb{R})$  into  $\mathbb{R}$  by

$$H(t, x(t), u(t), p_1(t), q_1(t)) = h(t) + p(t) b(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{d} \sigma_i(t) q_i(t),$$

where  $\sigma_i$  and  $q_i$  denote respectively the  $i^{th}$  columns of matrices  $\sigma$  and q.

The process  $p_1$  is called the first order adjoint process and from (2.28), it is given explicitly by

$$p_{1}(t) = E\left[\Psi_{1}^{*}(t) \Phi_{1}^{*}(T) g_{x}(\hat{x}(T)) + \Psi_{1}^{*}(t) \int_{t}^{T} \Phi_{1}^{*}(s) h_{x}(s) ds \mid \mathcal{F}_{t}\right],$$

where  $\Phi_1(t)$  and  $\Psi_1(t)$  are respectively the solutions of (2.16) and (2.17).

#### The second-order expansion

We now treat the quadratic terms of (2.14) by the same method. Let  $Z = x_1 x_1^*$ , by Itô's formula we obtain

$$dZ_{t} = x_{1}(t) dx_{1}^{*}(t) + x_{1}^{*}(t) dx_{1}(t) + d \langle x_{1}, x_{1}^{*} \rangle_{t}$$
  
=  $[Z_{t}b_{x}^{*}(t) + b_{x}(t) Z_{t} + \sigma_{x}(t) Z_{t}\sigma_{x}^{*}(t) + A_{\theta}(t)] dt$   
+  $[Z(t) \sigma_{x}^{*}(t) + \sigma_{x}(t) Z(t) + B_{\theta}(t)] dB_{t},$  (2.30)

where  $A_{\theta}$  and  $B_{\theta}$  are given by

$$A_{\theta}(t) = x_{1}(t) \left[ b^{\theta}(t) - b(t) \right]^{*} + \left[ b^{\theta}(t) - b(t) \right] x_{1}^{*}$$
$$+ \sigma_{x}(t) x_{1}(t) \left[ \sigma^{\theta}(t) - \sigma(t) \right]^{*} + \left[ \sigma^{\theta}(t) - \sigma(t) \right] x_{1}^{*}(t) \sigma_{x}^{\theta}(t)$$
$$+ \left[ \sigma^{\theta}(t) - \sigma(t) \right] \left[ \sigma^{\theta}(t) - \sigma(t) \right]^{*},$$

$$B_{\theta}(t) = x_1(t) \left[ \sigma^{\theta}(t) - \sigma(t) \right]^* + \left[ \sigma^{\theta}(t) - \sigma(t) \right] x_1^*(t).$$

We consider now the following symmetric matrix-valued linear equation

$$\begin{cases} d\Phi_{2}(t) = [\Phi_{2}(t) b_{x}^{*}(t) + b_{x}(t) \Phi_{2}(t) + \sigma_{x}(t) \Phi_{2}(t) \sigma_{x}^{*}(t)] dt \\ + [\Phi_{2}(t) \sigma_{x}^{*}(t) + \sigma_{x}(t) \Phi_{2}(t)] dB_{t}. \end{cases}$$
(2.31)

This equation is linear with bounded coefficients, hence it admits a unique strong solution.  $\Phi_2(t)$  is invertible and its inverse  $\Psi_2$  is the solution of the following equation

$$\begin{cases}
d\Psi_{2}(t) = [\sigma_{x}(t) + \sigma_{x}^{*}(t)] \Psi_{2}(t) [\sigma_{x}(t) + \sigma_{x}^{*}(t)]^{*} dt \\
- [\Psi_{2}(t) b_{x}^{*}(t) + b_{x}(t) \Psi_{2}(t) \sigma_{x}^{*}(t)] dt \\
+ [\Psi_{2}(t) \sigma_{x}^{*}(t) + \sigma_{x}(t) \Psi_{2}(t)] dB_{t}, 
\end{cases}$$
(2.32)  

$$\Psi_{2}(0) = I_{d}.$$

Moreover,  $\Phi_2$  and  $\Psi_2$  satisfy

$$E\left[\sup_{t\in[0,T]}\left|\Phi_{2}\left(t\right)\right|^{2}\right]+E\left[\sup_{t\in[0,T]}\left|\Psi_{2}\left(t\right)\right|^{2}\right]<\infty,$$
(2.33)

we put

$$\alpha_2(t) = \Psi_2(t) Z(t), \qquad (2.34)$$

$$X_{2} = \Phi_{2}^{*}(T) g_{xx}(\hat{x}(T)) + \int_{0}^{T} \Phi_{2}^{*}(t) H_{xx}(\hat{x}(t), \hat{u}(t), p_{1}(t), q_{1}(t)) dt, \qquad (2.35)$$

$$Y_{2}(t) = E(X_{2} | \mathcal{F}_{t}) - \int_{0}^{t} \Phi_{2}^{*}(s) H_{xx}(\hat{x}(s), \hat{u}(s), p_{1}(s), q_{1}(s)) ds, \qquad (2.36)$$

we remark that

$$E(\alpha_2(T) Y_2(T)) = E(x_1^*(T) g_{xx}(\hat{x}(T) x_1(T))).$$
(2.37)

Since  $g_{xx}$  and  $H_{xx}$  are bounded, then from (2.33),  $(E(X_2 | \mathcal{F}_t))_{t \ge 0}$  is square integrable martingale with respect to the natural filtration of the Brownian motion B(t). Then from Ito's representation theorem we have

$$Y_{2}(t) = E(X_{2}) + \int_{0}^{t} Q_{2}(s) dB_{s} - \int_{0}^{t} \Phi_{2}^{*}(s) H_{xx}(\hat{x}(s), \hat{u}(s), p_{1}(s), q_{1}(s)) ds, \quad (2.38)$$

where  $Q_2(s)$  is an adapted process such that  $E\left(\int_0^T |\Psi_2(t)|^2 dt\right) < \infty$ .

By applying Ito's formula to  $\alpha_2(t) Y_2(t)$  along with (2.37) and using the definition of  $u^{\theta}$ , we can derive (2.27) as follows

$$\lim_{\theta \to 0} \frac{J_2}{\theta} \leq E \left\{ H \left[ \tau, \hat{x}(\tau), v, p_1(\tau), q_1(\tau) - p_2(\tau) \sigma(\tau, \hat{x}(\tau), \hat{u}(\tau)) \right] \right\} 
+ \frac{1}{2} E \left\{ Tr \left[ \sigma \sigma^*(\tau, \hat{x}(\tau), v) \right] p_2(\tau) \right\} 
- E \left\{ H \left[ \tau, \hat{x}(\tau), \hat{u}(\tau), p_1(\tau), q_1(\tau) - p_2(\tau) \sigma(\tau, \hat{x}(\tau), \hat{u}(\tau)) \right] \right\} 
+ \frac{1}{2} E \left\{ Tr \left[ \sigma \sigma^*(\tau, \hat{x}(\tau), ) \hat{u}(\tau) \right] p_2(\tau) \right\},$$
(2.39)

where  $p_2$  is an adapted process given by

$$p_{2}(t) = \Psi_{2}^{*}(t) Y_{2}(t) ; p_{2} \in \mathcal{L}^{2}([0,T]; \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}).$$
 (2.40)

The process  $p_2$  is called the second order adjoint process and from (2.35), (2.36), (2.40) it is given explicitly by

$$p_{2}(t) = E \left[ \Psi_{2}^{*}(t) \Phi_{2}^{*}(t) g_{xx}(x(T)) \mid \mathcal{F}_{t} \right] \\ + E \left[ \Psi_{2}^{*}(t) \int_{t}^{T} \Phi_{2}^{*}(t) H_{xx}(\hat{x}(t), \hat{u}(t), p_{1}(s), q_{1}(s)) ds \mid \mathcal{F}_{t} \right],$$

where  $\Phi_2$  and  $\Psi_2$  are respectively the solutions of (2.31) and (2.32).

## 2.1.4 Adjoint equations and the maximum principle

By applying Ito's formula to the adjoint processes  $p_1$  in (2.28) and  $p_2$  in (2.40), we obtain the first and second order adjoint equations which are linear backward stochastic differential equations, given by

$$\begin{cases} -dp_{1}(t) = H_{x}(\hat{x}(t), \hat{u}(t), p_{1}(s), q_{1}(s)) dt - q_{1}dB_{t}, \\ p_{1}(T) = g_{x}(\hat{x}(T)), \end{cases}$$
(2.41)

$$\begin{cases} -dp_{2}(t) = [b_{x}^{*}(t) p_{2}(t) + p_{2}(t) b_{x}(t) + \sigma_{x}^{*}(t) p_{2}(t) \sigma_{x}^{*}(t)] dt \\ + [\sigma_{x}^{*}(t) q_{2}(t) + q_{2}(t) \sigma_{x}(t)], \end{cases}$$

$$p_{2}(T) = g_{xx}(\hat{x}(T)), \qquad (2.42)$$

where  $q_1(t)$  is given by (2.29) and  $q_2(t)$  by

$$q_{2}(t) = \left(q_{2}^{1}(t), ..., q_{2}^{d}(t)\right) ; q_{2} \in \left(\mathcal{L}^{2}\left([0, T]; \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}\right)\right)^{d}$$
$$q_{2}^{i}(t) = \Psi_{2}^{*}(t) Q_{2}^{i}(t) + p_{2}(t) \sigma_{x}^{i}(t) + \sigma_{x}^{i*}(t) p_{2}(t) ; i = 1, ..., d_{2}$$

and  $Q_{1}(t), Q_{2}(t)$  satisfy respectively

$$\int_{0}^{t} Q_{1}(s) dB_{s} = E\left[\Phi_{1}^{*}(T) g_{x}(\hat{x}(T)) + \int_{0}^{T} \Phi_{1}^{*}(t) h_{x}(t) dt \mid \mathcal{F}_{t}\right] - E\left[\Phi_{1}^{*}(T) g_{x}(\hat{x}(T)) + \int_{0}^{T} \Phi_{1}^{*}(t) h_{x}(t) dt\right],$$

$$\int_{0}^{t} Q_{2}(s) dB_{s} = E\left[\Phi_{2}^{*}(T) g_{xx}(\hat{x}(T)) + \int_{0}^{T} \Phi_{2}^{*}(t) H_{xx}[\hat{x}(t), \hat{u}(t), p_{1}(t), q_{1}(t)] dt | \mathcal{F}_{t}\right] - E\left[\Phi_{2}^{*}(T) g_{xx}(\hat{x}(T)) + \int_{0}^{T} \Phi_{2}^{*}(t) H_{xx}[\hat{x}(t), \hat{u}(t), p_{1}(t), q_{1}(t)] dt\right].$$

We can now give the important result of this chapter.

**Theorem 2.1.1 (The Stochastic maximum principle)** Let  $(\hat{u}, \hat{\xi})$  be an optimal control minimizing the cost J over  $\mathcal{U}$  and  $\hat{x}$  denotes the corresponding optimal trajectory. Then there are two unique couples of adapted processes

$$(p_1, q_1) \in \mathcal{L}^2\left([0, T]; \mathbb{R}^n\right) \times \mathcal{L}^2\left([0, T]; \mathbb{R}^{n \times d}\right),$$
$$(p_2, q_2) \in \mathcal{L}^2\left([0, T]; \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}\right) \times \left(\mathcal{L}^2\left([0, T]; \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}\right)\right)^d,$$

which are respectively solutions of backward stochastic differential equations (2.41) and (2.42) such that

$$H [\tau, \hat{x} (\tau), \hat{u} (\tau), p_{1} (\tau), q_{1} (\tau) - p_{2} (\tau) \sigma (\tau, \hat{x} (\tau), \hat{u} (\tau))] + \frac{1}{2} Tr [\sigma \sigma^{*} (\tau, \hat{x} (\tau), \hat{u} (\tau))] p_{2} (\tau) \leq H [\tau, \hat{x} (\tau), v, p_{1} (\tau), q_{1} (\tau) - p_{2} (\tau) \sigma (\tau, \hat{x} (\tau), \hat{u} (\tau))] + \frac{1}{2} Tr [\sigma \sigma^{*} (\tau, \hat{x} (\tau), v)] p_{2} (\tau), \forall v \in A_{1}; a.e, a.s$$
(2.43)

$$P\left\{\forall t \in [0,T], \ \forall i; \ \left(k_t^i + G_i^*(t) \, p_1(t)\right) \ge 0\right\} = 1,$$
(2.44)

$$P\left\{\sum_{i=1}^{d} 1_{\left\{k_{t}^{i}+G_{i}^{*}(t)p_{1}(t)\geq0\right\}} d\hat{\xi}_{t}^{i}=0\right\}=1.$$
(2.45)

**Proof.** From (2.6), (2.26), (2.39) we have for every  $\mathcal{F}_t$ -measurable random variable v, and every increasing process  $\eta$  with  $\eta_0 = 0$ 

$$0 \leq E \left\{ H \left[ \tau, \hat{x} \left( \tau \right), v, p_{1} \left( \tau \right), q_{1} \left( \tau \right) - p_{2} \left( \tau \right) \sigma \left( \tau, \hat{x} \left( \tau \right), \hat{u} \left( \tau \right) \right) \right] \right\} + \frac{1}{2} E \left\{ Tr \left[ \sigma \sigma^{*} \left( \tau, \hat{x} \left( \tau \right), v \right) \right] p_{2} \left( \tau \right) \right\} - E \left\{ H \left[ \tau, \hat{x} \left( \tau \right), \hat{u} \left( \tau \right), p_{1} \left( \tau \right), q_{1} \left( \tau \right) - p_{2} \left( \tau \right) \sigma \left( \tau, \hat{x} \left( \tau \right), \hat{u} \left( \tau \right) \right) \right] \right\} - \frac{1}{2} E \left\{ Tr \left[ \sigma \sigma^{*} \left( \tau, \hat{x} \left( \tau \right), \hat{u} \left( \tau \right) \right) \right] p_{2} \left( \tau \right) \right\} + E \int_{0}^{T} \left[ k \left( t \right) + G^{*} \left( t \right) p_{1} \left( t \right) \right] d \left( \eta - \hat{\xi} \right)_{t},$$

if we put  $\eta = \hat{\xi}$  we obtain (2.43). On the other hand, if we choose  $v = \hat{u}$  and using the same proof of in theorem 4.2 in [3], we deduce (2.44) and (2.45).

## Chapter 3

# **Introduction to Malliavin calculus**

## 3.1 Introduction

The mathematical theory now known as Malliavin calculus was first introduced by Paul Malliavin in 1978, as an infinite-dimensional integration by parts technique. The purpose of this calculus was to prove results about the smoothness of densities of solutions of stochastic differential equations driven by Brownian motion. For several years this was the only known application.

In 1984, Ocone obtained an explicit interpretation of the Clark representation formula in terms of the Malliavin derivative (Clark-Ocone formula). In 1991 Ocone and Karatzas applied this result to finance: They proved that the Clark-Ocone formula can be used to obtain explicit formulae for replicating portfolios of contingent claims in complete markets.

Since then Malliavin calculus has been applied in various domains within finance and outside of it. In the meanwhile the very potentials in applications created the need for an extension of the calculus to other types of noise than Brownian motion. The most part of

this chapter is taken from [29].

# 3.2 Elements of Malliavin calculus for Brownian motion

We choose to introduce the operators Malliavin derivative and Skorohod integral via chaos expansions. Other, basically equivalent, approach is to use directional derivatives on the Wiener space, see e.g. Da Prato(2007), Malliavin (1997), Nualart (2006), Sanz-Solé (2005).

Let  $B(t) = B(\omega, t)$ ,  $\omega \in \Omega$ ,  $t \in [0, T]$  (t > 0), be a Brownian motion on the complete probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, P)$  such that B(0) = 0 P - a.s. For any t, let  $\mathcal{F}_t$  be the  $\sigma$ -algebra generated by B(s), 0 < s < t, augmented by all the P-zero measure events. The resulting (continuous) filtration is denoted :

$$\mathcal{F} = \{\mathcal{F}_t, \ t > 0\}.$$

#### **3.2.1** Iterated Itô integrals

Let f be a deterministic function defined on

$$S_n = \{(t_1, ..., t_n) \in [0, T]^n : 0 < t_1 < ... < t_n < T\} \quad (n > 1),$$

such that

$$\|f\|_{L^{2}(S_{n})} := \int_{S_{n}} f^{2}(t_{1},...,t_{n}) dt_{1}...dt_{n} < \infty.$$
(3.1)

**Definition 3.2.1** The n-fold iterated Itô integrals are given by:

$$J_{n}(f) := \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{t_{n}} \dots \int_{0}^{t_{2}} f(t_{1}, \dots, t_{n}) dB(t_{1}) dB(t_{2}) \dots dB(t_{n}).$$
(3.2)

We set  $J_n(f) = f$  for  $f \in \mathbb{R}$ .

Directly from the properties of Itô integrals we have :

- $J_n(f) \in L^2(P)$ , by the Itô isometry  $||J_n(f)||^2_{L^2(P)} = ||f||^2_{L^2(S_n)}$ .
- If  $g \in L^{2}(S_{m})$  and  $f \in L^{2}(S_{n})$  (m < n), then  $E[J_{m}(g)J_{n}(f)] = 0$ .

Let  $f \in \tilde{L}^2([0,T]^n)$ , i.e. f is a symmetric square integrable functions.

Definition 3.2.2 We also called n-fold iterated Itô integral the random variable :

$$I_{n}(f) := \int_{[0,T]^{n}} f(t_{1},...,t_{n}) dB(t_{1}) dB(t_{2}) ... dB(t_{n}) := n! J_{n}(f).$$
(3.3)

About symmetric functions:

- The function  $f: [0,T]^n \to \mathbb{R}$  is symmetric if  $f(t_{\sigma_1},...,t_{\sigma_n}) = f(t_1,...,t_n)$  for all permutations  $\sigma$  of (1,...,n).
- if f is a real function on  $[0,T]^n$ , then the symmetrization  $\tilde{f}$  of f is

$$\tilde{f}(t_1, ..., t_n) := \frac{1}{n!} \sum_{\sigma} f(t_{\sigma_1}, ..., t_{\sigma_n}), \qquad (3.4)$$

where the sum is taken over all permutations  $\sigma$  of (1, ..., n). Naturally  $\tilde{f} = f$  if and only if f is symmetric.

• If  $f \in \tilde{L}^2([0,T]^n)$ , then  $||f||^2_{L^2([0,T]^n)} = n! ||f||^2_{L^2(S_n)}$ .

## 3.2.2 Iterated Itô integrals and Hermite polynomials

The Hermite polynomials  $h_n(x), x \in \mathbb{R}, n = 0, 1, 2, ...$  are defined by

$$h_n(x) = (-1)^n e^{\frac{1}{2}x^2} \frac{d^n}{dx^n} \left( e^{-\frac{1}{2}x^2} \right), \quad n = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$
(3.5)

Recall that the family of Hermite polynomials constitute an orthogonal basis for  $L^2(\mathbb{R}, \mu(dx))$ if  $\mu(dx) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} e^{\frac{1}{2}x^2} dx$  (see e.g. Schoutens (2000)). Note That

$$n! \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{t_{n}} \dots \int_{0}^{t_{2}} g(t_{1}) \dots g(t_{n}) dB(t_{1}) dB(t_{2}) \dots dB(t_{n}) = ||g||^{n} h_{n}\left(\frac{\theta}{||g||}\right),$$
(3.6)

where  $||g|| = ||g||_{L^{2}([0,T])}$  and  $\theta = \int_{0}^{T} g(t) dB_{t}$ .

**Example 3.2.1** Let g = 1 and n = 3, then we get

$$6\int_{0}^{T}\int_{0}^{t_{3}}\int_{0}^{t_{2}}1dB(t_{1}) dB(t_{2}) dB(t_{3}) = T^{\frac{3}{2}}h_{3}\left(\frac{B(T)}{T^{\frac{1}{2}}}\right)$$
$$= B^{3}(T) - 3TB(T).$$

In fact the first Hermite polynomials are:

$$h_0(x) = 1,$$
  
 $h_1(x) = x,$   
 $h_2(x) = x^2 - 1,$   
 $h_3(x) = x^3 - 3x,$   
 $h_4(x) = x^4 - 6x^2 + 3, ...$ 

The computation of the iterated Itô integrals is based on :

**Proposition 3.2.1** If  $\xi_1, \xi_2, ...$  are orthonormal functions in  $L^2([0,T])$ , we have that

$$I_{n}\left(\xi_{1}^{\otimes\alpha_{1}}\hat{\otimes}\dots\hat{\otimes}\xi_{m}^{\otimes\alpha_{m}}\right) = \prod_{k=1}^{k=m} h_{\alpha_{k}}\left(\int_{0}^{T} \xi_{k}\left(t\right) dB\left(t\right)\right),$$
(3.7)

with  $\alpha_1 + \ldots + \alpha_m = n$  and  $\alpha_k \in \{0, 1, 2, \ldots\}$  for all k.

Recall that the tensor product  $f \otimes g$  of two functions f, g is defined by

$$f \otimes g(x_1, x_2) = f(x_1) f(x_2),$$

and the symmetrized tensor product  $f \otimes g$  is the symmetrization of  $f \otimes g$ .

#### 3.2.3 Wiener-Itô chaos expansions

**Theorem 3.2.1** Let  $\xi$  be an  $\mathcal{F}_{T-}$  measurable random variable in  $L^2(P)$ . Then there exists a unique sequence  $\{f_n\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$  of functions  $f_n \in \tilde{L}^2([0,T]^n)$  such that

$$\xi = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} I_n \left( f_n \right), \tag{3.8}$$

where the convergence is in  $L^{2}(P)$ . Moreover, since

$$\|I_n(f_n)\|_{L^2(P)}^2 = n! \|f_n\|_{L^2([0,T]^n)}$$

we have the isometry

$$\|\xi\|_{L^2(P)}^2 = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} n! \|f_n\|_{L^2([0,T]^n)}.$$

**Example 3.2.2** The chaos expansion of  $\xi = \exp\left\{B\left(T\right) - \frac{1}{2}T\right\}$  is given by  $\xi = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{t^{\frac{n}{2}}}{n!} h_n\left(\frac{B\left(t\right)}{\sqrt{t}}\right)$ .

#### 3.2.4 Skorohod integral

Let  $u(\omega, t)$ ,  $\omega \in \Omega$ ,  $t \in [0, T]$ , be a measurable stochastic process such that, for all  $t \in [0, T]$ , u(t) is a  $\mathcal{F}_T$ -measurable random variable and  $E[u^2(t)] < \infty$ .

Then for each  $t \in [0, T]$ , we can apply the Wiener-Itô chaos expansion to the random variable  $u(t) := u(\omega, t), \omega \in \Omega$ 

$$u(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} I_n(f_{n,t}) \quad f_{n,t} \in \tilde{L}^2([0,T]^n).$$

The functions  $f_{n,t}$ , n = 1, 2, ..., depend on  $t \in [0, T]$  as parameter. We can define  $f_n(t_1, ..., t_n, t_{n+1}) := f_{n,t}(t_1, ..., t_n)$  as a function of n + 1 variables.

Its symmetrization  $\tilde{f}_n$  is then given by

$$\tilde{f}_n(t_1, ..., t_n, t_{n+1}) = \frac{1}{n+1} \left[ f_n(t_1, ..., t_n, t_{n+1}) + f_n(t_2, ..., t_{n+1}, t_1) + ... + f_n(t_1, ..., t_{n-1}, t_n) \right]$$

**Definition 3.2.3** Let u(t),  $t \in [0,T]$ , be a measurable stochastic process such that, for all  $t \in [0,T]$ , u(t) is a  $\mathcal{F}_T$ -measurable random variable and  $E[u^2(t)] < \infty$ .

Let its Wiener-Itô chaos expansion be

$$u(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} I_n(f_{n,t}) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} I_n(f_n(.,t)), \quad \left(f_n(.,t) \in \tilde{L}^2([0,T]^n)\right).$$

Then we define the Skorohod integral of u by

$$\delta(u) := -\int_0^T u(t)\,\delta B_t := \sum_{n=0}^\infty I_{n+1}\left(\tilde{f}_n\right),\tag{3.9}$$

when it converge in  $L^{2}(P)$  (here  $\tilde{f}_{n}$  is the symmetrization of  $f_{n}(.,t)$ . Moreover,

$$\|\delta(u)\|_{L^{2}(P)}^{2} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (n+1)! \left\|\tilde{f}_{n}\right\|_{L^{2}([0,T]^{n})}^{2} < \infty.$$

#### Some basic properties of the Skorohod integral

- The Skorohod integral is a linear operator
- $E(\delta(u)) = 0$
- In general, if G is an  $\mathcal{F}_T$  -measurable random variable such that;  $Gu \in Dom(\delta)$ ; we have that

$$\int_{0}^{T} Gu(t) \,\delta B_{t} \neq G \int_{0}^{T} u(t) \,\delta B_{t}.$$

**Example 3.2.3** Let us compute  $\int_0^T B(T) \, \delta B_t$ . The Wiener-Itô chaos expansion of the integrand is given by

$$u(t) = B(T) = \int_0^T 1 dB_t = I_1(1), \quad t \in [0, T],$$

*i.e* for all t,  $f_{0,t} = 0$ ,  $f_{1,t} = 1$ , and  $f_{n,t} = 0$  for all n > 2. Hence

$$\delta(u) = I_2\left(\tilde{f}_1\right) = I_2(1) = 2\int_0^T \int_0^{t_2} dB(t_1) \, dB(t_2) = B(T)^2 = T.$$

Note that, even if the integrand does not depend on t, we have

$$\int_0^T B(T) \,\delta B_t \neq B(T) \int_0^T \delta B_t.$$

**Theorem 3.2.2 (Skorohod integral as extension of the Itô integral)** Let u(t),  $t \in [0,T]$ , be a measurable  $\mathcal{F}$ -adapted stochastic process such that,  $E[u^2(t)] < \infty$ . Then u is both Itô and Skorohod integrable and

$$\int_{0}^{T} u(t) \,\delta B_{t} = \int_{0}^{T} u(t) \,dB_{t}$$

## 3.3 Malliavin derivative

There are many ways of introducing the Malliavin derivative. The original construction was given on the Wiener space  $\Omega = C_0([0,T])$  consisting of all continuous functions  $\omega : [0,T] \to \mathbb{R}$  with  $\omega_0 = 0$ . In this section, we mainly use an approach based on chaos expansions. **Definition 3.3.1** Let  $F \in L^2(P)$  be  $\mathcal{F}_T$ -measurable with chaos expansion

$$F = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} I_n \left( f_n \right),$$

where  $f_n(t) \in \tilde{L}^2([0,T]^n)$ , n = 1, 2, 3...

i) We say that  $F \in \mathfrak{D}_{1,2}^{(B)}$ 

$$\|F\|_{\mathfrak{D}_{1,2}^{(B)}}^2 := \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} nn! \, \|f_n\|_{L^2(\lambda^n)}^2 < \infty.$$
(3.10)

ii) For any  $F \in \mathfrak{D}_{1,2}^{(B)}$  we define the Malliavin derivative  $D_t F$  of F at time t, as the expansion

$$D_t F := \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n I_{n-1} \left( f_n \left( ., t \right) \right), \qquad (3.11)$$

where  $I_{n-1}(f_n(.,t))$  is the (n-1)-fold iterated integral of  $f_n(t_1,...,t_{n-1},t)$  with respect to the first n-1 variables  $t_1,...,t_{n-1}$  and  $t_n = t$  left as parameter.

Note that  $\|D_{\cdot}F\|_{L^{2}(P \times \lambda)} = \|F\|_{\mathfrak{D}_{1,2}}^{2} < \infty$ , thus the derivative  $D_{t}F$  is well-defined as an element of  $L^{2}(P \times \lambda)$ .

**Theorem 3.3.1 (Closability)** Suppose  $F \in L^2(P)$  and  $F_k \in \mathfrak{D}_{1,2}^{(B)}, k = 1, 2, ...,$ 

- **1.**  $F_k \to F, k \to \infty, in L^2(P),$
- **2.**  $\{D_tF_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  converges in  $L^2(P \times \lambda)$ .

Then  $F \in \mathfrak{D}_{1,2}$  and  $D_t F_k \to D_t F$ ,  $k \to \infty$ , in  $L^2(P \times \lambda)$ .

**Proof.** Let  $F = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} I_n(f_n)$  and  $F_k = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} I_n(f_n^k)$ , k = 1, 2, ..., then by (1)

$$f_n^k \to f_n, \ k \to \infty, \ \text{in } L^2(\lambda^n).$$

**Theorem 3.3.2** for all n By(2) we have

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} nn! \left\| f_n^k - f_n^j \right\|_{L^2(\lambda^n)}^2 = \left\| D_t F_k - D_t F_j \right\|_{L^2(P \times \lambda)}^2 \to 0, \quad j, k \to 0.$$

Hence by the Fatou lemma

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} nn! \left\| f_n^k - f_n \right\|_{L^2(\lambda^n)}^2 \le \lim_{k \to \infty} \lim_{j \to \infty} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} nn! \left\| f_n^k - f_n^j \right\|_{L^2(\lambda^n)}^2 = 0.$$

This implies that  $F \in \mathfrak{D}_{1,2}$  and

$$D_t F_k \to D_t F, \ k \to \infty, \ in \ L^2 \left( P \times \lambda \right).$$

## 3.3.1 Fundamental rules of calculus

We present here a collection of results that constitute the rules of calculus of the Malliavin

derivatives  
Let 
$$F = \int_0^T f(s) dB_s$$
, where  $f \in L^2([0,T])$ . Then

• 
$$D_t F = f(t);$$

• 
$$D_t(F)^n = nF^{n-1}D_tF = nF^{n-1}f(t)$$
.

Consider the case when  $F = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} I_n(f_n)$ , and  $f_n = f^{\otimes n}$  for som  $f \in L^2([0,T])$ , that is  $f_n(t_1,...,t_n) = f(t) \dots f(t)$ . Then we have by 3.6 we have

$$I_n(f_n) = \|f\|^n h_n\left(\frac{\theta}{\|f\|}\right), \qquad (3.12)$$

where  $||f|| = ||f||_{L^{2}[0,T]}$ ,  $\theta = \int_{0}^{T} f(s) dB_{s}$  where  $h_{n}$  is the Hermite polynomial of order n.

Then by (3.11) we have

$$D_{t}I_{n}(f_{n}) = nI_{n-1}(f_{n}(.,t))$$
  
=  $nI_{n-1}(f^{\otimes n-1})f(t)$   
=  $n ||f||^{n-1}h_{n-1}\left(\frac{\theta}{||f||}\right)f(t).$  (3.13)

A basic property of the Hermite polynomials is that

$$h'_{n}(x) = nh_{n-1}(x), \qquad (3.14)$$

combining this with (3.12) and (3.13), we get

$$D_t h_n\left(\frac{\theta}{\|f\|}\right) = h'_n\left(\frac{\theta}{\|f\|}\right)\frac{f(t)}{\|f\|}.$$

In particular, choosing n = 1, we get

$$D_t\left(\int_0^T f(s) \, dB_s\right) = f(t) \, .$$

Similarly, by induction, for n = 2, 3, ..., we have

$$D_t \left( \int_0^T f(s) \, dB_s \right)^n = n \left( \int_0^T f(s) \, dB_s \right)^{n-1} f(t) \, .$$

**Theorem 3.3.3 (Chain rule.)** Let  $F \in \mathfrak{D}_{1,2}$  and  $\varphi$  be a continuously differentiable function with bounded derivative. Then  $\varphi(F) \in \mathfrak{D}_{1,2}$  and

$$D_t \varphi(F) = \varphi'(F) D_t F.$$
(3.15)

(The chain rule can be extended to the case Lipschitz).

#### Malliavin Derivative and Conditional Expectation

We now present some preliminary results on conditional expectations.

**Definition 3.3.2** Let G be a Borel set on [0, T]. We define  $\mathcal{F}_G$  to the completed  $\sigma$ -algebra generated by all random variables of the form :

$$F = \int_{0}^{T} \chi_{A}\left(t\right) dB_{t},$$

for all Borel sets  $A \subset G$ .

**Lemma 3.3.1** For any  $g \in L^2[0,T]$ , we have

$$E\left[\int_{0}^{T} \mathbf{g}\left(t\right) dB_{t} \mid \mathcal{F}_{G}\right] = \int_{0}^{T} \chi_{G}\left(t\right) \mathbf{g}\left(t\right) dB_{t}.$$
(3.16)

**Proof.** By definition of conditional expectation, it is sufficient to verify that the random variable

$$\int_{0}^{T} \chi_{G}(t) \mathbf{g}(t) dB_{t}, \text{ is } \mathcal{F}_{G}\text{-mesurable}, \qquad (3.17)$$

and that

$$E\left[F\int_{0}^{T}\mathbf{g}\left(t\right)dB_{t}\right] = E\left[F\int_{0}^{T}\chi_{G}\left(t\right)\mathbf{g}\left(t\right)dB_{t}\right],$$
(3.18)

for all bounded  $\mathcal{F}_G$ -measurable random variables F. To prove (3.17) we may assume that g is continuous, because the continuous functions are dense in  $L^2([0,T])$ . If g is continuous, then

$$\int_{0}^{T} \chi_{G}(t) \mathbf{g}(t) dB_{t} = \lim_{\Delta_{t_{i} \to 0}} g(t_{i}) \sum_{i=0}^{n} \int_{t_{i}}^{t_{i+1}} \chi_{G}(t) dB_{t}$$

where the limit is in  $L^{2}(P)$  for the vanishing mesh  $\Delta_{t_{i}}$  of the partitions

 $0 < t_1 < t_2 < ... < t_n = T$ . Since each term in the sum is  $\mathcal{F}_G$ -measurable, the sum is also  $\mathcal{F}_G$ -measurable Then by taking a subsequence converging *P*-*a.s.* we conclude that the limit represents an  $\mathcal{F}_G$ -measurable random variable. To prove (3.18) we may assume  $F = \int_0^T \chi_A(t) dB_t$  for some  $A \subset G$ . Then by the Itô isometry we have

$$E\left[F\int_{0}^{T}\mathbf{g}\left(t\right)dB_{t}\right]=E\left[\int_{0}^{T}\chi_{A}\left(t\right)\mathbf{g}\left(t\right)dt\right],$$

and also

$$E\left[F\int_{0}^{T}\chi_{G}(t)\mathbf{g}(t)dB_{t}\right] = E\left[\int_{0}^{T}\chi_{G}(t)\chi_{A}(t)\mathbf{g}(t)dt\right] = E\left[\int_{0}^{T}\chi_{A}(t)\mathbf{g}(t)dt\right],$$

Then the proof can be completed by a density argument.  $\blacksquare$ 

**Lemma 3.3.2** Let  $G \subset [0,T]$  be a Borel set and v = v(t),  $t \in [0,T]$  be a stochastic process such that

i) for all t, v(t) is measurable with respect to  $\mathcal{F}_t \cap \mathcal{F}_G$ ,

**ii)** 
$$E\left(\int_{0}^{T} v^{2}(t) dt\right) < \infty.$$
  
Then  $\int_{G} v(t) dB_{t}$  is  $\mathcal{F}_{G}$ -measurable.

**Lemma 3.3.3** Let u = u(t),  $t \in [0,T]$ , bean *F*-adapted stochastic process in  $L^2(P \times \lambda)$ . Then

$$E\left[\int_{0}^{T} u(t) dB_{t} \mid \mathcal{F}_{G}\right] = \int_{G} E\left(u(t) \mid \mathcal{F}_{G}\right) dB_{t}.$$

**Proposition 3.3.1** Let  $f_n \in \tilde{L}^2([0,T]^n)$ , n = 1, 2, .... Then

$$E(I_n(f_n) \mid \mathcal{F}_G) = I_n(f_n \chi_G^{\otimes n}),$$

where  $f_n \chi_G^{\otimes n}(t_1, t_2, ..., t_n) = f_n(t_1, t_2, ..., t_n) \chi_G(t_1) ... \chi_G(t_n)$ .

**Proposition 3.3.2** If  $F \in \mathcal{D}_{1,2}$ , then  $E[F \mid \mathcal{F}_G] \in \mathcal{D}_{1,2}$  and

$$D_t E[F \mid \mathcal{F}_G] = E[D_t F \mid F_G] \chi_G(t).$$

**Proof.** First assume that  $F = I_n(f_n)$  for some  $f_n \in \tilde{L}^2([0,T]^n)$ . By proposition (4.3.1), we have

$$D_{t}E[F \mid \mathcal{F}_{G}] = D_{t}E[I_{n}(f_{n}) \mid \mathcal{F}_{G}]$$

$$= D_{t}I_{n}(f_{n}\chi_{G}^{\otimes n})$$

$$= nI_{n-1}[f_{n}(.,t)\chi_{G}^{\otimes n-1}(.)\chi_{G}(t)]$$

$$= nI_{n-1}[f_{n}(.,t)\chi_{G}^{\otimes n-1}(.)]\chi_{G}(t)$$

$$= E[D_{t}F \mid F_{G}]\chi_{G}(t). \qquad (3.19)$$

Next, let  $F = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} I_n(f_n)$  belong to  $\mathcal{D}_{1,2}$ . Let  $F_k = \sum_{n=0}^k I_n(f_n)$ . Then  $F_k \to F$  in  $L^2(\Omega)$  and  $D_t F_k \to D_t F$  in  $L^2(P \times \lambda)$  as  $k \to \infty$ .

By (3.19) we have

$$D_{t}E\left[F_{k} \mid \mathcal{F}_{G}\right] = E\left[D_{t}F_{k} \mid F_{G}\right]\chi_{G}\left(t\right),$$

for all k, and taking the limit with convergence in  $L^2(P \times \lambda)$  of this, as  $k \to \infty$  we obtain the result.

**Corollary 3.3.1** Let u = u(s),  $s \in [0,T]$ , be an *F*-adapted stochastic process and assume that  $u(s) \in D_{1,2}$  for all s. Then

- i)  $D_t u(s), s \in [0,T], F$ -adapted for all t;
- **ii)**  $D_t u(s) = 0$ , for t > s.

**Proof.** By Proposition (4.3.2) we have that

$$D_t u(s) = D_t E(u(s) | \mathcal{F}_s) = E(D_t u(s) | \mathcal{F}_s) \chi_{[0,s]}(t)$$
$$= E(D_t u(s) | \mathcal{F}_s) \chi_{[t,T]}(s),$$

from which (i) and (ii) follow immediately.

#### 3.3.2 Malliavin Derivative and Skorohod Integral

#### The Skorohod integral is the adjoint operator to the Malliavin derivative

The following result shows that the Malliavin derivative is the adjoint operator of the Skorohod integral.

**Theorem 3.3.4 (Duality formula)** Let  $F \in D_{1,2}$  be  $\mathcal{F}_T$ -measurable and let u be a Skorohod integrable stochastic process. Then

$$E\left[F\int_{0}^{T}u(t)\,\delta B(t)\right] = E\left[\int_{0}^{T}u(t)\,D_{t}Fdt\right].$$
(3.20)

**Proof.** Let  $F = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} I_n(f_n)$  and, for all t,  $u(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} I_k(g_k(.,t))$  be the chaos expansions of F and u(t), respectively. Then

$$E\left[F\int_{0}^{T}u(t)\,\delta B(t)\right] = E\left[\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}I_{n}\left(f_{n}\right)\int_{0}^{T}\sum_{k=0}^{\infty}I_{k}\left(g_{k}\left(.,t\right)\right)\delta B(t)\right]$$
$$= E\left[\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}I_{n}\left(f_{n}\right)\sum_{k=0}^{\infty}I_{k+1}\left(\tilde{g}_{k}\right)\right]$$
$$= E\left[\sum_{k=0}^{\infty}I_{k+1}\left(f_{k+1}\right)I_{k+1}\left(\tilde{g}_{k}\right)\right]$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty}\left(k+1\right)!\int_{[0,T]^{k+1}}f_{k+1}\left(x\right)\tilde{g}_{k}\left(x\right)dx$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty}\left(k+1\right)!\left(f_{k+1},\tilde{g}_{k}\right)_{L^{2}\left([0,T]^{k+1}\right)},$$
(3.21)

where  $\tilde{g}_k$  is the symmetrization of  $g_k(x_1, ..., x_n, t)$  as a function of n + 1 variables. On the other side we have

$$E\left[\int_{0}^{T} u(t) D_{t}Fdt\right] = E\left[\int_{0}^{T} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} I_{k}\left(g_{k}\left(.,t\right)\right)\right) \left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} nI_{n-1}\left(f_{n}\left(.,t\right)\right)\right) dt\right]$$
$$= \int_{0}^{T} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} E\left[\left(k+1\right)\left(I_{k}\left(g_{k}\left(.,t\right)\right)\right) I_{k}\left(f_{k+1}\left(.,t\right)\right)\right] dt$$
$$= \int_{0}^{T} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \left(k+1\right) k! \left(f_{k+1},g_{k}\right)_{L^{2}\left([0,T]^{k}\right)}.$$
(3.22)

Now

$$(f_{k+1}, \tilde{g}_k)_{L^2([0,T]^{k+1})} = \int_0^T (f_{k+1}(.,t), \tilde{g}_k(.,t))_{L^2([0,T]^k)} dt$$
  

$$= \frac{1}{k+1} \sum_{j=1}^{k+1} \int_0^T (f_{k+1}(.,t), \tilde{g}_k(.,t))_{L^2([0,T]^k)} dt_j$$
  

$$= \int_0^T (f_{k+1}(.,t), g_k(.,t))_{L^2([0,T]^k)} dt$$
  

$$= (f_{k+1}, g_k)_{L^2([0,T]^{k+1})}.$$
(3.23)

Therefore, by (3.21) combined with (3.18) and (3.19) the result follows

#### An Integration by Parts Formula and Closability of the Skorohod Integral

**Theorem 3.3.5 (Integration by parts)** Let u(t),  $t \in [0,T]$  be a Skorohod integrable stochastic process and  $F \in D_{1,2}$  such that the product Fu(t),  $t \in [0,T]$ , is Skorohod integrable. Then

$$F \int_{0}^{T} u(t) \,\delta B(t) = \int_{0}^{T} F u(t) \,\delta B(t) + \int_{0}^{T} u(t) \,D_{t} F dt.$$
(3.24)

The duality formula is at the core of the proof of the integration by parts formula for the Skorohod integral and Malliavin derivative.

**Theorem 3.3.6 (Closability of the Skorohod integral)** Suppose that  $u_n(t), t \in [0, T]$ , n = 1, 2, ..., is a sequence of Skorohod integrable stochastic processes and that the corresponding sequence of Skorohod integrals

$$\delta(u_n) := \int_0^T u_n(t) \,\delta B_t, \ n = 1, 2, \dots$$
(3.25)

converge in  $L^{2}(P)$ . Moreover, suppose that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} u_n = 0 \ in \ L^2 \left( P \times \lambda \right).$$

Then

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \delta(u_n) = 0 \ in \ L^2(P)$$

#### A Fundamental Theorem of Calculus

The next result gives a useful connection between differentiation and Skorohod integration.

**Theorem 3.3.7 (The fundamental theorem of calculus.)** Let u = u(s),  $s \in [0,T]$  be a stochastic process such that

$$E\left(\int_{0}^{T}u^{2}\left(s\right)ds\right)<\infty,$$

and assume that, for all  $s \in [0,T]$ ,  $u(s) \in D_{1,2}$  and that, for all  $t \in [0,T]$ ,  $D_t u \in Dom(\delta)$ . Assume also that

$$E\left(\int_0^T \left(\delta\left(D_t u\right)^2\right) dt\right) < \infty.$$

Then  $\int_{0}^{T} u(s) \, \delta B_{s}$  is well-defined and belongs to  $D_{1,2}$  and

$$D_t\left(\int_0^T u(s)\,\delta B_s\right) = \int_0^T D_t u(s)\,\delta B_s + u(t)\,. \tag{3.26}$$

**Corollary 3.3.2** Let u be as in Theorem 4.3.7 and assume in addition that u(s),  $s \in [0, T]$ , is  $\mathcal{F}$ -adapted. Then

$$D_t\left(\int_0^T u\left(s\right) dB_s\right) = \int_0^T D_t u\left(s\right) dB_s + u\left(t\right).$$
(3.27)

## 3.4 Clark-Ocone formula

The Clark-Ocone formula is a representation theorem for square integrable random variables in terms of Itô stochastic integrals in which the integrand is explicitly characterized in terms of the Malliavin derivative

**Theorem 3.4.1 (Clark-Ocone formula)** Let  $F \in D_{1,2}$  be  $\mathcal{F}_T$ -measurable. Then

$$F = E(F) + \int_0^T E(D_t F \mid \mathcal{F}_t) dB_t.$$
(3.28)

**Remark 3.4.1** The formula can only be applied to random variables in  $D_{1,2}$ . Extensions beyond this domain to the whole  $L^2(P)$  are possible in the white noise framework. Other Itô integral representations exist where the integrand is given in terms of the non-anticipating derivative. This operator is defined on the whole  $L^2(P)$  See e.g. Di Nunno (2002, 2007). Some rules of calculus are given for this operator, however much has still to be discovered. **Proof.** Write  $F = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} I_n(f_n)$  with  $f_n \in \tilde{L}^2([0,T]^n), n = 1, 2, \dots$  Hence,

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{T} E\left(D_{t}F \mid \mathcal{F}_{t}\right) dB_{t} &= \int_{0}^{T} E\left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} nI_{n-1}\left(f_{n}\left(.,t\right)\right) \mid \mathcal{F}_{t}\right) dB_{t} \\ &= \int_{0}^{T} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} nE\left(I_{n-1}\left(f_{n}\left(.,t\right)\right) \mid \mathcal{F}_{t}\right) dB_{t} \\ &= \int_{0}^{T} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} nI_{n-1}\left[\left(f_{n}\left(.,t\right)\right) \cdot \chi_{[0,t]}^{\otimes n-1}\left(.\right)\right] dB_{t} \\ &= \int_{0}^{T} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n\left(n-1\right)! J_{n-1}\left[\left(f_{n}\left(.,t\right)\right) \cdot \chi_{[0,t]}^{\otimes n-1}\left(.\right)\right] dB \\ &= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n! J_{n}\left(f_{n}\right) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} I_{n}\left(f_{n}\right) \\ &= F - I_{0}\left(f_{0}\right) = F - E\left(f\right). \end{split}$$

#### 3.4.1 A generalized Clark-Ocone formula

Suppose that  $\tilde{B}_t = B_t + \int_0^T \theta_s ds$ , where  $\theta = \{\theta_t, t \in [0, T]\}$  is an adapted measurable process such that  $\int_0^T \theta_t^2 dt < \infty$  almost surely. Suppose that  $E[Z_T] = 1$ , where the process  $Z_t$  is given by

$$Z_t = \exp\left(-\int_0^t \theta_s dB_s - \frac{1}{2}\int_0^t \theta_s^2 ds\right).$$

Then by the Girsanov Theorem, the process  $\tilde{B} = \left\{ \tilde{B}_t, t \in [0, T] \right\}$  is a Brownian motion under the probability Q on  $\mathcal{F}_T$  given by  $\frac{dQ}{dP} = Z_t$ .

The Clark-Ocone formula can be generalized in order to represent an  $\mathcal{F}_T$ -measurable random variable F as stochastic integral with respect to the process  $\tilde{B}$ . Notice that, in general, we have  $\mathcal{F}_T^{\tilde{B}} \subset \mathcal{F}_T$  (where  $\left\{ \mathcal{F}_t^{\tilde{B}}, 0 \leq t \leq T \right\}$  denotes the family of  $\sigma$ -fields generated by  $\tilde{B}$ ) and usually  $\mathcal{F}_T^{\tilde{B}} \neq \mathcal{F}_T$ . Thus, an  $\mathcal{F}_T$ -measurable random variable F may not be  $\mathcal{F}_T^{\tilde{B}}$ measurable and we cannot obtain a representation of F as an integral with respect to  $\tilde{B}$  simply by applying the Clark-Ocone formula to the Brownian motion  $\tilde{B}$  on the probability space  $\left(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_T^{\tilde{\mathcal{B}}}, Q\right)$ .

**Theorem 3.4.2 (Clark-Ocone formula under change of measure)** Let F be an  $\mathcal{F}_T$ measurable random variable such that  $F \in \mathfrak{D}^{1,2}$  and let  $\theta \in L^{1,2}$ . Assume

1. 
$$E(Z_T^2 F^2) + E\left(Z_T^2 \int_0^T (D_t F)^2 dt\right) < \infty,$$
  
2.  $E\left(Z_T^2 F^2 \int_0^T \left(\theta_t + \int_t^T D_t \theta_s dB_s + \int_t^T \theta_s D_t \theta_s ds\right)^2 dt\right) < \infty.$ 

Then

$$F = E_Q(F) + \int_0^T E_Q\left(D_t F - F \int_t^T D_t \theta_s d\tilde{B}_s \mid \mathcal{F}_t\right) d\tilde{B}_s.$$
(3.29)

The proof of this theorem can be found in [49] page 337.

## Chapter 4

# A Malliavin calculus in stochastic control problems

In this chapiter we will present the tow results one is established by Brandis, Øksendal and Zhou [47] and the other is established by Øksendal and Sulem [51] witch treat singular control problem, both of them established stochastic maximum principle, where they considers controlled Itô-L'evy process where the information available to the controller is possibly less than the overall information. All the system coefficients and the objective performance functional are allowed to be random, possibly non-Markovian. Malliavin calculus is employed to derive a maximum principle for the optimal control of such a system.

# 4.1 A stochastic maximum principle via Malliavin calculus

#### 4.1.1 Formulation of the problem

Suppose the state process  $X(t) = X^u(t, u)$ ;  $t \ge 0$ ,  $\omega \in \Omega$ , s a controlled Itô-L'evy process in  $\mathbb{R}$  of the form of the form

$$\begin{cases} dx_t = b\left(t, x\left(t\right), u\left(t\right), \omega\right) dt + \sigma\left(t, x\left(t\right), u\left(t\right), \omega\right) dB_t \\ + \int_{\mathbb{R}_0} \theta\left(t, x\left(t^-\right), u\left(t^-\right), z, \omega\right) \tilde{N}\left(dt, dz\right); \\ x\left(0\right) = x \in \mathbb{R}. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.1)$$

Here  $\mathbb{R}_{0} = \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$ ,  $B(t) = B(t, \omega)$ , and  $\eta(t) = \eta(t, \omega)$ , given by

$$\eta\left(t\right)=\int_{0}^{t}\int\limits_{\mathbb{R}_{0}}z\tilde{N}\left(ds,dz\right);\ t\geqslant0,\ \omega\in\Omega,$$

are a 1-dimensional Brownian motion and an independent pure jump L'evy martingale, respectively, on a given filtered probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \{\mathcal{F}_t\}_{t \ge 0}, P)$ . Thus

$$\tilde{N}(dt, dz) := N(dt, dz) - \nu(dz) dt,$$

is the compensated jump measure of  $\eta(.)$ , where N(dt, dz) is the jump measure and  $\nu(dz)$ is the L'evy measure of the L'evy process  $\eta(.)$  The process u(t) is our control process, assumed to be  $\mathcal{F}_t$ -adapted and have values in a given open convex set  $U \subset \mathbb{R}$ . The coefficients

$$b: [0,T] \times \mathbb{R} \times U \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R},$$
  
$$\sigma: [0,T] \times \mathbb{R} \times U \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R},$$
  
$$\theta: [0,T] \times \mathbb{R} \times U \times \mathbb{R}_0 \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R},$$

are given  $\mathcal{F}_t$ -predictable processes. for more information about stochastic control of Itô diffusions and jump diffusions one can see [32]. Let T > 0 be a given constant. For simplicity, we assume that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}_0} z^2 \nu\left(dz\right) < \infty.$$

Suppose in addition that we are given a sub-filtration  $\varepsilon_t \subset \mathcal{F}_t$ ,  $t \in [0, T]$ , representing the information available to the controller at time t and satisfying the usual conditions, meaning that the controller gets a delayed information compared to  $\mathcal{F}_t$ .

Let  $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$  denote a given family of controls, contained in the set of  $\varepsilon_t$ -adapted càdlàg controls u(.) such that (4.1) has a unique strong solution up to time T. Suppose we are given a performance functional of the form

$$J(u) = E\left[\int_{0}^{T} f(t, x(t), u(t), \omega) dt + g(x(T), \omega)\right]; \ u \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon},$$

where  $E = E_p$  denotes expectation with respect to P and  $f : [0, T] \times \mathbb{R} \times U \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$  and  $g : \mathbb{R} \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$  are given  $\mathcal{F}_t$ -adapted processes with

$$E\left[\int_{0}^{T} |f(t, x(t), u(t))| dt + |g(x(T))|\right] < \infty \text{ for all } u \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$$

The partial information control problem we consider is the following:

**Problem 4.1.1** Find  $\Phi_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $u^* \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$ , (if it exists) such that

$$\Phi_{\varepsilon} = \sup_{u \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} \left( J\left( u \right) \right) = J\left( u^{*} \right).$$

**Remark 4.1.1** This problem is not of Markovian type, because  $b, \sigma, \theta, f$  and g are allowed to be stochastic processes and also because our controls must be  $\varepsilon_t$ -adapted, and hence cannot be solved by dynamic programming. We instead investigate the maximum principle, and derive an explicit form for the adjoint process.

We have the following assumptions

#### Assumption

- 1) The functions  $b, \sigma, f$  and g are all continuously differentiable  $(C^1)$  with respect to  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ and  $u \in U$  for each  $t \in [0, T]$  and  $a.a.\omega \in \Omega$ .
- 2) For all  $t, r \in (0, T)$   $t \leq r$ , and all bounded  $\varepsilon_t$ -measurable random variables  $\alpha = \alpha(\omega)$ the control  $\beta_{\alpha}(s) = \alpha(\omega) \chi_{[t,r]}(s)$ ;  $s \in [0, T]$  belongs to  $\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$ .
- **3)** For all  $u, \beta \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$  with  $\beta$  bounded, there exists  $\delta > 0$  such that  $u + y\beta \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$  for all  $y \in (-\delta, \delta)$ , and such that the family and such that the family

$$\left\{ \frac{\partial f}{\partial x} \left( t, x^{u+y\beta} \left( t \right), u \left( t \right) + y\beta \left( t \right) \right) \frac{d}{dy} x^{u+y\beta} \left( t \right) \right. \\ \left. + \frac{\partial f}{\partial u} \left( t, x^{u+y\beta} \left( t \right), u \left( t \right) + y\beta \left( t \right) \right) \beta \left( t \right) \right\}_{y \in (-\delta, \delta)}$$

is  $\lambda \times P$ -uniformly integrable and the family

$$\left\{g'\left(x^{u+y\beta}\left(T\right)\right)\frac{d}{dy}x^{u+y\beta}\left(T\right)\right\}_{y\in\left(-\delta,\delta\right)}$$

,

is *P*-uniformly integrable.

4) For all  $u, \beta \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$  with  $\beta$  bounded the process  $y(t) = y^{\beta}(t) = \frac{d}{dy} x^{u+y\beta}(t)|_{y=0}$  exists and satisfies the equation

$$dy(t) = \left[ y(t^{-}) \frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(t, x(t), u(t)) dt + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}(t, x(t), u(t)) dB(t) + \int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}} \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial x}(t, x(t^{-}), u(t^{-}), z) \tilde{N}(dt, dz) \right] \\ + \beta(t^{-}) \left[ \frac{\partial b}{\partial u}(t, x(t), u(t)) dt + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u}(t, x(t), u(t)) dB(t) + \int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}} \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial u}(t, x(t^{-}), u(t^{-}), z) \tilde{N}(dt, dz) \right];$$
$$y(0) = 0.$$

**5)** For all  $u \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$ , the following processes

$$\begin{split} K\left(t\right) &:= g'\left(x\left(T\right)\right) + \int_{t}^{T} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} f\left(s, x\left(s\right), u\left(s\right)\right) ds, \\ D_{t}K\left(t\right) &:= D_{t}g'\left(x\left(T\right)\right) + \int_{t}^{T} D_{t} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} f\left(s, x\left(s\right), u\left(s\right)\right) ds, \\ D_{t,z}K\left(t\right) &:= D_{t,z}g'\left(x\left(T\right)\right) + \int_{t}^{T} D_{t,z} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} f\left(s, x\left(s\right), u\left(s\right)\right) ds, \\ H_{0}\left(s, x, u\right) &= k\left(s\right) b\left(s, x, u\right) + D_{s}K\left(s\right) \sigma\left(s, x, u\right) \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}} D_{s,z}K\left(s\right) \theta\left(s, x, u, z\right) \nu\left(dz\right), \\ G\left(t, s\right) &:= \exp\left(\int_{t}^{s} \left\{\frac{\partial}{\partial x} b\left(r, x\left(r\right), u\left(r\right), \omega\right) - \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial\sigma}{\partial x}\right)^{2} \left(r, x\left(r\right), u\left(r\right), \omega\right)\right\} dB\left(r\right) \\ &+ \int_{t}^{s} \frac{\partial\sigma}{\partial x} \left(r, x\left(r\right), u\left(r\right), \omega\right) dB\left(r\right) \\ &+ \int_{t}^{s} \int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}} \left\{\ln\left(1 + \frac{\partial\theta}{\partial x}\left(r, x\left(r\right), u\left(r\right), z, \omega\right)\right) - \frac{\partial\theta}{\partial x}\left(r, x\left(r\right), u\left(r\right), z, \omega\right)\right\} \nu\left(dz\right) dr \\ &+ \int_{t}^{s} \int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}} \ln\left(1 + \frac{\partial\theta}{\partial x}\left(r, x\left(r^{-}\right), u\left(r^{-}\right), z, \omega\right)\right) \tilde{N}\left(dr, dz\right), \end{split}$$

$$p(t) := K(t) + \int_{t}^{T} \frac{\partial H_{0}}{\partial x} \left( s, x(s), u(s) \right) G(t, s) \, ds, \tag{4.3}$$

$$q(t) := D_t p(t), \text{ and}$$

$$(4.4)$$

$$r(t,z) := D_{t,z}p(t), \qquad (4.5)$$

all exist for  $0 \leq t \leq s \leq T, z \in \mathbb{R}_0$ 

We now define the Hamiltonian of this general problem

**Definition 4.1.1 (The general stochastic Hamiltonian)** The general stochastic Hamiltonian is the process

$$H:[0,T]\times\mathbb{R}\times U\times\Omega\to\mathbb{R},$$

defined by

$$H(t, x, u, \omega) = f(t, x, u, \omega) + p(t) b(t, x, u, \omega) + q(t) \sigma(t, x, u, \omega) + \int_{\mathbb{R}_0} r(t, z) \theta(t, x, u, z, \omega) \nu(dz).$$

$$(4.6)$$

### 4.1.2 The stochastic maximum principle

We can now formulate the stochastic maximum principle:

**Theorem 4.1.1 (Maximum Principle) 1.** Suppose  $u \in A_{\varepsilon}$  is a critical point for J(u),

in the sense that

$$\frac{d}{dy}J(\hat{u}+y\beta)|_{y=0} = 0 \text{ for all bounded } \beta \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}.$$
(4.7)

Then

$$E\left[\frac{\partial \hat{H}}{\partial u}\left(t,\hat{x}\left(t\right),\hat{u}\left(t\right)\right) \mid \varepsilon_{t}\right] = 0 \text{ for a.a. } t, \,\omega, \qquad (4.8)$$

where

 $\hat{x}\left(t\right) = x^{\hat{u}}\left(t\right),$ 

$$\begin{split} \hat{H}\left(t,\hat{x}\left(t\right),u\right) &= f\left(t,\hat{x}\left(t\right),u\right) + \hat{p}b\left(t,\hat{x}\left(t\right),u\right) + \hat{q}\left(t\right)\sigma\left(t,\hat{x}\left(t\right),u\right) \\ &\int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}}\hat{r}\left(t,z\right)\theta\left(t,\hat{x}\left(t\right),u,z\right)\nu\left(dz\right), \end{split}$$

with

$$\hat{p}(t) = \hat{k}(t) + \int_{t}^{T} \frac{\partial H_{0}}{\partial x} \left( s, \hat{x}(s), \hat{u}(s) \right) \hat{G}(t, s) \, ds,$$

and

$$\begin{split} \hat{G}\left(t,s\right) &:= \exp\left(\int_{t}^{s} \left\{\frac{\partial}{\partial x} b\left(r, \hat{x}\left(r\right), u\left(r\right), \omega\right) - \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial\sigma}{\partial x}\right)^{2} \left(r, \hat{x}\left(r\right), u\left(r\right), \omega\right)\right\} dB\left(r\right) \\ &+ \int_{t}^{s} \frac{\partial\sigma}{\partial x} \left(r, \hat{x}\left(r\right), u\left(r\right), \omega\right) dB\left(r\right) \\ &+ \int_{t}^{s} \int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}} \left\{\ln\left(1 + \frac{\partial\theta}{\partial x}\left(r, \hat{x}\left(r\right), u\left(r\right), z, \omega\right)\right) - \frac{\partial\theta}{\partial x}\left(r, \hat{x}\left(r\right), u\left(r\right), z, \omega\right)\right\} \nu\left(dz\right) dr \\ &+ \int_{t}^{s} \int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}} \ln\left(1 + \frac{\partial\theta}{\partial x}\left(r, \hat{x}\left(r^{-}\right), u\left(r^{-}\right), z, \omega\right)\right) \tilde{N}\left(dr, dz\right), \\ \hat{K}\left(t\right) &= g'\left(\hat{x}\left(T\right)\right) + \int_{t}^{T} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} f\left(s, \hat{x}\left(s\right), u\left(s\right)\right) ds, \end{split}$$

**2.** Conversely, suppose there exists  $\hat{u} \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$  such that (4.8) holds. Then  $\hat{u}$  satisfies (4.7).

#### Proof.

**1.** We suppose that u is a critical point for J(u), we have by assumption 3

$$0 = \frac{d}{dy} J(u + y\beta)|_{y=0}$$
  
=  $E\left[\int_0^T \left\{\frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t, x(t), u(t))y(t) + \frac{\partial f}{\partial u}(t, x(t), u(t))\beta(t)\right\} dt$   
+  $g'(x(T))y(T)$ ,

where

$$y(t) = \frac{d}{dy} x^{(u+y\beta)}(t)|_{y=0}$$

$$= \int_0^t \left\{ \frac{\partial b}{\partial x} \left( s, x(s), u(s) \right) y(s) + \frac{\partial b}{\partial u} \left( s, x(s), u(s) \right) \beta(s) \right\} ds$$

$$+ \int_0^t \left\{ \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x} \left( s, x(s), u(s) \right) y(s) + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u} \left( s, x(s), u(s) \right) \beta(s) \right\} dB_s$$

$$+ \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}_0} \left\{ \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial x} \left( s, x(s), u(s), z \right) y(s) + \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial u} \left( s, x(s), u(s), z \right) \beta(s) \right\} \tilde{N}(ds, dz).$$
(4.9)

From now on we use the short hand notation

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t, x(t), u(t)) = \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t), \quad \frac{\partial f}{\partial u}(t, x(t), u(t)) = \frac{\partial f}{\partial u}(t),$$

and similarly for  $\frac{\partial b}{\partial x}$ ,  $\frac{\partial b}{\partial u}$ ,  $\frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}$ ,  $\frac{\partial b}{\partial u}$ ,  $\frac{\partial \theta}{\partial x}$ , and  $\frac{\partial \theta}{\partial u}$ . By replacing y(T) by its value, and

using the duality formulas, we get

$$E\left[g'\left(x\left(T\right)\right)y\left(T\right)\right]$$

$$= E\left[g'\left(x\left(T\right)\right)\left(\int_{0}^{T}\left\{\frac{\partial b}{\partial x}\left(s\right)y\left(s\right) + \frac{\partial b}{\partial u}\left(s\right)\beta\left(s\right)\right\}ds$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{T}\left\{\frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}\left(s\right)y\left(s\right) + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u}\left(s\right)\beta\left(s\right)\right\}dB_{s}$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{T}\int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}}\left\{\frac{\partial \theta}{\partial x}\left(s\right)y\left(s\right) + \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial u}\left(s\right)\beta\left(s\right)\right\}\tilde{N}\left(ds,dz\right)\right)\right]$$

$$= E\left[\int_{0}^{T}\left\{g'\left(x\left(T\right)\right)\frac{\partial b}{\partial x}\left(s\right)y\left(s\right) + g'\left(x\left(T\right)\right)\frac{\partial b}{\partial u}\left(s\right)\beta\left(s\right)\right)\right\}d\theta_{s}$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{T}D_{t}\left(g'\left(x\left(T\right)\right)\right)\frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}\left(s\right)y\left(s\right) + D_{t}\left(g'\left(x\left(T\right)\right)\right)\frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u}\left(s\right)\beta\left(s\right)$$

$$+ \int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}}\left[D_{t,z}\left(g'\left(x\left(T\right)\right)\right)\frac{\partial \theta}{\partial x}\left(s\right)y\left(s\right) + D_{t,z}\left(g'\left(x\left(T\right)\right)\right)\frac{\partial \theta}{\partial u}\left(s\right)\beta\left(s\right)\right]\nu\left(dz\right)\right\}ds\right].$$

$$(4.10)$$

Similarly we have,

$$E\left[\int_{0}^{T} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t) y(t) dt\right]$$
  
=  $E\left[\int_{0}^{T} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t) \left(\int_{0}^{t} \left\{\frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(s) y(s) + \frac{\partial b}{\partial u}(s) \beta(s)\right\} ds$   
+  $\int_{0}^{t} \left\{\frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}(s) y(s) + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u}(s) \beta(s)\right\} dB_{s}$   
+  $\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}} \left\{\frac{\partial \theta}{\partial x}(s) y(s) + \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial u}(s) \beta(s)\right\} \tilde{N}(ds, dz) \right)\right]$   
=  $E\left[\int_{0}^{T} \left(\int_{0}^{t} \left\{\frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t) \frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(s) y(s) + \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t) \frac{\partial b}{\partial u}(s) \beta(s) + D_{t}\left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t)\right) \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}(s) y(s) + D_{t}\left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t)\right) \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial u}(s) \beta(s) + \int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}} \left[D_{t,z}\left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t)\right) \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial x}(s) y(s) + D_{t,z}\left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t)\right) \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial u}(s) \beta(s)\right] \nu(dz) \right\} ds \right) dt\right]$ 

then by using the Fubini theorem,

$$E\left[\int_{0}^{T} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t) y(t) dt\right]$$
  
=  $E\left[\int_{0}^{T} \left\{\int_{s}^{T} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t) dt\right\} \left[\frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(s) y(s) + \frac{\partial b}{\partial u}(s) \beta(s)\right]$   
+  $\left\{\int_{s}^{T} D_{s}\left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t)\right) dt\right\} \left[\frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}(s) y(s) + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u}(s) \beta(s)\right]$   
 $\left\{\int_{s}^{T} D_{s,z}\left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t)\right) dt\right\} \int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}} \left[\frac{\partial \theta}{\partial x}(s) y(s) + \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial u}(s) \beta(s)\right] \nu(dz) \right\} ds\right].$ 

Changing the notation  $s \to t$ , this becomes

$$E\left[\int_{0}^{T} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t) y(t) dt\right] = E\left[\int_{0}^{T} \left\{\int_{t}^{T} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(s) ds\right\} \left[\frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(t) y(t) + \frac{\partial b}{\partial u}(t) \beta(t)\right] \\ + \left\{\int_{t}^{T} D_{t}\left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(s)\right) ds\right\} \left[\frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}(t) y(t) + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u}(t) \beta(t)\right] \\ + \left\{\int_{t}^{T} D_{t,z}\left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(s)\right) ds\right\} \int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}} \left[\frac{\partial \theta}{\partial x}(t) y(t) + \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial u}(t) \beta(t)\right] \nu(dz) dt\right].$$

$$(4.11)$$

Recall

$$K(t) := g'(x(T)) + \int_{t}^{T} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(s) \, ds.$$
(4.12)

By combining (4.10)-(4.12), we get

$$E\left[\int_{0}^{T} \left\{ K\left(t\right) \left(\frac{\partial b}{\partial x}\left(t\right) y\left(t\right) + \frac{\partial b}{\partial u}\left(t\right) \beta\left(t\right)\right) + D_{t}K\left(t\right) \left(\frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}\left(t\right) y\left(t\right) + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u}\left(t\right) \beta\left(t\right)\right) + \int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}} D_{t,z}K\left(t\right) \left(\frac{\partial \theta}{\partial x}\left(t\right) y\left(t\right) + \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial u}\left(t\right) \beta\left(t\right)\right) \nu\left(dz\right) + \frac{\partial f}{\partial u}\left(t\right) \beta\left(t\right)\right) dt\right]$$
  
= 0. (4.13)

Now we apply the above to  $\beta = \beta_{\alpha} \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$  of the form  $\beta_{\alpha}(s) = \alpha \chi_{[t,t+h]}(s)$ , for some  $t, h \in (0,T)$ ,  $t+h \leq T$ , where  $\alpha = \alpha(\omega)$  is bounded and  $\varepsilon_t$ -measurable. We have, by 4.9 for  $0 \leq s \leq t$ 

$$y^{\beta_{\alpha}}(s) = \int_{0}^{s} \left\{ \frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(r) y^{\beta_{\alpha}}(r) \right\} dr + \int_{0}^{s} \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}(r) y^{\beta_{\alpha}}(r) dB_{r} + \int_{0}^{s} \int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}} \left[ \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial x}(r) y^{\beta_{\alpha}}(r) \right] N(dr, dz)$$

Then  $y^{\beta_{\alpha}}(s) = 0$ , for  $0 \le s \le t$  and hence (4.12) becomes

$$A_1 + A_2 = 0. (4.14)$$

where

$$A_{1} = E\left[\int_{t}^{T} \left\{K\left(s\right)\frac{\partial b}{\partial x}\left(s\right) + D_{s}K\left(s\right)\frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}\left(s\right) + \int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}} D_{s,z}K\left(s\right)\frac{\partial \theta}{\partial x}\left(t\right)\nu\left(dz\right)\right\}y^{\beta_{\alpha}}\left(s\right)ds\right]$$
$$A_{2} = E\left[\int_{t}^{t+h} \left\{K\left(s\right)\frac{\partial b}{\partial u}\left(s\right) + D_{s}K\left(s\right)\frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u}\left(s\right) + \int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}} D_{s,z}K\left(s\right)\frac{\partial \theta}{\partial u}\left(t\right)\nu\left(dz\right)\right\}\alpha ds\right].$$

In the other hand for  $s \ge t + h$  we have by (4.9) with  $y(s) = y^{\beta_{\alpha}}(s)$ 

$$dy(s) = y(s^{-}) \left\{ \frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(s) \, ds + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}(s) + \int_{\mathbb{R}_0} \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial x}(t) \, \tilde{N}(dr, dz) \right\},\tag{4.15}$$

with initial condition y(t+h) in time t+h. This equation can be solved explicitly

and we get

$$y(s) = y(t+h)G(t+h,s); \ s \ge t+h,$$
 (4.16)

where, in general, for  $s \ge t$ ,

$$G(t,s) := \exp\left(\int_{t}^{s} \left\{\frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(r) - \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}\right)^{2}(r)\right\} dB(r) + \int_{t}^{s} \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}(r) dB(r) + \int_{t}^{s} \int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}} \left\{\ln\left(1 + \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial x}(r)\right) - \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial x}(r)\right\} \nu(dz) dr + \int_{t}^{s} \int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}} \ln\left(1 + \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial x}(r)\right) \tilde{N}(dr, dz),$$
(4.17)

y(s) given in (4.16) is the solution of (4.17), it can be verified by applying the Itô

formula to y(s) given in (4.16). We define

$$H_{0}(s, x, u) = K(s) b(s, x, u) + D_{s}K(s) \sigma(s, x, u) + \int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}} D_{s,z}K(s) \theta(s, x, u, z) \nu(dz)$$

Then

$$A_{1} = E\left[\int_{t}^{T} \frac{\partial H_{0}}{\partial x}(s) y(s) ds\right].$$

Differentiating with respect to h at h = 0 we get

$$\frac{d}{dh}A_1|_{h=0} = \frac{d}{dh}E\left[\int_t^{t+h}\frac{\partial H_0}{\partial x}\left(s\right)y\left(s\right)ds\right]|_{h=0} + \frac{d}{dh}E\left[\int_{t+h}^T\frac{\partial H_0}{\partial x}\left(s\right)y\left(s\right)ds\right]|_{$$

Since y(t) = 0 and since  $\frac{\partial H_0}{\partial x(s)}$  is càdlàg we see that

$$\frac{d}{dh}E\left[\int_{t}^{t+h}\frac{\partial H_{0}}{\partial x}\left(s\right)y\left(s\right)ds\right]_{h=0} = 0.$$
(4.18)

Therefore, using (4.16) and y(t) = 0,

$$\frac{d}{dh}A_{1|_{h=0}} = \frac{d}{dh}E\left[\int_{t+h}^{T}\frac{\partial H_{0}}{\partial x}\left(s\right)y\left(t+h\right)G\left(t+h,s\right)ds\right] \\
= \lim_{h \to 0}\frac{1}{h}\left\{E\left[\int_{t+h}^{T}\frac{\partial H_{0}}{\partial x}\left(s\right)y\left(t+h\right)G\left(t+h,s\right)ds\right]\right\} \\
= \int_{t}^{T}\lim_{h \to 0}\frac{1}{h}E\left[\frac{\partial H_{0}}{\partial x}\left(s\right)y\left(t+h\right)G\left(t+h,s\right)\right]ds \\
= \int_{t}^{T}\frac{d}{dh}E\left[\frac{\partial H_{0}}{\partial x}\left(s\right)y\left(t+h\right)G\left(t+h,s\right)\right]_{h=0}ds \\
= \int_{t}^{T}\frac{d}{dh}E\left[\frac{\partial H_{0}}{\partial x}\left(s\right)y\left(t+h\right)G\left(t,s\right)\right]_{h=0}ds, \quad (4.19)$$

by (4.9)

$$y(t+h) = \alpha \int_{t}^{t+h} \left\{ \frac{\partial b}{\partial u}(r) dr + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u}(r) dB_{r} + \int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}} \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial u}(r) \tilde{N}(dr, dz) \right\} + \int_{t}^{t+h} y(r^{-}) \left\{ \frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(r) dr + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}(r) dB_{r} + \int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}} \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial x}(r) \tilde{N}(dr, dz) \right\}.$$
(4.20)

Therefore, by (4.19) and (4.20)

$$\frac{d}{dh}A_{1|_{h=0}} = \Lambda_1 + \Lambda_2,$$

$$\Lambda_{1} = \int_{t}^{T} \frac{d}{dh} E\left[\frac{\partial H_{0}}{\partial x}(s) G(t,s) \alpha \int_{t}^{t+h} \left\{\frac{\partial b}{\partial u}(r) dr + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u}(r) dB_{r} + \int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}} \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial u}(r) \tilde{N}(dr,dz)\right\} dr\right]_{h=0} ds, \qquad (4.21)$$

 $\quad \text{and} \quad$ 

$$\Lambda_{2} = \int_{t}^{T} \frac{d}{dh} E\left[\frac{\partial H_{0}}{\partial x}(s) G(t,s) \int_{t}^{t+h} y(r^{-}) \left\{\frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(r) dr + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}(r) dB_{r} + \int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}} \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial x}(r) \tilde{N}(dr,dz)\right\} dr\right]_{h=0} ds.$$

$$(4.22)$$

By the duality formulas, we get

$$\begin{split} \Lambda_{1} &= \int_{t}^{T} \frac{d}{dh} E\left[\alpha \int_{t}^{t+h} \left\{ \frac{\partial b}{\partial u}\left(r\right) F\left(t,s\right) dr + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u}\left(r\right) D_{r} F\left(t,s\right) dB_{r} \right. \\ &+ \int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}} D_{r,z} \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial u}\left(r\right) \tilde{N}\left(dr,dz\right) \right\} dr \right]_{h=0} ds, \\ &= \int_{t}^{T} E\left[\alpha \left\{ \frac{\partial b}{\partial u}\left(t\right) F\left(t,s\right) dt + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u}\left(t\right) D_{r} F\left(t,s\right) dB_{t} + \int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}} D_{t,z} F\left(t,s\right) \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial u}\left(t\right) \nu\left(dz\right) \right\} \right] ds. \end{split}$$

$$(4.23)$$

such that

$$F(t,s) = \frac{\partial H_0}{\partial x}(s) G(t,s).$$

Since y(t) = 0 we see that  $\Lambda_2 = 0$ . We conclude that

$$\frac{d}{dh}A_{1|_{h=0}} = \Lambda_1$$

Moreover, we see directly that

$$\frac{d}{dh}A_{2|_{h=0}} = E\left[\alpha\left\{K\left(t\right)\frac{\partial b}{\partial u}\left(t\right)dt + \frac{\partial\sigma}{\partial u}\left(t\right)D_{r}K\left(t\right)dB_{t}\right.\right.\\\left.\left.+\int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}}D_{t,z}K\left(t\right)\frac{\partial\theta}{\partial u}\left(t\right)\nu\left(dz\right) + \frac{\partial f}{\partial u}\left(t\right)\right\}\right].$$

Therefore, differentiating (4.14) with respect to h at h = 0 gives the equation

$$E\left[\alpha\left\{\left(K\left(t\right)+\int_{t}^{T}F\left(t,s\right)ds\right)\frac{\partial b}{\partial u}\left(t\right)+D_{t}\left(K\left(t\right)+\int_{t}^{T}F\left(t,s\right)ds\right)\frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u}\left(t\right)\right.\right.\right.\\\left.+\int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}}D_{t,z}\left(K\left(t\right)+\int_{t}^{T}F\left(t,s\right)ds\right)\frac{\partial \theta}{\partial u}\left(t\right)\left(\nu\left(dz\right)+\frac{\partial f}{\partial u}\left(t\right)\right)\right\}\right]$$
$$=0.$$

$$(4.24)$$

if we put

$$p(t) = K(t) + \int_{t}^{T} F(t,s) \, ds = K(t) + \int_{t}^{T} \frac{\partial H_{0}}{\partial x}(s) \, G(t,s) \, ds$$

then (4.24) can be written

$$E\left[\frac{\partial}{\partial u}\left\{f\left(t, x_{t}, u\right) + p\left(t\right)b\left(t, x_{t}, u\right) + D_{t}p\left(t\right)\sigma\left(t, x_{t}, u\right)\right.\right.\right.$$
$$\left. + \int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}} D_{t,z}p\left(t\right)\theta\left(t, x_{t}, u\right)\nu\left(dz\right)\right\}_{u=u(t)}\alpha\right]$$
$$= 0.$$

Since this holds for all bounded  $\varepsilon_t-\text{measurable}$  random variable , we conclude that

$$E\left(\frac{\partial H}{\partial u}\left(t, x_t, u\right)_{u=u(t)} \mid \varepsilon_t\right) = 0, \text{ for } a.a. t, \omega.$$

witch complete the proof of the first part.

ii) Conversely, suppose (4.8) holds for some  $\hat{u} \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$ . Then by reversing the above argument we get that (4.14) holds for all  $\beta_{\alpha} \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$  of the form  $\beta_{\alpha}(s,\omega) = \alpha \chi_{(t,t+h]}(s)$  for some  $t, h \in [0, T]$  with  $t + h \leq T$  and some bounded  $\varepsilon_t$ -measurable  $\alpha$ . Hence (4.14) holds for all linear combinations of such  $\beta_{\alpha}$ .. Since all bounded  $\beta \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$  can be approximated pointwise boundedly in  $(t, \omega)$  by such linear combinations, it follows that (4.14) holds for all bounded  $\beta \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$ . Hence, by reversing the remaining part of the argument above, we conclude that (4.14) holds.

#### 4.1.3 Application

We now give an example of application

**Example 4.1.1 (Optimal portfolio)** Suppose we have a financial market with the following two investment possibilities:

i) A risk free asset, where the unit price  $S_0(t)$  at time t is given by

$$dS_0(t) = \rho_t S_0(t) dt; \ S_0(0) = 1; \ t \in [0, T].$$
(4.25)

ii) A risky asset, where the unit price  $S_1(t)$  at time t is given by

$$dS_{1}(t) = S_{1}(t^{-}) \left[ \alpha_{t} dt + \beta_{t} dB_{t} + \int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}} \zeta(t, z) \tilde{N}(dt, dz); \right] \quad t \in [0, T], \quad (4.26)$$
$$S_{1}(0) > 0.$$

Here  $\rho_t, \alpha_t, \beta_t$  and  $\zeta(t, z)$  are bounded  $\mathcal{F}_t$ -predictable processes,  $t \in [0, T]$ ,  $z \in \mathbb{R}_0$  and T > 0 is a given constant. We also assume that

$$\zeta(t,z) \ge -1$$
 a.s. for a.a.  $t, z,$ 

and

$$E\left[\int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}_0} \left|\log\left(1+\zeta\left(t,z\right)\right)\right|^2 \nu\left(dz\right) dt\right] < \infty.$$

A portfolio in this market is an  $\varepsilon_t$ -predictable process u(t) representing the amount invested in the risky asset at time t. When the portfolio u(.) is chosen, the corresponding wealth process  $x(t) = x^{u}(t)$  satisfies the equation

$$dx(t) = [\rho_t x(t) + (\alpha_t - \rho_t) u(t)] dt + \beta_t u(t) dB_t + \int_{\mathbb{R}_0} \zeta(t, z) \tilde{N}(dt, dz);$$
  
$$x(0) = x > 0.$$
 (4.27)

The partial information optimal portfolio problem is to find the portfolio  $u \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$  which maximizes

$$J(u) = E\left[U\left(x^{u}\left(T,\omega\right)\right)\right],$$

where  $U(x) = U(x, \omega) : \mathbb{R} \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$  is a given  $\mathcal{F}_t$ -measurable random variable for each xand  $x \to U(x, \omega)$  is a utility function for each  $\omega$ . We assume that  $x \to U(x)$  is  $C^1$  and U'(x) is strictly decreasing.

With the notation of the previous section we see that in this case we have

$$f(t, x, u) = 0, g(x, \omega) = U(x, \omega),$$

$$b(t, x, u) = \rho_t x_t + (\alpha_t - \rho_t) u, \quad \sigma(t, x, u) = \beta_t u,$$
$$\theta(t, x, u, z) = \zeta(t, z) u,$$

 $\operatorname{thus}$ 

$$K(t) = U'(x(T)) = K,$$

and

$$H_{0}(t, x, u) = K \left(\rho_{t} x_{t} + (\alpha_{t} - \rho_{t}) u\right) + D_{t} K \beta_{t} u$$
$$+ \int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}} D_{t, z} K \zeta(t, z) \tilde{N}(dt, dz),$$

and

$$G(t,s) = \exp\left(\int_{t}^{s} \rho_{r} dr\right).$$

Thus

$$p(t) = U'(x(T)) + \int_{t}^{T} K\rho_{s} \exp\left(\int_{t}^{s} \rho_{r} dr\right) ds,$$

and the Hamiltonian becomes

$$H(t, x, u) = p(t) \left[\rho_t x_t + (\alpha_t - \rho_t) u\right] + D_t p(t) \beta_t u + \int_{\mathbb{R}_0} D_{t,z} p(t) \zeta(t, z) u\nu(dz).$$

By the maximum principle (4.8) we get the following condition for an optimal control

**Theorem 4.1.2** Suppose that  $\hat{u}$  is an optimal control corresponding  $\hat{x}(t)$ ,  $\hat{p}(t)$  then we have

$$E\left[p(t)(\alpha_t - \rho_t) + D_t p(t)\beta_t + \int_{\mathbb{R}_0} D_{t,z} p(t)\zeta(t,z)\nu(dz) \mid \varepsilon_t\right] = 0.$$
(4.28)

we complete by considering a solution in the special case when

$$\nu = \rho_t = 0, \ |\beta_t| \ge \delta > 0 \text{ and } \varepsilon_t = \mathcal{F}_t, \ 0 \le t \le T,$$

where  $\delta > 0$  is a given constant. Then (4.28) simplifies to

$$\alpha_t E\left[K \mid \mathcal{F}_t\right] + \beta_t E\left[D_t K \mid \mathcal{F}_t\right] = 0. \tag{4.29}$$

By the Clark-Ocone theorem (3.28) we have

$$K = E\left[K\right] + \int_0^T E\left[D_t K \mid \mathcal{F}_t\right] dB_{t,}$$
(4.30)

 $\operatorname{then}$ 

$$E[K \mid \mathcal{F}_t] = E[K] + \int_0^t E[D_t K \mid \mathcal{F}_t] dB_t.$$
(4.31)

Define

$$M_t := E[K \mid \mathcal{F}_t] = E[U'(\hat{x}(T)) \mid \mathcal{F}_t].$$

Then by substituting (3.28) into (4.31) we get

$$M_t = E\left[K\right] - \int_0^t \frac{\alpha_s}{\beta_s} M_s dB_s,$$

or

$$dM_t = -\frac{\alpha_t}{\beta_t} M_t dB_t,$$

witch has the solution

$$M_t = E\left[U'\left(\hat{x}\left(T\right)\right)\right] \exp\left(-\int_0^t \frac{\alpha_s}{\beta_s} dB_s - \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{\beta_s}\right)^2 ds\right),\tag{4.32}$$

such that  $M_0 = E[U'(\hat{x}(T))]$ , we have  $U'(\hat{x}(T)) = M_T = K$ . Given K the corresponding optimal portfolio  $\hat{u}$  is given as the solution of the backward stochastic differential equation

$$\begin{cases} d\hat{x}_{t} = \alpha_{t}\hat{u}(t) dt + \beta_{t}\hat{u}(t) dB_{t}; \quad t < T, \\ \hat{x}(T) = (U')^{-1}(K), \end{cases}$$
(4.33)

witch can be written

$$\begin{cases} d\hat{x}_t = \beta_t \hat{u}(t) d\tilde{B}_t; \quad t < T, \\ \hat{x}(T) = (U')^{-1}(K), \end{cases}$$
(4.34)

where

$$d\tilde{B}_t = \frac{\alpha_t}{\beta_t} dt + dB_t,$$

.

witch is a Brownian motion with respect to the probability measure Q defined by

$$dQ = N_T dP$$
 on  $\mathcal{F}_T$ ,

where

$$N_t = \exp\left(-\int_0^t \frac{\alpha_s}{\beta_s} dB_s - \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t \left(\frac{\alpha_s}{\beta_s}\right)^2 ds\right).$$

By the theorem (3.4.2) of Clark-Ocone under change of measure we have

$$\hat{x}(t) = E_Q\left[\hat{x}(T)\right] + \int_0^T E_Q\left[\left(D_t \hat{x}(T) - \hat{x}(T)\int_t^T D_t\left(\frac{\alpha_s}{\beta_s}\right)d\tilde{B}_t \mid \mathcal{F}_t\right)d\tilde{B}_t\right].$$
(4.35)

Comparing (4.34) and (4.35) we get

$$\hat{u}(t) = \frac{1}{\beta_t} E_Q \left[ \left( D_t \hat{x}(T) - \hat{x}(T) \int_t^T D_t \left( \frac{\alpha_s}{\beta_s} \right) d\tilde{B}_t \mid \mathcal{F}_t \right) \right]$$

Using Bayes'rule we conclude

**Theorem 4.1.3** Suppose  $\hat{u} \in A_{\mathcal{F}}$  is an optimal portfolio for the problem

$$\sup_{u\in\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{F}}}\left(E\left[U\left(x^{u}\left(t\right),\omega\right)\right]\right),$$

with

$$dx_t^u = \alpha_t u(t) dt + \beta_t u(t) dB_t.$$

Then

$$\hat{u}(t) = \frac{1}{\beta_t N_t} E\left[ N_T \left( D_t \hat{x}(T) - \hat{x}(T) \int_t^T D_t \left( \frac{\alpha_s}{\beta_s} \right) d\tilde{B}_t \mid \mathcal{F}_t \right) \right],$$

and

$$\hat{x}(T) = (U')^{-1}(M_T),$$

where  $M_t$  is given by (4.32).

## 4.2 Singular stochastic maximum principle

#### 4.2.1 Formulation of the singular control problem

Consider a controlled singular jump diffusion  $x(t) = x^{\xi}(t)$  of the form  $x(0^{-}) = x \in \mathbb{R}$ 

$$dx_{t} = b(t, x(t), \omega) dt + \sigma(t, x(t), \omega) dB_{t} + \int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}} \theta(t, x(t^{-}), z, \omega) \tilde{N}(dt, dz)$$
$$+\lambda(t, \omega) d\xi_{t}; t \in [0, T],$$

defined on a probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, (\mathcal{F})_{t \ge 0}, P)$ , where  $t \to b(t, x), t \to \sigma(t, x)$  and  $t \to \theta(t, x, z)$  are given  $\mathcal{F}_t$ -predictable processes for each  $x \in \mathbb{R}, z \in \mathbb{R}_0 \equiv \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$  We assume that  $b, \sigma$  and  $\theta$  are  $C^1$  with respect to x and that there exists  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that

$$\frac{\partial \theta}{\partial x}(t, x, z, \omega) \ge -1 + \varepsilon \quad a.s \text{ for } (t, x, z) \in [0, T] \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}_0.$$

 $\lambda(t)$  is  $\varepsilon_t$ -adapted and continuous. The process  $\xi(t) = \xi(t, \omega)$ , is our control process, assumed to be càdlàg and non-decreasing for each  $\omega$ , with  $\xi(0^-) = 0$ . We require that the control  $\xi(t)$  is  $\varepsilon_t$ -adapted. The set of such controls is denoted by  $\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$ . Let  $t \to f(t, x)$ and  $t \to h(t, x)$  be given  $\mathcal{F}_t$ -predictable processes and g(x) an  $\mathcal{F}_T$ -measurable random variable for each x. De ne the performance functional

$$J\left(\xi\right) = E\left[\int_{0}^{T} f\left(t, x, \omega\right) dt + g\left(x\left(T\right), \omega\right) + \int_{0}^{T} h\left(t, x\left(t^{-}\right), \omega\right) d\xi\left(t\right)\right].$$
(4.36)

**Problem 4.2.1** We want to find an optimal control  $\xi^* \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$  such that

$$\Phi := \sup_{\xi \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}} J\left(\xi\right) = J\left(\xi^*\right).$$
(4.37)

For  $\xi \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$ , we let  $\nu(\xi)$  denote the set of  $\varepsilon_t$ -adapted processes  $\zeta$  of finite variation such

that there exists  $\delta = \delta(\xi) > 0$  such that

$$\xi + y\zeta \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$$
 for all  $y \in [0, \delta]$ .

We define the derivative process, for  $\xi \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$  and  $\zeta \in \nu(\xi)$ 

$$Y(t) := \lim_{y \to 0^+} \frac{1}{y} \left( X^{\xi + y\zeta}(t) - X^{\xi}(t) \right), \ t \in [0, T].$$
(4.38)

 $We\ have$ 

$$dY(t) = Y(t^{-}) \left[ \frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(t) dt + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}(t) dB_t + \int_{\mathbb{R}_0} \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial x}(t,z) \tilde{N}(dt,dz) \right] + \lambda(t) d\zeta_t.$$
(4.39)

Note that

$$Y(0) = \lim_{y \to 0^+} \frac{1}{y} \left( X^{\xi + y\zeta}(0) - X^{\xi}(0) \right) = \frac{d}{dy} x |_{y=0} = 0.$$

Then we have

$$\lim_{y \to 0^+} \frac{1}{y} \left( J \left( \xi + y\zeta \right) - J \left( \xi \right) \right) = E \left[ \int_0^T \frac{\partial f}{\partial x} \left( t, x \left( t \right) \right) Y \left( t \right) dt + g' \left( x \left( T \right) Y \left( T \right) \right) \right. \\ \left. + \int_0^T \frac{\partial h}{\partial x} \left( t, x \left( t^- \right) \right) Y \left( t^- \right) d\xi_t + \int_0^T h \left( t, x \left( t^- \right) \right) d\zeta_t \right].$$

The solution of equation

**Lemma 4.2.1** The solution of equation (4.39) is

$$Y\left(t\right) = Z\left(t\right) \left[\int_{0}^{t} Z^{-1}\left(s^{-}\right)\lambda\left(s\right)d\zeta + \sum_{0 < s \le t} Z^{-1}\left(s^{-}\right)\lambda\left(s\right)\alpha\left(s\right)\Delta\left(\zeta\left(s\right)\right)\right], \ t \in [0,T],$$

with  $\Delta\left(\zeta\left(s\right)\right) = \zeta\left(s\right) - \zeta\left(s^{-}\right)$ , where

$$\alpha\left(s\right) = \frac{-\int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}} \frac{\partial\theta}{\partial x}\left(s,z\right) N\left(\left\{s\right\}, dz\right)}{1 + \int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}} \frac{\partial\theta}{\partial x}\left(s,z\right) N\left(\left\{s\right\}, dz\right)} \quad ; s \in \left[0,T\right],$$

and Z(t) is the solution of the "homogeneous" version of (4.39) i.e. Z(0) = 1 and

$$Z(t) = Z(t^{-}) \left[ \frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(t) dt + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}(t) dB_{t} + \int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}} \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial x}(t,z) \tilde{N}(dt,dz) \right], \qquad (4.40)$$

Remark 4.2.1 Note that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}_0} \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial x} (s, z) N(\{s\}, dz) = \begin{cases} \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial x} (s, z) & \text{if } \eta \text{ has jump of size } z \text{ at } s, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

We set

$$G(t,s) = \frac{Z(s)}{Z(t)}$$
 for  $t < s$ .

### 4.2.2 A Malliavin-calculus based necessary maximum principle

To establish the maximum principle of the problem 4.4.1 we need the following lemma

**Lemma 4.2.2** Suppose  $\xi \in A_{\varepsilon}$  and  $\zeta \in \nu(\varepsilon)$ . Then

$$\lim_{y \to 0^{+}} \frac{1}{y} \left( J \left( \xi + y\zeta \right) - J \left( \xi \right) \right) \\
= E \left[ \int_{0}^{T} \left[ \lambda \left( t \right) \tilde{p} \left( t \right) + h \left( t \right) \right] d\zeta^{c} \left( t \right) + \sum_{0 < t \le T} \left\{ \lambda \left( t \right) \left( \tilde{p} \left( t \right) + S \left( t \right) \alpha \left( t \right) + h \left( t \right) \right) \right\} \Delta \zeta \left( t \right) \right], \tag{4.41}$$

where  $\zeta^{c}(t)$  denotes the continuous part of  $\zeta(t)$  and

$$S(t) = \int_{t}^{T} G(t,s) \frac{\partial H_{0}}{\partial x}(s) \, ds, \qquad (4.42)$$

$$\tilde{p}(t) = R(t) + \int_{t}^{T} G(t,s) \frac{\partial H_{0}}{\partial x}(s) ds = R(t) + S(t), \qquad (4.43)$$

$$R(t) = g'(x(T)) + \int_{t}^{T} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(s) \, ds + \int_{t+}^{T} \frac{\partial h}{\partial x}(s) \, d\xi_{s}, \qquad (4.44)$$

$$H_{0}(s,x) = R(s) b(s,x) + D_{s}R(s) \sigma(s,x) + \int_{\mathbb{R}_{0}} D_{s,z}R(s) \theta(s,x,z) \nu(dz).$$
(4.45)

We can now prove the main result of this section

Theorem 4.2.1 (Necessary maximum principle) Set

$$U(t) = \lambda(t)\tilde{p}(t) + h(t), \qquad (4.46)$$

$$V(t) = \lambda(t)(\tilde{p}(t) + S(t)\alpha(t)) + h(t); \ t \in [0,T].$$
(4.47)

**1.** Suppose  $\xi \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$  is optimal for problem. Then  $a.a.t \in [0,T]$  we have

$$E\left[U\left(t\right) \mid \varepsilon_{t}\right] \leq 0 \text{ and } E\left[U\left(t\right) \mid \varepsilon_{t}\right] d\xi^{c}\left(t\right) = 0, \tag{4.48}$$

and for all  $t \in [0,T]$  we have

$$E[V(t) \mid \varepsilon_t] \le 0 \text{ and } E[V(t) \mid \varepsilon_t] \Delta \xi(t) = 0.$$
(4.49)

2. Conversely, suppose that (4.48) and (4.49) hold for some  $\xi \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$ . Then  $\xi$  is a directional sub-stationary point for  $J(\xi)$ , in the sense that

$$\lim_{y \to 0^+} \frac{1}{y} \left( J \left( \xi + y\zeta \right) - J \left( \xi \right) \right) \le 0 \text{ for all } \zeta \in \nu \left( \xi \right).$$
(4.50)

#### Proof.

**1.** Suppose  $\xi$  is optimal for the problem 4.4.1 Then

$$\lim_{y \to 0^+} \frac{1}{y} \left( J \left( \xi + y\zeta \right) - J \left( \xi \right) \right) \le 0 \text{ for all } \zeta \in \nu \left( \xi \right).$$

Hence by lemma (4.4.2)

$$E\left[\int_{0}^{T} U(t) \, d\zeta^{c}(t) + \sum_{0 < t \le T} V(t) \, \Delta\zeta(t)\right] \le 0 \text{ for all } \zeta \in \nu(\xi).$$

$$(4.51)$$

In particular, this holds if we fix  $t \in [0, T]$  and choose  $\zeta$  such that

$$d\zeta_{s} = a\left(\omega\right)\delta_{t}\left(s\right); \ s \in \left[0, T\right],$$

where  $a(\omega) \ge 0$  is  $\varepsilon_t$ -measurable and bounded and  $\delta_t(.)$  is the unit point mass at t. Then (4.51) gets the form:

$$E\left[V\left(t\right)a\right] \le 0. \tag{4.52}$$

Since this holds for all bounded  $\varepsilon_t$ -measurable  $a \ge 0$ , we conclude that

$$E\left[V\left(t\right) \mid \varepsilon_{t}\right] \le 0. \tag{4.53}$$

Next, choose  $\zeta(t) = -\xi^d(t)$ , the purely discontinuous part of  $\xi$ . So by (4.51) we get

$$E\left[\sum_{0 < t \le T} V(t) \left(-\Delta \xi(t)\right)\right] \leqslant 0,$$

or

$$E\left[\sum_{0 < t \le T} V(t) \Delta \xi(t)\right] \ge 0, \tag{4.54}$$

on the other hand choosing  $\zeta(t) = -\xi^{d}(t)$  in (4.51) gives

$$E\left[\sum_{0 < t \le T} V(t) \Delta \xi(t)\right] \leqslant 0.$$
(4.55)

Combining (4.55) and (4.54) we obtain

$$E\left[\sum_{0 < t \le T} E\left[V\left(t\right) \mid \varepsilon_{t}\right] \Delta \xi\left(t\right)\right] = E\left[\sum_{0 < t \le T} V\left(t\right) \Delta \xi\left(t\right)\right] = 0.$$

Since  $E[V(t) | \varepsilon_t] \leq 0$  and  $\Delta \xi(t) \ge 0$ , this implies that

$$E[V(t) \mid \varepsilon_t] \Delta \xi(t) = 0, \ \forall t \in [0, T].$$

To prove (4.49) we proceed similarly, by choosing first  $d\zeta(t) = a(t) dt t \in [0, T]$ , and next  $\zeta(t) = \xi^{c}(t)$ .

**2.** Suppose (4.48) and (4.49) hold for some  $\xi \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$ . Choose  $\zeta \in \nu(\xi)$ . Then  $\xi + y\zeta \in \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$  and hence  $d\xi + yd\zeta \ge 0$  for all  $y \in [0, \delta]$  for some  $\delta > 0$ . Therefore,

$$\begin{split} yE\left[\int_{0}^{T} U\left(t\right) d\zeta^{c} + \sum_{0 < t \leq T} V\left(t\right) \Delta\zeta\left(t\right)\right] \\ &= yE\left[\int_{0}^{T} E\left[U\left(t\right) \mid \varepsilon_{t}\right] d\zeta^{c} + \sum_{0 < t \leq T} E\left[V\left(t\right) \mid \varepsilon_{t}\right] \Delta\zeta\left(t\right)\right] \\ &= E\left[\int_{0}^{T} E\left[U\left(t\right) \mid \varepsilon_{t}\right] d\xi^{c} + \sum_{0 < t \leq T} E\left[V\left(t\right) \mid \varepsilon_{t}\right] \Delta\xi\left(t\right)\right] \\ &+ yE\left[\int_{0}^{T} E\left[U\left(t\right) \mid \varepsilon_{t}\right] d\zeta^{c} + \sum_{0 < t \leq T} E\left[V\left(t\right) \mid \varepsilon_{t}\right] \Delta\zeta\left(t\right)\right] \\ &= E\left[\int_{0}^{T} E\left[U\left(t\right) \mid \varepsilon_{t}\right] d\left(\xi^{c} + y\zeta^{c}\right) + \sum_{0 < t \leq T} E\left[V\left(t\right) \mid \varepsilon_{t}\right] \Delta\left(\xi\left(t\right) + y\zeta\left(t\right)\right)\right] \leqslant 0 \end{split}$$

Hence the conclusion follows from Lemma (4.4.2).

# Chapter 5

# A stochastic maximum principle for mixed regular-singular control problems via Malliavin calculus

In this chapter, we study general regular-singular stochastic control problems, in which the controller has only partial information. The control has two components, the first one is a classical regular control and the second one is a singular control. We consider systems driven by random coefficients and the running and the final costs are allowed to be random. It is clear that for such systems the dynamic programming does not hold, as the state process is no longer a Markov process. Our goal is to obtain necessary conditions for optimality satisfied by some optimal control.

## 5.1 Formulation of the problem

Suppose the state process  $x_t = x_t^{(u,\xi)}$ ;  $t \ge 0$ , satisfies the following stochastic differential equation:

$$\begin{cases} dx_t = b(t, x_t, u_t) dt + \sigma(t, x_t, u_t) dB_t + \lambda_t d\xi_t; \\ x_0 = x \in \mathbb{R}. \end{cases}$$
(5.1)

Here  $(B_t)$  is 1-dimensional Brownian motion, defined on a filtred probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0}, P)$ , satisfying the usual conditions. Assume that  $(\mathcal{F}_t)$  is the natural filtration of  $(B_t)$ . The coefficients

$$b: [0,T] \times \mathbb{R} \times U \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R},$$
  
$$\sigma: [0,T] \times \mathbb{R} \times U \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R},$$
  
$$\lambda: [0,T] \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R},$$

are given  $\mathcal{F}_t$ -predictable processes.

Suppose in addition that we are given a subfiltration  $\mathcal{E}_t \subset \mathcal{F}_t$ ,  $t \in [0, T]$ , representing the information available to the controller at time t and satisfying the usual conditions.

- Let T be a strictly positive real number and consider the following sets.
- $\mathcal{U}_1^{\mathcal{E}}$  is the class of measurable,  $\mathcal{E}_t$ -adapted processes  $u : [0, T] \times \Omega \to U$ , where U is some Borel subset of  $\mathbb{R}^k$ .
- $\mathcal{U}_2^{\mathcal{E}}$  is the class of measurable,  $\mathcal{E}_t$ -adapted processes  $\xi : [0, T] \times \Omega \to [0, \infty)$  such that  $\xi$  is nondecreasing, right-continuous with left hand limits and  $\xi_0 = 0$ .

**Definition 5.1.1** An admissible control is an  $\mathcal{E}_t$ -adapted process  $(u, \xi) \in \mathcal{U}_1^{\mathcal{E}} \times \mathcal{U}_2^{\mathcal{E}}$  such that

$$E\left[\int_0^T |u_t|^2 dt + |\xi_T|^2\right] < \infty.$$

We denote by  $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{E}}$  the set of all admissible controls.

The expected reward to be maximized has the form

$$J(u,\xi) = E\left[g(x_T) + \int_0^T f(t, x_t, u_t) dt + \int_0^T h(t) d\xi_t\right], \quad (u,\xi) \in \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{E}},$$
(5.2)

where

$$f: [0,T] \times \mathbb{R} \times U \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R},$$
$$g: \mathbb{R} \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R},$$
$$h: [0,T] \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R},$$

are given  $\mathcal{F}_t$ -adapted processes.

The goal of the controller is to maximize the functional  $J(u,\xi)$  over  $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{E}}$ . An admissible control  $(\hat{u}, \hat{\xi}) \in \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{E}}$  is optimal if:

$$J\left(\hat{u},\hat{\xi}\right) = \sup_{(u,\xi)\in\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{E}}} J\left(u,\xi\right).$$
(5.3)

Our objective is to derive necessary conditions satisfied by  $(\hat{u}, \hat{\xi})$ .

Note that since we allow b,  $\sigma$ , h, f and g to be random coefficients and also because our controls must be  $\mathcal{E}_t$ -adapted, this problem is no longer of Markovian type and hence cannot be solved by dynamic programming. Our attention will be focused on the stochastic maximum principle, for which an explicit form for the adjoint process is obtained. Malliavin calculus techniques will be used to get an explicit form of the adjoint process.

#### Assumptions

The following assumptions will be in force throughout this paper.

 $(\mathbf{H_1}) b, \sigma, g, f$  are adapted processes such that there exists a positive constant C satisfying:

$$|b(t, x, u)| + |\sigma(t, x, u)| + |f(t, x, u)| + |g(x)| \le C(1 + |x| + |u|).$$

(**H**<sub>2</sub>)  $b, \sigma, g, f$  are continuously differentiable with respect to  $x \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $u \in U$  for each  $t \in [0, T]$ , and a.s.  $\omega \in \Omega$ , with bounded derivatives.

 $(\mathbf{H}_3) \lambda$ , h are bounded continuous processes.

(**H**<sub>4</sub>)For all bounded  $\mathcal{F}_t$ -measurable random variables  $\alpha = \alpha(\omega)$  the process  $v_s^{\alpha} = \alpha(\omega) \mathbf{1}_{(t,r]}(s)$ ;  $s \in [0,T]$  belongs to  $\mathcal{U}_1^{\varepsilon}$ .

 $(\mathbf{H}_5)$ For  $u, v \in \mathcal{U}_1^{\mathcal{E}}$  with v bounded, there exists  $\delta > 0$  such that

Chapter 5 A stochastic maximum principle for mixed regular-singular control problems via Malliavin calculus

$$u^{\theta} = u + \theta v \in \mathcal{U}_1^{\mathcal{E}}$$
 for all  $\theta \in [-\delta, \delta]$ .

Under the above assumptions, for every  $(u, \xi) \in \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{E}}$ , equation (5.1) admits a unique strong solution given by

$$x_t^{(u,\xi)} = x + \int_0^t b\left(s, x_s^{(u,\xi)}, u_s\right) ds + \int_0^t \sigma\left(s, x_s^{(u,\xi)}, u_s\right) dB_s + \int_0^t \lambda\left(t\right) d\xi_s,$$
(5.4)

and the reward functional J is well defined from  $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{E}}$  into  $\mathbb{R}$ .

We list some notations which will be used throughout this paper.

#### Notations

For  $\xi \in U_2^{\mathcal{E}}$ , let  $\nu(\xi)$  denotes the set of  $\mathcal{E}_t$ -adapted processes  $\eta$  of finite variation such that there exists  $\delta > 0$  such that  $\xi + \theta \eta \in U_2^{\mathcal{E}}$ , for all  $\theta \in [0, \delta]$ . For all  $u \in \mathcal{U}_1^{\mathcal{E}}$  and  $0 \le t \le s \le T$ , we denote the following processes

$$R(t) := g'(x_T) + \int_t^T \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(s, x_s, u_s) \, ds, \qquad (5.5)$$

$$D_t(R(t)) := D_t g'(x_T) + \int_t^T D_t \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(s, x_s, u_s) \, ds, \qquad (5.6)$$

$$H_{0}(s, x, u) = R(s) b(s, x, u) + D_{s}R(s) \sigma(s, x, u), \qquad (5.7)$$

$$G(t,s) := \exp\left(\int_{t}^{s} \left\{\frac{\partial b}{\partial x}\left(r, x_{r}, u_{r}\right) - \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}\right)^{2}\left(r, x_{r}, u_{r}\right)\right\} dr + \int_{t}^{s} \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}\left(r, x_{r}, u_{r}\right) dB_{r}\right),$$
(5.8)

$$p(t) := R(t) + \int_{t}^{T} \frac{\partial H_0}{\partial x} \left( s, x_s, u_s \right) G(t, s) \, ds, \qquad (5.9)$$

 $q(t) := D_t p(t) . \tag{5.10}$ 

We define the usual Hamiltonian of the control problem (3.1)-(3.2) by:

$$H: [0,T] \times \mathbb{R} \times U \times \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R} \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R},$$

where

$$H(t, x, u, p, q, \omega) = f(t, x, u, \omega) + p(t) b(t, x, u, \omega) + q(t) \sigma(t, x, u, \omega), \qquad (5.11)$$

### 5.2 The stochastic maximum principle

The purpose of the stochastic maximum principle is to find necessary conditions for optimality satisfied by an optimal control. Suppose that  $(\hat{u}, \hat{\xi}) \in \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{E}}$  is an optimal control and let  $\hat{x}_t$  denotes the optimal trajectory, that is, the solution of (5.1) corresponding to  $(\hat{u}, \hat{\xi})$ . As it is well known the stochastic maximum principle is based on the computation of the derivative of the reward functional with respect to some perturbation parameter. Let us define the perturbed controls as follows.

- $u^{\theta} = \hat{u} + \theta v$ , where v is some bounded  $\mathcal{E}_t$ -adapted process. We know by  $(\mathbf{H}_5)$  that there exists  $\delta > 0$  such that  $u^{\theta} = \hat{u} + \theta v \in \mathcal{U}_1^{\mathcal{E}}$  for all  $\theta \in [-\delta, \delta]$
- $\xi^{\theta} = \hat{\xi} + \theta \eta$ , where  $\eta \in \nu(\xi)$  the set of  $\mathcal{E}_t$ -adapted processes of finite variation, for which there exists  $\delta = \delta(\hat{\xi}) > 0$  such that  $\hat{\xi} + \theta \eta \in \mathcal{U}_2^{\mathcal{E}}$ .

Since  $(\hat{u}, \hat{\xi})$  is an optimal control it holds that: (1)  $\lim_{\theta \to 0^+} \frac{1}{\theta} \left( J\left(\hat{u}, \xi^{\theta}\right) - J\left(\hat{u}, \hat{\xi}\right) \right) \leq 0$ , where  $\xi^{\theta} = \hat{\xi} + \theta \eta$ , and (2)  $\lim_{\theta \to 0} \frac{1}{\theta} \left( J\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right) - J\left(\hat{u}, \hat{\xi}\right) \right) \leq 0$ , where  $u^{\theta} = \hat{u} + \theta v$ .

We use the two limits to obtain the variational inequalities. To achieve this goal, we need the following technical Lemmas. We define the derivative process  $\mathcal{Y}(t)$  by

$$\mathcal{Y}(t) = \lim_{\theta \to 0^+} \frac{1}{\theta} \left( x_t^{\left(\hat{u},\xi^{\theta}\right)} - x_t^{\left(\hat{u},\hat{\xi}\right)} \right), \tag{5.12}$$

Since that  $\mathcal{Y}(0) = 0$ , then

$$d\mathcal{Y}(t) = \frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(t) \mathcal{Y}(t) dt + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}(t) \mathcal{Y}(t) dB_t + \lambda(t) d\eta_t, \qquad (5.13)$$

where we use the abbreviated notation:

$$\frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(t) = \frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(t, \hat{x}_t, \hat{u}_t, \omega), \ \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}(t) = \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}(t, \hat{x}_t, \hat{u}_t, \omega).$$

**Lemma 5.2.1** The solution of equation (5.13) is given by

$$\mathcal{Y}(t) = Z(t) \left[ \int_{0}^{t} Z^{-1}(s) \lambda(s) d\eta_{s} \right]; \ t \in [0, T],$$
(5.14)

where Z(t) is the solution of the homogeneous version of (5.13), i.e.

$$\begin{cases} dZ(t) = \frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(t) Z(t) dt + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}(t) Z(t) dB_t, \\ Z(0) = 1. \end{cases}$$
(5.15)

We set  $\mathcal{Y}(t) = Z(t) A_t$  where

$$A_t = \int_0^t Z^{-1}(s) \,\lambda(s) \,d\eta_s.$$

By using Itô's formula for semimartingales, we get

$$d\mathcal{Y}(t) = Z(t) dA_t + A_t dZ(t) + d \langle A, Z \rangle_t,$$
  

$$d\mathcal{Y}(t) = \lambda(t) d\eta_t + A_t \left( \frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(t) Z(t) dt + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}(t) Z(t) dB_t \right)$$
  

$$= \frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(t) \mathcal{Y}(t) dt + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}(t) \mathcal{Y}(t) dB_t + \lambda(t) d\eta_t.$$

This completes the proof.

In the sequel, we use the abbreviated notation:

$$Q(t,s) = \frac{Z(s)}{Z(t)} \text{ for } t < s.$$

**Lemma 5.2.2** Let  $(\hat{u}, \hat{\xi})$  be an optimal control. Then

$$\lim_{\theta \to 0^+} \frac{1}{\theta} \left( J\left(\hat{u}, \xi^{\theta}\right) - J\left(\hat{u}, \hat{\xi}\right) \right) = E \left[ \int_{0}^{T} \left( \lambda\left(t\right) \hat{P}\left(t\right) + h\left(t\right) \right) d\eta_t \right],$$
(5.16)

where

$$\hat{P}(t) := \hat{R}(t) + \int_{t}^{T} \frac{\partial H_0}{\partial x}(s) Q(t,s) ds, \qquad (5.17)$$

$$\hat{R}(t) = R^{\left(\hat{u},\hat{\xi}\right)}(t) = g'(\hat{x}_T) + \int_t^T \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(s) \, ds, \qquad (5.18)$$

$$H_0(s,x) = R(s) + D_s R(s)\sigma(s,x).$$
(5.19)

We have

$$\lim_{\theta \to 0^{+}} \frac{1}{\theta} \left( J\left(\hat{u}, \xi^{\theta}\right) - J\left(\hat{u}, \hat{\xi}\right) \right) = E \left[ g'\left(\hat{x}_{T}\right) \mathcal{Y}\left(T\right) + \int_{0}^{T} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}\left(t\right) \mathcal{Y}\left(t\right) dt + \int_{0}^{T} h\left(t\right) d\eta_{t} \right].$$
(5.20)

We have from (5.13)

$$E\left[\int_{0}^{T} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t) \mathcal{Y}(t) dt\right] = E\left[\int_{0}^{T} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t) \int_{0}^{t} \left\{ \mathcal{Y}(s) \frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(s) ds + \mathcal{Y}(s) \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}(s) dB_{s} + \lambda(s) d\eta_{s} \right\} dt \right].$$

Since  $\mathcal{Y}(0) = 0$ , we have by the duality formulae for the Malliavin derivatives,

$$E\left[\int_{0}^{T} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t) \mathcal{Y}(t) dt\right] = \left[E\int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{t} \left\{\frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t) \mathcal{Y}(s) \frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(s) ds + D_{s}\left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t)\right) \mathcal{Y}(s) \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}(s) ds + \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t) \lambda(s) d\eta_{s}\right\} dt\right],$$

by using Fubini theorem

$$E\left[\int_{0}^{T} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t) \mathcal{Y}(t) dt\right] = E\left[\int_{0}^{T} \int_{s}^{T} \left\{\frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t) \mathcal{Y}(s) \frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(s) dt + D_{s}\left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t)\right) \mathcal{Y}(s) \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}(s) dt\right\} ds$$

$$(5.21)$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{T} \left(\int_{s}^{T} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t) \lambda(s) dt\right) d\eta_{s}\right],$$

changing the notation  $s \to t$  , this becomes

$$E\left[\int_{0}^{T} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t) \mathcal{Y}(t) dt\right] = E\left[\int_{0}^{T} \int_{t}^{T} \left\{\frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(s) \mathcal{Y}(t) \frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(t) ds + D_{t}\left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(s)\right) \mathcal{Y}(t) \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}(t) ds\right\} dt$$
(5.22)

$$+ \int_{0}^{T} \left( \int_{t}^{T} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(s) \lambda(t) ds \right) d\eta_{t} \right]$$

$$= E \left[ \int_{0}^{T} \left\{ \left( \int_{t}^{T} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(s) ds \right) \mathcal{Y}(t) \frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(t) + D_{t} \left( \int_{t}^{T} \left( \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(s) \right) ds \right) \mathcal{Y}(t) \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}(t) \right\} dt$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{T} \left( \int_{t}^{T} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(s) ds \right) \lambda(t) d\eta_{t} \right].$$

Similary we get

$$E\left[g'\left(X_{T}\right)\mathcal{Y}\left(T\right)\right]$$

$$=E\left[g'\left(X_{T}\right)\left\{\int_{0}^{T}\mathcal{Y}\left(t\right)\frac{\partial b}{\partial x}\left(t\right)dt+\mathcal{Y}\left(t\right)\frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}\left(t\right)dB_{t}+\lambda\left(t\right)d\eta_{t}\right\}\right]$$

$$=E\left[\int_{0}^{T}\mathcal{Y}\left(t\right)\left\{g'\left(X_{T}\right)\frac{\partial b}{\partial x}\left(t\right)+D_{t}\left(g'\left(X_{T}\right)\right)\frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}\left(t\right)\right\}dt+g'\left(X_{T}\right)\lambda\left(t\right)d\eta_{t}\right]\right].$$
(5.23)

Combining (5.21) and (5.22) and using the notations (5.5) and (5.7), we obtain

$$\lim_{\theta \to 0^+} \frac{1}{\theta} \left( J\left(\hat{u}, \xi^{\theta}\right) - J\left(\hat{u}, \hat{\xi}\right) \right) = E \left[ \int_{0}^{T} \mathcal{Y}\left(t\right) \left\{ R\left(t\right) \frac{\partial b}{\partial x}\left(t\right) + D_{t}R\left(t\right) \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}\left(t\right) \right\} dt + \left\{ R\left(t\right) \lambda\left(t\right) + h\left(t\right) \right\} d\eta_{t} \right] \\ = A_{1}\left(\eta\right) + A_{2}\left(\eta\right),$$

where

$$A_{1}(\eta) = E\left[\int_{0}^{T} \mathcal{Y}(t) \left\{ R(t) \frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(t) + D_{t}R(t) \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}(t) \right\} dt \right],$$

and

$$A_{2}(\eta) = \{R(t)\lambda(t) + h(t)\} d\eta_{t}.$$

We set

$$d\Lambda_t = \frac{\partial H_0}{\partial x} \left( t \right) dt,$$

then by using Lemma 4.1 it follows that

$$A_{1}(\eta) = E\left[\int_{0}^{T} \mathcal{Y}(t) \frac{\partial H_{0}}{\partial x}(t) dt\right]$$
$$= E\left[\int_{0}^{T} \mathcal{Y}(t) d\Lambda_{t}\right]$$
$$= E\left[\int_{0}^{T} \left(Z(t) \int_{0}^{t} Z^{-1}(s) \lambda(s) d\eta_{s}\right) d\Lambda_{t}\right].$$

Hence by using Fubini's theorem we get by changing the notation  $s \to t$ 

$$A_{1}(\eta) = E\left[\int_{0}^{T} \left(\left(\int_{t}^{T} Z(s) d\Lambda_{s}\right) Z^{-1}(t) \lambda(t) d\eta_{t}\right)\right]$$
$$= E\left[\int_{0}^{T} \int_{t}^{T} Q(t,s) \frac{\partial H_{0}}{\partial x}(s) ds\lambda(t) d\eta_{t}\right].$$

Finaly

$$\lim_{\theta \to 0^+} \frac{1}{\theta} \left( J\left(\hat{u}, \xi^{\theta}\right) - J\left(\hat{u}, \hat{\xi}\right) \right) = A_1\left(\eta\right) + A_2\left(\eta\right)$$
$$= E \left[ \int_0^T \left( \lambda\left(t\right) \hat{P}\left(t\right) + h\left(t\right) \right) d\eta_t \right].$$

This completes the proof.

We define the derivative process Y(t) by

$$Y(t) = Y^{v}(t) = \lim_{\theta \to 0} \frac{1}{\theta} \left( x_t^{\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right)} - x_t^{\left(\hat{u}, \hat{\xi}\right)} \right), \qquad (5.24)$$

then Y(t) satisfies the following equation

$$dY(t) = Y(t) \left[ \frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(t) dt + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}(t) dB_t \right]$$

$$+ v_t \left[ \frac{\partial b}{\partial u}(t) dt + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u}(t) dB_t \right],$$

$$Y(0) = 0,$$
(5.25)

Lemma 5.2.3 The following identity holds

$$\lim_{\theta \to 0} \frac{1}{\theta} \left( J \left( u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi} \right) - J \left( \hat{u}, \hat{\xi} \right) \right) \\= E \left[ \int_{0}^{T} \left\{ R \left( t \right) \left\{ \frac{\partial b}{\partial x} \left( t \right) Y \left( t \right) + \frac{\partial b}{\partial u} \left( t \right) v_{t} \right\} \right. \\\left. + D_{t} R \left( t \right) \left\{ \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x} \left( t \right) Y \left( t \right) + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u} \left( t \right) v_{t} \right\} + \frac{\partial f}{\partial u} \left( s \right) v_{t} \right\} \right] dt.$$

We have

$$\frac{d}{d\theta}J\left(u^{\theta},\hat{\xi}\right)|_{\theta=0} = E\left[\int_{0}^{T}\left\{\frac{\partial f}{\partial x}\left(t\right)Y(t) + \frac{\partial f}{\partial u}\left(t\right)v_{t}\right\}dt + g'\left(\hat{x}_{T}\right)Y(T)\right],$$
(5.26)

where  $Y(t) = Y^{v}(t)$  is the solution of the linear equation

$$\begin{cases} dY(t) = \left[\frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(t)Y(t) + \frac{\partial b}{\partial u}(t)v_t\right]dt + \left[\frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}(t)Y(t) + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u}(t)v_t\right]dB_t\\ Y(0) = 0 \end{cases}$$
(5.27)

By the duality formula we get

$$E\left(g'\left(\hat{x}_{T}\right)Y(T)\right) = E\left[g'\left(\hat{x}_{T}\right)\int_{0}^{T}\left\{\frac{\partial b}{\partial x}\left(t\right)Y(t) + \frac{\partial b}{\partial u}\left(t\right)v_{t}\right\}dt + g'\left(\hat{x}_{T}\right)\int_{0}^{T}\left\{\frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}\left(t\right)Y(t) + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u}\left(t\right)v_{t}\right\}dB_{t}\right]$$
$$= E\left[\int_{0}^{T}g'\left(\hat{x}_{T}\right)\left\{\frac{\partial b}{\partial x}\left(t\right)Y(t) + \frac{\partial b}{\partial u}\left(t\right)v_{t}\right\}dt + \int_{0}^{T}D_{t}g'\left(\hat{x}_{T}\right)\left\{\frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}\left(t\right)Y(t) + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u}\left(t\right)v_{t}\right\}dt\right].$$

Using similar arguments and Fubini's theorem it follows that,

$$E\left[\int_{0}^{T} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t) Y(t) dt\right] = E\left[\int_{0}^{T} \left(\int_{0}^{t} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t) \left\{\frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(s) Y(s) + \frac{\partial b}{\partial u}(s) v_{s}\right\} ds\right) dt + \int_{0}^{T} \left(\int_{0}^{t} D_{s} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t) \left\{\frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}(t) Y(t) + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u}(t) v_{t}\right\} ds\right) dt\right] = E\left[\int_{0}^{T} \left(\int_{s}^{T} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t) \left\{\frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(s) Y(s) + \frac{\partial b}{\partial u}(s) v_{s}\right\} dt\right) ds + \int_{0}^{T} \left(\int_{s}^{T} D_{s} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t) \left\{\frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}(s) Y(s) + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u}(s) v_{s}\right\} dt\right) ds\right].$$
 (5.28)

Changing the notation  $s \to t$ , we get

$$E\left[\int_{0}^{T} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(t) Y(t) dt\right]$$

$$= E\left[\int_{0}^{T} \left(\left(\int_{t}^{T} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(s) ds\right) \left\{\frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(t) Y(s) + \frac{\partial b}{\partial u}(t) v_{t}\right\}\right) dt$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{T} \left(\int_{t}^{T} \left(D_{t} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(s) ds\right) \left\{\frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}(t) Y(t) + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u}(t) v_{t}\right\}\right) dt\right].$$
(5.29)

Using the notation

$$R(t) := g'(X_T) + \int_t^T \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}(s) \, ds,$$

and combining (5.28) and (5.29), we get

$$\lim_{\theta \to 0} \frac{1}{\theta} \left( J\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right) - J\left(\hat{u}, \hat{\xi}\right) \right) = E \left[ \int_{0}^{T} \left\{ R\left(t\right) \left\{ \frac{\partial b}{\partial x}\left(t\right) Y\left(t\right) + \frac{\partial b}{\partial u}\left(t\right) v_{t} \right\} \right. \\ \left. + D_{t} R\left(t\right) \left\{ \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}\left(t\right) Y\left(t\right) + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u}\left(t\right) v_{t} \right\} \right. \\ \left. + \frac{\partial f}{\partial u}\left(t\right) v_{t} \right\} dt \right],$$

$$(5.30)$$

which completes the proof.

Now, we are ready to state the main result of this paper. Note that the following theorem extends in particular [47] Theorem 3.4 and [51] Theorem 2.4 to mixed regular-singular control problems.

**Theorem 5.2.1 (The stochastic maximum principle)** Let  $(\hat{u}, \hat{\xi}) \in \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{E}}$  be an optimal control maximizing the reward J over  $\mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{E}}$  and  $\hat{x}_t$  denotes the optimal trajectory, then for a.e.  $t \in [0,T]$  we have:

$$i) E\left[V_{\left(\hat{u},\hat{\xi}\right)}(t)/\mathcal{E}_{t}\right] \leq 0, \text{ and } E\left[V_{\left(\hat{u},\hat{\xi}\right)}(t)/\mathcal{E}_{t}\right]d\hat{\xi}_{t} = 0 \text{ where}$$

$$V_{\left(\hat{u},\hat{\xi}\right)}(t) = \lambda\left(t\right)\hat{p}\left(t\right) + h\left(t\right),$$

$$ii) E\left[\frac{\partial H}{\partial u}\left(t,\hat{x}_{t},\hat{u}_{t}\right)/\mathcal{E}_{t}\right] = 0, \text{ where}$$

$$H\left(t,\hat{x}_{t},\hat{u}_{t},\hat{p}\left(t\right),\hat{q}\left(t\right)\right) = f\left(t,\hat{x}_{t},\hat{u}_{t}\right) + \hat{p}\left(t\right)b\left(t,\hat{x}_{t},\hat{u}_{t}\right) + \hat{q}\left(t\right)\sigma\left(t,\hat{x}_{t},\hat{u}_{t}\right)$$

is the usual Hamiltonian.

First, we start to prove (i). By Lemma 4.2 we have

$$\lim_{\theta \to 0^+} \frac{1}{\theta} \left( J\left(\hat{u}, \xi^{\theta}\right) - J\left(\hat{u}, \hat{\xi}\right) \right) = E \left[ \int_{0}^{T} V_{\left(\hat{u}, \hat{\xi}\right)}(t) d\eta_t \right] \le 0,$$

for all  $\eta \in \mathcal{U}_{2}^{\mathcal{E}}$ . In particular, this holds if we choose  $\eta$  such that  $d\eta(t) = a(t) dt$ , where  $a(t) \ge 0$  is continuous and  $\mathcal{E}_{t}$ -adapted, then

$$E\left[\int_{0}^{T} V_{\left(\hat{u},\hat{\xi}\right)}(t)a\left(t\right)dt\right] \leq 0.$$

Since this holds for all such  $\mathcal{E}_t$ -adapted processes, we deduce that

$$E\left[V_{\left(\hat{u},\hat{\xi}\right)}(t)/\mathcal{E}_t\right] \le 0; \ a.e.t \in [0,T].$$
(5.31)

,

Then, choosing  $\eta_t = -\hat{\xi}_t$  we get

$$E\left[\int_{0}^{T} V_{\left(\hat{u},\hat{\xi}\right)}(t)\left(-d\hat{\xi}_{t}\right)\right] \leq 0.$$

Next, choosing  $\eta_t = \hat{\xi}_t$  we get

$$E\left[\int_{0}^{T} V_{(\hat{u},\hat{\xi})} d\hat{\xi}_{t}\right] \leq 0.$$

Hence

$$E\left[\int_{0}^{T} V_{\left(\hat{u},\hat{\xi}\right)}(t) d\hat{\xi}_{t}\right] = E\left[\int_{0}^{T} E\left(V_{\left(\hat{u},\hat{\xi}\right)}(t)/\mathcal{E}_{t}\right) d\hat{\xi}_{t}\right] = 0,$$

which combined with (5.31) gives

$$E\left(V_{\left(\hat{u},\hat{\xi}\right)}(t)/\mathcal{E}_t\right)d\hat{\xi}_t=0.$$

## Now let us prove (ii).

We have

$$\lim_{\theta \to 0} \frac{1}{\theta} \left( J\left(u^{\theta}, \hat{\xi}\right) - J\left(\hat{u}, \hat{\xi}\right) \right) \le 0.$$

Then by lemma 4.3 we get

$$0 \ge E \left[ \int_{0}^{T} \left\{ R\left(t\right) \left\{ \frac{\partial b}{\partial x}\left(t\right) Y\left(t\right) + \frac{\partial b}{\partial u}\left(t\right) v_{t} \right\} + D_{t}R\left(t\right) \left\{ \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}\left(t\right) Y\left(t\right) + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u}\left(t\right) v_{t} \right\} + \frac{\partial f}{\partial u}\left(s\right) v_{t} \right\} \right] dt.$$

$$(5.32)$$

Now we apply the above to  $v = v_{\alpha} \in \mathcal{U}_{1}^{\mathcal{E}}$  of the form  $v_{\alpha}(s) = \alpha \mathbb{1}_{[t,t+h]}(s)$ , for some  $t, h \in (0,T), t+h \leq T$ , where  $\alpha = \alpha(\omega)$  is bounded and  $\mathcal{E}_{t}$ -measurable. Then  $Y^{v_{\alpha}}(s) = 0$  for  $0 \leq s \leq t$ , hence (5.32) becomes

$$A_1 + A_2 \le 0, \tag{5.33}$$

where

$$A_{1} = E\left[\int_{t}^{T} \left\{ R\left(s\right) \frac{\partial b}{\partial x}\left(s\right) Y\left(s\right) + D_{s}R\left(s\right) \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}\left(s\right) Y(s) \right\} ds \right],$$

and

$$A_{2} = \left[\int_{t}^{t+h} \left\{ R\left(s\right) \frac{\partial b}{\partial u}\left(t\right) + D_{s}R\left(s\right) \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u}\left(t\right) + \frac{\partial f}{\partial u}\left(s\right) \right\} \alpha ds \right].$$

Note that by (5.25), with  $Y(s) = Y^{v_{\alpha}}(s), s \ge t+h$  the process Y(s) satisfies the following dynamics

$$dY(s) = Y(s) \left\{ \frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(s) \, ds + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}(s) \, dB_s \right\},\tag{5.34}$$

for  $s \ge t + h$  with initial condition Y(t + h) at time t + h. An application of Itô's formula yields

$$Y(s) = Y(t+h)G(t+h,s); \quad s \ge t+h,$$
(5.35)

where, for  $s \ge t$ ,

$$G(t,s) = \exp\left(\int_{t}^{s} \left\{\frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(r) - \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}\right)^{2}(r)\right\} dr + \int_{t}^{s} \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}(r) dB_{r}\right).$$

Note that G(t, s) does not depend on h, but Y(s) does. We have by (5.7)

$$A_{1} = E\left[\int_{t}^{T} \frac{\partial H_{0}}{\partial x}(s) Y(s) ds\right].$$

Differentiating with respect to h at h = 0 we get

$$\frac{d}{dh}A_1\Big|_{h=0} = \frac{d}{dh} E\left[\int_t^{t+h} \frac{\partial H_0}{\partial x}(s)Y(s)ds\right]\Big|_{h=0} + \frac{d}{dh} E\left[\int_{t+h}^T \frac{\partial H_0}{\partial x}(s)Y(s)ds\right]\Big|_{h=0}.$$

Using the fact that Y(t) = 0, we see that

$$\frac{d}{dh}E\left[\int_{t}^{t+h}\frac{\partial H_{0}}{\partial x}\left(s\right)Y(s)ds\right]_{h=0}=0.$$

Therefore, using (5.35) and the fact that Y(t) = 0 it holds that,

$$\frac{d}{dh}A_{1}\Big|_{h=0} = \frac{d}{dh}E\left[\int_{t+h}^{T}\frac{\partial H_{0}}{\partial x}(s)Y(t+h)G(t+h,s)ds\right]\Big|_{h=0} = \int_{t}^{T}\frac{d}{dh}E\left[\frac{\partial H_{0}}{\partial x}(s)Y(t+h)G(t+h,s)\right]\Big|_{h=0}ds = \int_{t}^{T}\frac{d}{dh}E\left[\frac{\partial H_{0}}{\partial x}(s)G(t,s)Y(t+h)\right]\Big|_{h=0}ds.$$
(5.36)

By 
$$(5.27)$$

$$Y(t+h) = \alpha \int_{t}^{t+h} \left\{ \frac{\partial b}{\partial u}(s) \, ds + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u}(s) \, dB_s \right\} + \int_{t}^{t+h} Y_s \left\{ \frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(s) \, ds + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial x}(s) \, dB_s \right\}.$$
 (5.37)

Therefore, by the duality formulae,  $\left. \frac{d}{dh} A_1 \right|_{h=0} = \Lambda_1 + \Lambda_2$ , where

$$\Lambda_{1} = \int_{t}^{T} \frac{d}{dh} E\left[\frac{\partial H_{0}}{\partial x}(s) G(t,s) \alpha \left(\int_{t}^{t+h} \frac{\partial b}{\partial u}(r) dr + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u}(r) dB_{r}\right)\right]\right|_{h=0} ds$$

$$= \int_{t}^{T} \frac{d}{dh} E\left[F(t,s) \alpha \left(\int_{t}^{t+h} \frac{\partial b}{\partial u}(r) dr + \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u}(r) dB_{r}\right)\right]\right|_{h=0} ds$$

$$= \int_{t}^{T} \frac{d}{dh} E\left[\alpha \left(\int_{t}^{t+h} \left\{F(t,s) \frac{\partial b}{\partial u}(r) dr + D_{r}F(t,s) \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u}(r)\right\} dr\right)\right]\right|_{h=0} ds$$

$$= \int_{t}^{T} E\left[\alpha \left\{F(t,s) \frac{\partial b}{\partial u}(t) dt + D_{t}F(t,s) \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u}(t)\right\}\right] ds, \qquad (5.38)$$

$$F(t,s) = \frac{\partial H_0}{\partial x}(s) G(t,s), \text{ and}$$
$$\Lambda_2 = \int_t^T \frac{d}{dh} E\left[\frac{\partial H_0}{\partial x}(s) G(t,s) \left(\int_t^{t+h} Y_r\left\{\frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(r) dr + \frac{\partial b}{\partial x}(r) dB_r\right\}\right)\right] ds.$$

Using the fact that Y(t) = 0, we see that

$$\Lambda_2 = 0.$$

We conclude that

$$\frac{d}{dh} A_1|_{h=0} = \Lambda_1.$$

Moreover, we see directly that

$$\frac{d}{dh} A_2|_{h=0} = E \left[ \alpha \left\{ R(t) \frac{\partial b}{\partial u}(t) + D_t R(t) \frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u}(t) + \frac{\partial f}{\partial u}(t) \right\} \right].$$

Therefore, differentiating (4.26) with respect to h at h = 0, gives the inequality

$$E\left[\alpha\left\{\left(R\left(t\right)+\int_{t}^{T}F\left(t,s\right)ds\right)\frac{\partial b}{\partial u}\left(t\right)\right.\\\left.+D_{t}\left(R\left(t\right)+\int_{t}^{T}F\left(t,s\right)ds\right)\frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u}\left(t\right)+\frac{\partial f}{\partial u}\left(t\right)\right\}\right]\leq0.$$

We can reformulate this by using the notation (5.9) and (5.10)

$$E\left[\alpha\left\{p\left(t\right)\frac{\partial b}{\partial u}\left(t\right)+q\left(t\right)\frac{\partial \sigma}{\partial u}\left(t\right)+\frac{\partial f}{\partial u}\left(t\right)\right\}\right]\leq0.$$

Using the definition of the Hamiltonian (5.11) the last inequality can be rewritten

$$E\left[\frac{\partial H}{\partial u}\left(t,\hat{x}_{t},\hat{u}_{t}\right)\alpha\right] \leq 0.$$

Since this holds for all bounded  $\mathcal{E}_t$ -measurable random variable  $\alpha$ , we conclude that

$$E\left[\frac{\partial H}{\partial u}\left(t,\hat{x}_{t},\hat{u}_{t}\right)/\mathcal{E}_{t}\right]=0.$$

This completes the proof.

## Conclusion

The aim of our work is to establish stochastic maximum principles for partial information general regular-singular stochastic control problems by using Malliavins calculus. The control has two components, the first one is a classical regular control and the second one is a singular. We consider systems driven by random coefficients and the running and the final costs are allowed to be random. It is clear that for such systems the dynamic programming does not hold, as the state process is no longer a Markov process. We have obtained a necessary conditions for optimality satisfied by some optimal control and the adjoint process is explicitly expressed.

We point out the difference between partial information and partial observation models. Concerning the latter, the information  $\varepsilon_t$  available to the controller at time t is a noisy observation of the state. In such cases one can sometimes use filtering theory to transform the partial observation problem to a related problem with full information. The partial information problems considered in our work, however, deal with the more general cases where we simply assume that the information flow  $\varepsilon_t$  is a subfiltration of the full information  $\mathcal{F}_t$ . Note that the methods and results in the partial observation case do not apply to our situation. On the other hand, there are several existing works on stochastic maximum principle (either completely or partially observed) where adjoint processes are explicitly expressed . However, these works all essentially employ stochastic flows technique, over which the Malliavin calculus has an advantage in terms of numerical computations. Following this study, several perspectives are considered. It would be interesting to use malliavin calculus in the following problems

- Maximum principle for infinite-horizon optimal control problems.
- Maximum principle for infinite-horizon control problems with time delay.
- Infinite horizon optimal control of forward-backward stochastic differential equations.
- Infinite horizon optimal control of forward-backward stochastic differential equations with delay.

## **Bibliography**

- D. Anderson, The relaxed general maximum principle for singular optimal control of diffusions. Syst. and Control Letters 58, (2009), 76-82.
- [2] F. Baghery, B. Oksendal, A maximum principle for stochastic control with partial information. Stoch Anal. Appl. 25 (2007), 493-514.
- [3] S. Bahlali, A. Chala, The stochastic maximum principle in optimal control of singular diffusions with nonlinear coefficients, Rand. Oper. Stoch. Equ., 13 (2005) 1-10.
- [4] K. Bahlali, F. Chighoub, B. Djehiche, B. Mezerdi, Optimality necessary conditions in singular stochastic control problems with non smooth data, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 355 (2009), 479-494.
- [5] K. Bahlali, F. Chighoub, B. Mezerdi, On the relationship between the maximum principle and dynamic programming in singular stochastic control, Stochastics: An International J. of Proba. and Stoch. Proc., 84 (2-3) (2012), 233-249.
- S. Bahlali, B. Djehiche, B. Mezerdi, *The relaxed maximum principle in singular control of diffusions*. SIAM J. Control Optim., 46 (2007), 427-444.
- [7] S. Bahlali and B. Mezerdi, A general stochastic maximum principle for singular control problems. Electonic J. Probab. 10, (2005), 988-1004.
- [8] J.A. Bather, H. Chernoff, Sequential decision in the control of a spaceship, (finite fuel), J. Appl. Proba., 49 (1967), 584-604.

- [9] J. Baras, R. Elliott and M. Kohlmann, The partially observed stochastic minimum principle, SIAM J. Cont. Optim., 27 (1989), 1279-1292.
- [10] A. Bensoussan, Lectures on stochastic control, In Lect. Notes in Math., Vol. 972 (1982), pp. 1-62. Springer, Berlin.
- [11] A. Bensoussan, Stochastic control of partially observable systems, Cambridge University Press(1992).
- [12] A. Bensoussan and J. L. Lions, Contrôle impulsionnel et inéquations variationnelles, Dunod (1982).
- [13] A. Bensoussan and H. Nagai, An ergodic control problem arising from the principal eigen function of an elliptic operator, J. Math. Soc (1991).
- [14] V.E. Benĕs, L.A. Shepp, H.S. Witsenhausen, Some solvable stochastic control problems. Stochastics Stoch. Rep., 4 (1980), 39-83.
- T. Bielecki and S. Pliska, Risk-sensitive dynamic asset management, Applied Math.
   Optim., **39** (1999), 337-360. MR1675114.
- [16] J.M. Bismut, An introductory apprach to duality in optimal stochastic control, SIAM Rev., 20 (1978), 62-78.
- [17] C. Blanchet-Scalli, N. El-Karoui, M. Jeanblanc and L. Martellini, Optimal investment and consumption when time-horizon is uncertain, Preprint (2002).
- [18] B. Bouchard , H. Pham, Wealth-path dependent utility maximization in incomplete markets, Finance and Stochastics, 8 (2004), 579-603.
- [19] B. Bouchard, I. Ekeland and N. Touzi, On the Malliavin approach to Monte Carlo approximation of conditional expectations, Finance and Stoch., 8 (2004), 45-71.

- [20] B. Bouchard and N. Touzi, Discrete-time approximation and Monte Carlo simulation of backward stochastic differential equations, Stoch. Proc. and their Appl., 111 (2004), 175-206.
- [21] K. Brekke and B. Oksendal, Optimal switching in an economic activity under uncertainty, SIAM J. Cont. Optim., 32 (1994), 1021-1036.
- [22] R. Carmona and N. Touzi, Optimal multiple stopping and the valuation of swing options, Mathematical Finance, 18 (2008), 239-268.
- [23] A. Cadenillas, U.G. Haussmann, The stochastic maximum principle for a singular control problem. Stochastics and Stoch. Reports., Vol. 49 (1994), pp. 211-237.
- [24] U. Cetin, R. Jarrow and P. Protter, Liquidity risk and arbitragepricing theory, Finance and Stochastics, 8 (2004), 311-341.
- [25] F. Chighoub, B. Mezerdi, The relationship between the stochastic maximum principle and the dynamic programming in singular control of jump diffusions, Inter. J. Stoch. Anal., Volume 2014 (2014), Article ID 201491, 17 pages.
- [26] D. Crisan, K. Manolarakis and N. Touzi, On the Monte Carlo simulation of Backward SDES: an improvement on the Malliavin weights, Stoch. Proc. and their Appl. 120 (2010), no. 7, 1133-1158.
- [27] M. Davis and P. Varaiya, Dynamic programming conditions for partially observable systems, SIAM J. Cont., 11 (1973), 226-261.
- [28] M.H.A. Davis, A. Norman, Portfolio selection with transaction costs. Math. Oper. Res., 15 (1990), 676-713.
- [29] G Di Nunno, Oksendal B and Proske F, Malliavin calculus for Lévy processes with applications to Finane, Springer Verlag (2009).

- [30] Duckworth K. and M. Zervos, A model for investment decisions with switching costs, Annals of Applied Probability, 11 (2001), 239-250.
- [31] W. Fleming, Optimal control of partially observable systems, SIAM J. Cont. Optim., 6 (1968), 194-214.
- [32] W. Fleming and McEneaney, Risk-sensitive control on an infinite horizon, SIAM J. Cont. and Optim., 33 (1995), 1881-1915.
- [33] Fleming W. and S. Sheu, Risk sensitive control and an optimal investment model, Math. Finance, 10 (2000), 197-213. MR1802598.
- [34] W. Fleming and R. Rishel, Deterministic and stochastic optimal control, Springer Verlag (1975).
- [35] W. Fleming, H.M. Soner, Controlled Markov Processes and viscosity solutions. Springer-Verlag (1993).
- [36] E. Fourni, J.M. Lasry, J. Lebuchoux and P.L. Lions, Applications of Malliavin calculus to Monte-Carlo methods in finance. II. Finance and Stoch. 5 (2001), 201–236.
- [37] N.C. Framstad, B. Øksendal, A. Sulem, Optimal consumption and portfolio in a jump diffusion market with proportional transaction costs, J. Math. Economics, 35 (2001), 233-257.
- [38] X. Guo, An explicit solution to an optimal stopping problem with regime switching, Journal of Applied Probability, 38 (2001), 464-481.
- [39] U.G. Haussmann, A Stochastic Maximum Principle for Optimal Control of Diffusions, Pitman Research Notes in Math., No.151, longman sci. & Tech., Harlow, UK (1986).
- [40] U. G. Haussmann, General necessary conditions for optimal control of stochastic systems. Math. Prog. Study, 6 (1976), 34-48.

- [41] U.G. Haussmann, W. Suo, Singular optimal stochastic controls II: Dynamic programming. SIAM J. Control Optim., 33 (1995), 937-959.
- [42] I. Karatzas, On a stochastic representation for the principal eigenvalue of a second order differential equation, Stochastics and Stochastics Reports, 3 (1980), 305-321.
- [43] N. Krylov, Controlled Diffusion Processes, Springer Verlag (1980).
- [44] N.J. Kushner, Necessary conditions for continuous parameter stochastic optimization problems. SIAM J. Control Optim. 10, 550-565 (1972).
- [45] P.L. Lions, Viscosity solutions and optimal stochastic control in infinite dimension, Part I Acta Math., 161, 243-278 (1988).
- [46] J. Ma, J. Yong, Dynamic programming for multidimensional stochastic control problems. Acta Mathematica Sinica (English Series). Vol. 15 (4) (1999), pp. 485–506.
- [47] T. Meyer-Brandis, B.Øksendal and X. Y. Zhou, A stochastic maximum principle via Malliavin calculus. Eprint, University of Oslo, 10 (2008).
- [48] T. Meyer-Brandis , B.Øksendal and X. Y. Zhou, A mean-field stochastic maximum principle via Malliavin calculus. Stochastics, 84 (2012), no. 5-6, 643–666.
- [49] D. Nualart, Malliavin Calculus and Related Topics. Springer. Second Edition (2006).
- [50] B. Øksendal and A. Sulem, Applied Stochastic Control of Jump Diffusions. Springer. Second Edition (2007).
- [51] B. Øksendal, A. Sulem, Singular stochastic control and optimal stopping with partial information of Itô-Lévy processes, SIAM J. Control Optim., 50 (4) (2012), 2254-2287.
- [52] H. Pham, On the smooth-fit property for one-dimensional optimalswitching problem, to appear in S´eminaire de Probabilit´es, Vol. XL (2005).

- [53] S. Peng, A general stochastic maximum principle for optimal control diffusions, SIAM J. Cont. Optim., 28 (1990), 966-979.
- [54] M. Soner and N. Touzi, Super replication under gamma constraints, SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization, 39, 73-96 (2000).
- [55] M. Soner and N. Touzi, Stochastic target problems, dynamic programming and viscosity solutions, SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization, 41 (2002), 404-424.
- [56] S. Tang and J. Yong, Finite horizon stochastic optimal switching and impulse controls with a viscosity solution approach, Stoch. and Stoch, Reports, 45 (1993), 145-176. MR1306930.
- [57] J. Yong and X.Y.Zhou, Stochastic controls, Springer (1999).
- [58] X. Y Zhou, On the necessary conditions of optimal controls for stochastic partial differential equations, SIAM J. Cont. Optim., **31** (1993), 1462-1478.
- [59] G. Zitkovic, Utility Maximization with a Stochastic Clock and an Unbounded Random Endowment, Annals of Applied Probability, 15 (2005),748-777.

## Annexe B: Abréviations et Notations

The following notation is frequently used in this this

$\mathbb{R}^{n}$	<i>n</i> -dimmensional real Euclidiean space.
$\mathbb{R}^{n \times m}$	the set of all $(n \times m)$ real mtrixes.
$C\left(\left[0,T\right];\mathbb{R}^{n}\right)$	the set of all continuous functions $\varphi : [0,T] \to \mathbb{R}^n$ .
$L^{p}\left(0,T;\mathbb{R}^{n}\right)$	the of Lebegue mesurable functions $\varphi: [0,T] \to \mathbb{R}^n$
	such that $\int_{0}^{T}  \varphi(t) ^{p} dt < \infty \ (p \in [1, \infty)).$
$(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, P)$	probability space.
$\left\{\mathcal{F}_t ight\}_{t\geq 0}$	filtration.
$\left(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \left\{\mathcal{F}_t\right\}_{t \ge 0}, P\right)$	filtered probability space.
$\sigma\left(\mathcal{A}\right)$	the smallest $\sigma$ – field containing the class $\mathcal{A}$ .
$E\left[X ight]$	the expectation of the random variable $X$ .
$L^{P}_{\mathcal{G}}\left(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^{n}\right)$	the set of $\{\mathcal{F}_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ – adapted $\mathbb{R}^n$ – valued processes $X(.)$ such that
	$E\int_0^T  X_t ^p  dt < \infty.$
$\mathcal{U}[0,T]$	the set of all $\{\mathcal{F}_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ – adapted processes $u: [0,T] \times \Omega \to U$ .
$\mathcal{U}^{s}_{ad}\left[0,T ight]$	the set of (stochastic) strong admissible controls.
$\mathcal{U}_{ad}^{w}\left[0,T ight]$	the set of (stochastic) weak admissible controls.
$D \equiv D\left( \left[ 0,T\right] ,\mathbb{R}^{n}\right)$	the set of all functions $\zeta:[0,T]\to \mathbb{R}^n$ that are right continuous with
	left limits (càdlàg for short).